
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information 
only

Committee - GOVERNANCE & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

Date & Time - Friday, 24th February, 2017 at 10.00 am

Venue - Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, 
Elizabeth House, Dereham

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Members

Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P S Wilkinson (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr M J Nairn
Mr M Taylor

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE 
TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Wednesday, 15 February 2017

Public Document Pack





Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 12

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2016.

2. ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 

3. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

4. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.

7. TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) 
To note if there are any training issues/ requests.

8. REVIEW OF STANDARDS LOCAL ARRANGEMENTS 13 - 33

Report of Maxine O’Mahony, the Executive Director Strategy & 
Governance & Monitoring Officer. 

9. PROCESSES IN PLACE FOR REVIEWING FINANCIAL & CORPORATE 
PERFORMANCE 

34 - 37

Report of the Executive Director, Commercialisation (S151 Officer).

10. ANNUAL CERTIFICATION REPORT (FOR INFORMATION) 38 - 45

External Audit, Ernst & Young LLP.

11. BRECKLAND 2016/17 AUDIT PLAN 46- 63

External Audit, Ernst & Young LLP.



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

12. PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 64 - 98

Report of the Internal Audit Consortium Manager.

13. FOLLOW-UP REPORT ON AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 99 - 103

Report of the Internal Audit Consortium Manager.

14. STRATEGIC AND ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLANS 2017/18 104 - 
132

Report of the Internal Audit Consortium Manager.

15. EXTERNAL QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL AUDIT 133 - 
147

Report of the External Audit Consortium Manager.

16. STRATEGIC RISK REGISTERS/QUARTERLY UPDATE - RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

148 - 
158

Report of the Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager.

Appendix B, the restricted part of this report is attached at agenda item 
20 below.

17. WORK PROGRAMME 159

A copy of the Committee’s work programme is attached.  The Committee is 
asked to consider whether any additions, deletions or amendments to the 
programme are required.

18. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Friday, 9 June 
2017 at 10.00am in the Norfolk room.

19. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(4)(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Schedule 12A 
to the Act”.

20. RESTRICTED STRATEGIC RISK REGISTERS/QUARTERLY UPDATE - 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

160

BDC Restricted Strategic Risk Report - Appendix B

Page(s)
herewith



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Friday, 9 December 2016 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P S Wilkinson (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr M J Nairn

Also Present
Mr T. Ludlow Mr K. Stevens

In Attendance
Suzanne Jones - Interim Executive Director 

Commercialisation and s151 Officer
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Emma Hodds - Internal Audit Consortium Manager 

(IACM)
Kevin Suter - Executive Director, Ernst & Young
Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement and 

Performance Manager
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

55/16 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2016 were confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to it being noted that 
Mr Ludlow had also declared an interest under agenda item 11 (Minute 
No. 43/16 refers).

56/16 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

1. Quarterly Risk Report (Minute No. 45/16)

Mr Ludlow asked the Corporate Improvement & Performance 
Manager if he had managed to review the impact of the 
publication of the gender pay gap. Members were informed that 
the guidance had not yet been issued but the Team was looking at 
the assessment to identify any problem areas and it would be 
raised if necessary.

2. Training (Standing item ) (Minute No. 52/16)

Councillor Hewett had attended the CIPFA training in November 
and asked the Internal Audit Consortium Manager to pass on his 
thanks to the training provider as he had found the session very 
useful.

57/16 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Taylor.

5

Agenda Item 1



Governance & Audit Committee
9 December 2016

2

58/16 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

59/16 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

60/16 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

None.

61/16 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

No training requirements were requested. The presentation slides from 
the CIPFA training session would be emailed again as some Committee 
Members had not received them.

62/16 LOCAL GOVERNMENT SECTOR UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The Local Government Sector update would be emailed to Members and 
removed from the Work Programme for the February 2017 meeting.

63/16 ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

Mr Suter, Executive Director Ernst & Young presented the Annual Audit 
letter.  The purpose of the letter was to summarise the results of the audit; 
the format had changed and all jargon had been removed and was now a 
more streamlined document. 

The only item highlighted was the Housing Benefit Subsidy claims which 
had since been completed on 30 November 2016 and submitted to the 
Department of Work and Pensions accordingly.

Councillor Hewett thought the Annual Audit letter to be very clear and 
simple, he liked the executive summary but found the pictures a little 
distracting.  Councillor Monument agreed she also found the pictures 
distracting but liked the message it was bringing to the Committee.

The Annual Audit letter was otherwise noted.

64/16 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

The Chief Accountant and Deputy S151 Officer presented the Mid-Year 
Treasury report which the Committee was just being asked to note.

Section 1.2 on page 34 of the agenda summarised the key issues and 
changes to the Treasury report - Appendix 2 (page 38) of the agenda 
contained the detail and the majority of the information.

The main issue was the Money Market Funds (MMF) which the Council 
had used for many years but as interest rates had reduced there was a 
small risk of negative returns through the MMF; therefore, balances were 
slowly being reduced and although the returns were not so good in other 
investments the principal was safer.

Action By

6



Governance & Audit Committee
9 December 2016

3

Councillor Nairn informed the Committee why the Breckland Bridge loans 
had been extended.  The Executive Director for Commercialisation and 
S151 Officer assured Members that discussions were taking place and 
that she was in communication with Anglian Water.

Mr Ludlow had always believed that the Council only invested funds in 
AAA rated MMFs but according to page 42 of the agenda, it clearly did 
not.  The Chief Accountant and Deputy S151 Officer explained that 
Handlesbanken was not a Money Market account therefore, a different 
rating applied.

Councillor Monument could not spot any difference to figures contained in 
the prudential Indictor table.  Members were informed that there was no 
difference it was just a matter that had to be reported.

Councillor Hewett drew attention to a number of spelling and grammatical 
errors within the report; however, he did agree with Capita’s comments in 
section 1.2 of the report.  The Chairman asked about the Council’s 
attitude to this in terms of risk.  Members were informed that the 
difference in percentage rates were not significant and had been notified 
of the risk hence why new instant access accounts were being explored.

Councillor Hewett drew attention to Appendix 1 of the report and asked if 
the Council had to pay anything towards this economic update from 
Capita Asset Services as the content, in his opinion, did not seem current.  
Members were informed that it cost the Council nothing as it formed part 
of the Capita contract.  She assured the Committee that Capita would 
never provide the Council with any advice.

The Mid-Year Treasury report was noted.

65/16 TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY & STRATEGY (AGENDA ITEM 
11) 

The Treasury Management Policy & Strategy report would normally be 
presented to the Governance & Audit Committee meeting in February and 
due to the timing of this report, the budget information could be subject to 
change as it progressed to Cabinet and Council in February 2017.  The 
reason for bringing the report forward was explained.  The Chairman 
asked if there would be a need for the Committee to meet prior to 
February.  The Chief Accountant and Deputy S151 Officer assured 
Members that there would be no requirement.

In response to a question, the meaning of HRA was noted as Housing 
Revenue Account.

Councillor Hewett felt that the document deserved another look prior to it 
being presented to Full Council as it was full of formatting, grammatical 
and spelling errors.  The Executive Director for Commercialisation and 
S151 Officer suggested that if Members were happy with the content 
Officers would be tasked with tidying up the document then it could be 
circulated back to the Committee Members.

The Chairman said that he would be satisfied if the revised/corrected 
document be sent to Councillor Hewett and Councillor Monument then it 

Action By

7



Governance & Audit Committee
9 December 2016

4

would not need to come back to all Members.

In response to a question, it was noted that the Capital Loans on page 47 
of the agenda were in relation to the Breckland Bridge Loans. 

RECOMMEND to Full Council that:

1. the Treasury Management Strategy 2017-18 to 2020-21 at 
Appendix A of the report be approved;

2. the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement contained 
within Appendix A that sets out the Council’s policy on MRP be 
approved;

3. the Prudential Indicators and limits contained within Appendix A 
(tables 1-10) be approved;

4. the Investment Strategy 2017-18 (Appendix B of the report) and 
the detailed criteria included in Appendix B1 be approved; and

5. the Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2 of the report be 
approved.

66/16 TERMS OF REFERENCE REVIEW (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Executive Director for Commercialisation and S151 Officer had 
amended the Terms of Reference as requested to reflect the recent name 
change and what was now expected of the Governance and Audit 
Committee.  It was proposed and seconded that the Independent 
Members should receive all committee papers in future as for the purpose 
of this Committee they were full Members– it was agreed that this addition 
would be included in the Terms of Reference.  Other 
additions/amendments under the following headings included:

1. Purpose of the Committee

 Paragraph 1.5.2 was felt to be more prescriptive but provided less 
assurance.  It was noted that this wording had been picked up 
from the Council’s Constitution but would be amended and 
reported to Full Council accordingly.  It was felt that independent 
assurance was missing and it was proposed that the word ‘ensure’ 
should be removed and replaced with “provide independent 
assurance that”. It was further agreed that the second sentence of 
this part would have ‘but not limited to’ added after the words ‘in 
relation to’ and would now read: 

“The purpose of the Governance and Audit Committee is to 
monitor governance, risk management and internal control 
arrangements at the Council, to provide independent assurance 
that these are effective and efficient.  This is achieved through key 
regular items received by the Committee in relation to, but not 
limited to, internal and external audit, key finance items, 
governance reviews and strategic risk management reporting”.

2. Membership of the Committee

 Paragraph 1.6.1 – to remove the apostrophe from the word 
‘Council’s’.

In response to queries regarding this section of the report the Internal 

Action By

8



Governance & Audit Committee
9 December 2016

5

Audit Consortium Manager explained that this particular part of the Terms 
of Reference was recognising the restrictions that Members could/should 
be applied and was attempting to say who could sit on the Governance 
and Audit Committee and how many Members could be appointed to the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission.  It also tried to explain the role of the 
Chairman and who that should be as it should be about interlinkage 
between the two Committees. 

It was suggested that the amended Terms of Reference should be 
emailed to Councillors Monument and Hewett prior to it going to Full 
Council.  Members were informed that the Terms of Reference could be 
reviewed at any time; therefore, it was agreed that the relevant Officer 
would make the amendments accordingly.

RESOLVED that:

1) the Committee note the proposed purpose and Terms of Reference 
for the Governance and Audit Committee and that these be put 
forward to Full Council for approval and adoption subject to the 
aforementioned amendments; and

2) the Committee note the restrictions to be placed on Members of the 
Committee and that these be put forward to Full Council for 
approval and formal adoption subject to the aforementioned 
amendments.

67/16 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY (AGENDA 
ITEM 13) 

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager provided Members with a verbal 
update.  A full report would be provided at the February meeting.

Six audits had been completed to date in the financial year and high level 
summaries of conclusions were provided.  

Work in progress for Quarter 3 including cross authority review of 
accounts payable, Payroll & Human Resources and Licensing & Business 
Support (joint) would be concluded prior to the Christmas break and all 
audits for Quarter 4 had been booked in for completion by the end of 
March.

Councillor Hewett asked why the recommendation in the Content 
Management audit which had scored a limited assurance was disagreed.  
The Internal Audit Consortium Manager said that she was content with 
the response provided by the IT Manager as to the acceptance of the 
associated risk and that she would provide the detail at the February 
meeting. 

68/16 FOLLOW UP REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 
(AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager provided Members with a brief 
summary of progress to date in implementing audit recommendations.

All audit recommendations were now on Covalent which all Managers 
knew how to update and therefore it was becoming a much more fluid 

Action By

9



Governance & Audit Committee
9 December 2016

6

process and any concerns could now be escalated through to the relevant 
Board and onto the Executive Management Team (as appropriate) where 
Officers could be called to account.

The current position as at 7 December 2016 was that 40 
recommendations had now been closed and 42 remained outstanding; 
however, many of these would be implemented in December 2016.  Many 
historic recommendations had been addressed and information in relation 
to these would be reported in February.

The Executive Director for Commercialisation and S151 Officer explained 
the escalation process that was now in place whereby Officers could be 
held to account if no action was taken as well as a mechanism to be 
called to Committee. 

Mr Ludlow stated that there were some items already significantly 
overdue.  Members were informed that some of them had been 
superseded by strategies; however, the Council was still in a less 
satisfactory position.  The Chairman asked if a policy could be put in 
place so any outstanding recommendations came to Committee.  The 
Executive Director for Commercialisation and S151 Officer said that she 
would bring a report to the next meeting.

Mr Stevens felt that these recommendations had been re-visited on 
numerous occasions and were not being taken seriously.    It was agreed 
that a process would be put in place for Members to agree in February.

69/16 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

The Chairman had discussed with the Chairman of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission as to the assessment of the return on capital of the 
commercial activities within this authority as he felt that there was not a 
natural place for these to sit and be considered. Mr Suter, the Executive 
Director, Ernst & Young pointed out that these should be looked at 
through Cabinet (as an Executive function) under the Corporate Plan and 
the Governance & Audit Committee Members could ask for assurance 
that this was being done.

The Chairman wanted clarity as to whether these matters were being 
scrutinised elsewhere; if not, he asked for a report to come back to 
Committee and be added to the Work programme accordingly.

The Executive Director of Commercialisation & S151 Officer said that she 
would discuss this further with colleagues and a report would come back 
to the Governance & Audit Committee detailing the current process in 
place for reviewing the return on commercial activities to provide 
assurance for Committee Members.

Referring to the Work Programme, Mr Stevens wanted to know when the 
two items that had been postponed were coming back to Committee.  The 
Internal Audit Consortium Manager advised that the ICT Service and 
Infrastructure Report had been approved at the Full Council meeting on 8 
December 2016 and that as a priority this included improvements to the 
Disaster Recovery processes; therefore, this update would be removed 
from the Work Programme as it was no longer appropriate and if the 
necessary work was not completed this would be picked up through the 

Action By

10



Governance & Audit Committee
9 December 2016

7

audit recommendations report..  

As for the Contract Management and Monitoring update this was being 
monitored through the risk management process and would be discussed 
further under agenda item 18.  It was then agreed that this item was no 
longer required.

It was agreed that the Internal Audit Consortium Manager would email the 
Governance & Audit Committee’s Self-Assessment Exercise and Action 
Plan to Members in advance of the February meeting with responses to 
be provided before the agenda deadline so that it could be dealt with 
there and then at the meeting.

It was RESOLVED that the following deletions/additions be made to the 
Work Programme:

9 December 2016

 Disaster Recovery update (postponed) -  to be removed
 Contract Management & Monitoring (postponed) -  to be removed

24 February 2017

 Local Government Sector Update – to be removed
 Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity – to be added
 Follow up report on Internal Audit Recommendations – to be 

added
 Officer report on escalating outstanding recommendations – to be 

added (possibly incorporated into the above report).

70/16 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Friday, 24 February 2017 at 
10.00am in the Norfolk Room were noted.  

Lunch would be provided to take account of the Treasury Management 
training taking place after the meeting.

71/16 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business as it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

72/16 STRATEGIC RISK REGISTERS/QUARTERLY UPDATE - RISK 
MANAGEMENT (AGENDA ITEM 18) 

The Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager presented the 
report and highlighted that a number of major amendments had been 
made since the last meeting.

It was agreed that in future some risks would be discussed in open 
session, others, which were considered to be strategic/sensitive issues 
would continue to be discussed in private. 

Action By

11



Governance & Audit Committee
9 December 2016

8

The Chairman felt that a score/target column should be included on the 
risk register in future; other suggestions were also put forward.  

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager pointed out that if Members had 
any serious concerns, Managers could be called into Committee to 
explain the reason why their target had not been met.  It was agreed that 
Members would notify the report author in advance of the meeting if this 
was required.

It was agreed that the Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager 
would continue to develop the Strategic Risk Register to suit the 
Committee’s requirements.

The contents of the report were otherwise noted.

The meeting closed at 11.40 am CHAIRMAN

Action By

12



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

To: Governance & Audit Committee – 24th February 2017

Author: Mark Stinson, Executive Manager - Governance

Subject: Review of Standards Arrangements

Purpose: To review the existing Standards arrangements to ensure that they are 
proportionate and otherwise fit for purpose.

Recommendation(s): 
 
1) To recommend to Council the adoption of a revised set of Local Arrangements for dealing 

with Standards Complaints, subject to consultation with the Independent Person.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 contains the current legislative arrangements for elected Member 
standards of conduct within local authorities. This superseded the previous arrangements 
contained in the Local Government Act 2000. The Localism Act also abolished Standards 
for England (earlier known as the Standards Board) and the associated regulatory 
framework.  The Act also removed the obligation for members to agree to adhere to a 
model Code applicable across the country. The obligation to have a statutory Standards 
Committee and for Members to provide an undertaking to comply with a Code were also 
repealed, along with the sanctions of disqualification and suspension from office.

1.2 Nonetheless, there remains a duty on Councils under Sections 27 and 28 of the 
Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by elected and 
co-opted members when acting in that capacity; to adopt a Code of Conduct which is 
consistent with the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership; to have arrangements in place for the investigation 
of allegations and for the making of decisions on allegations. How this is achieved in 
each Council now involves a much greater degree of local choice than was available 
under the previous regime. The Council’s current arrangements were adopted by 
Council on 24 May 2012.

1.3 Breckland Council’s current code (Appendix A) is published in part 5 of its Constitution, and 
is also available on the Council’s website together with a copy of the current Standards 
Arrangements.

1.4 The Act also required the appointment of one or more “Independent Persons”, whose 
role is both to act as consultee before the Monitoring Officer makes a decision on any 
allegation s/he has decided to investigate, and also to be consulted by the Monitoring 
Officer at any other appropriate stage. Fiona Anthony was appointed in 2012 and re-
appointed in 2015. 

1.5 The current arrangements have been in place for almost five years and, whilst appropriate 
at the time, are now on occasions cumbersome and unnecessarily complicated. The 
current arrangements were largely based on a model set of arrangements that were 

13

Agenda Item 8



adopted by a number of authorities at the time. Many of the authorities, including others in 
Norfolk,  have subsequently reviewed and in most cases simplified the arrangements to 
allow greater flexibility for the Monitoring Officer to deal with a complaint in a timely and 
efficient manner.

1.6 With this in mind, a review of the current arrangements is now appropriate, and the 
proposed revised arrangements together with a revamped Complaints Form and proposed 
Hearing Procedures for both District and Parish Councillor complaints can be found at 
Appendices B to E. 

2.0 KEY POINTS

2.1 The revised arrangements reduces the number of steps involved in dealing with 
Complaints, particularly where the Monitoring Officer considers that there has not been a 
breach of the Code of Conduct.

2.2 The requirement for the Monitoring Officer to seek local resolution at each stage is 
removed. Local resolution still remains an important option, but recognises that in some 
instances this may not always be the best option and allows greater flexibility for the 
Monitoring Officer to decide how best to proceed with a complaint.

2.3 The revised arrangements highlight the type of complaints that the Monitoring Officer 
cannot investigate; hopefully reducing the number of complaints which are outside of the 
jurisdiction of the Monitoring Officer.

2.4 The Monitoring Office will be able to consider whether a complaint should be progressed at 
the outset, having taken into account a number of factors listed in the revised 
arrangements.

2.5 Procedures for Hearing Panels are formalised for hearings in respect of both District and 
Parish Councillors, should complaints reach this stage.

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1 Agree the revised arrangements and recommend to Council.

3.2 Agree the revised arrangements with amendments.

3.3 Do nothing and continue with the current arrangements.

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1 The procedure will allow the complaints to be dealt with in a more timely and efficient 
manner, thereby reducing the cost of the service.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Reduced administrative burden in the process and speedier response to complaints and 
subject members. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

14



5.2 Constitution & Legal

Elected members and co-optees are required to act in accordance with the Council’s Code 
of Conduct and the Council must have appropriate arrangements in place, in accordance 
with the Localism Act 2011

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

No issues to raise.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy, Interim Legal Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656219
Email: sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Breckland Councils Code of Conduct
Appendix B How to make a complaint about a District, Town or Parish Councillor 

in Breckland
Appendix C Complaint Form
Appendix D Hearing Procedures – District Councillor
Appendix E Hearing Procedures – Parish Councillors

15



       Appendix A

Breckland Council

Code of Conduct 

1. Expected behaviours

1.1 Breckland Council have adopted this Code setting out the expected 
behaviours required of its members or co-opted members, acknowledging 
that they each have a responsibility to represent the community and work 
constructively with our staff and partner organisations to secure better social, 
economic and environmental outcomes for all. 

1.2 In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity 
all Councillors must be committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent 
with the following principles to achieve best value for our residents and 
maintain public confidence in this Authority. 

SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of 
the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. 

INTEGRITY: Holders of public office should not place themselves 
under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or 
organisations that might seek to influence them in the performance of 
their official duties. 

OBJECTIVITY: In carrying out public business, including making public 
appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for 
rewards and benefits, holders of public office should make choices on 
merit. 

ACCOUNTABILITY: Holders of public office are accountable for their 
decisions and actions to the public and must submit themselves to 
whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office. 

OPENNESS: Holders of public office should be as open as possible 
about all the decisions and actions that they take. They should give 
reasons for their decisions and restrict information only when the wider 
public interest clearly demands. 

HONESTY: Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private 
interests relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any 
conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

LEADERSHIP: Holders of public office should promote and support 
these principles by leadership and example.

16



1.3 As a Member of Breckland Council, your conduct will in particular address the 
statutory principles of the code of conduct by: 

I. Championing the needs of residents – the whole community and in a 
special way your constituents, including those who did not vote for you 
- and putting their interests first. 

II. Dealing with representations or enquiries from residents, members of 
our communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially. 

III. Not allowing other pressures, including the financial interests of 
yourself or others connected to you, to deter you from pursuing 
constituents' casework, the interests of the Breckland area or the good 
governance of the Authority in a proper manner. 

IV. Exercising independent judgement and not compromising your position 
by placing yourself under obligations to outside individuals or 
organisations who might seek to influence the way you perform your 
duties as a member/co-opted member of this Authority. 

V. Listening to the interests of all parties, including relevant advice from 
statutory and other professional officers, taking all relevant information 
into consideration, remaining objective and making decisions on merit. 

VI. Being accountable for your decisions and co-operating when 
scrutinised internally and externally, including by local residents. 

VII. Contributing to making this Authority’s decision-making processes as 
open and transparent as possible to enable residents to understand 
the reasoning behind those decisions and to be informed when holding 
you and other members to account but restricting access to information 
when the wider public interest or the law requires it 

VIII. Behaving in accordance with all your legal obligations, alongside any 
requirements contained within this Authority’s policies, protocols and 
procedures, including on the use of the Authority’s resources. 

IX. Valuing your colleagues and staff and engaging with them in an 
appropriate manner and one that underpins the mutual respect 
between you that is essential to good local government. 

X. Always treating people with respect, including the organisations and 
public you engage with and those you work alongside. 

XI. Providing leadership through behaving in accordance with these 
principles when championing the interests of the community with other 
organisations as well as within this Authority. 

17



2. Declaration of Interests

2.1 The Localism Act 2011 provides for registration and disclosure of interests 
and in Breckland Council this will be done as follows: 

 On taking up office a member or co-opted member must, within 28 days of 
becoming such, notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interests’, as prescribed by the Secretary of State.

 On re-election or re-appointments, a member or co-opted member must, 
within 28 days, notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interests not already included in his or her register of interests.

 If a member or co-opted member is aware that they have a ‘disclosable 
pecuniary interest’ in a matter they must not participate in any discussion 
or vote on the matter at a meeting.

 If a member or co-opted member is aware of a ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interest’ in a matter under consideration at a meeting but such interest is 
not already on the Council’s register of interests or in the process of entry 
onto the register having been notified to the Monitoring Officer, the 
member or co-opted member must disclose the ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interest’ to the meeting and register it within 28 days of the meeting at 
which it is first disclosed. 

2.2   Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set our in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the room as stated in the 
Standing Orders of this Council.

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Personal Interests) Regulations 2012 No.1464 as follows:

Subject Prescribed description

Employment, 
office, trade, 
profession or 
vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992(1). 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 

18

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/schedule/made#f00003%23f00003


body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
     (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; 
or 
     (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

2.3  Gifts and Hospitality

2.3.1 You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of 
any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £100 which you have 
accepted as a member from any person or body other than the Authority.

2.3.2 The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of gifts 
and hospitality.

2.3.3 This duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit 
or hospitality comes within any description approved by the Authority for this 
purpose

19



Appendix B

How to make a complaint about a District, Town or Parish 
Councillor in Breckland.

Guidance

This document explains how to make a complaint if you are unhappy about 
behaviour of an elected Councillor or co-opted Member (both referred to as 
‘Members’ in this document) of Breckland Council or a Town or Parish Council.

It also explains:-

• What you can complain about;
• What will happen to your complaint.

Code of Conduct

Breckland Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for its members, which is 
available for inspection on the authority’s website www.breckland.gov.uk and on 
request from the Council Offices.

Each town / parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct. If anyone 
wishes to inspect a town / parish council’s Code of Conduct, they should visit any 
website operated by the town / parish council or request the town / parish clerk to 
allow inspection of the relevant Code of Conduct.

How to make a complaint

Your complaint needs to be made in writing using the Councillors’ Code of Conduct
Complaint Form. The form can be found on the Council’s website at 
www.breckland.gov.uk. If you do not have access to a computer a form may be 
obtained by contacting Democratic Services on 01362 656295 or 
standards@breckland.gov.uk.

Once completed please send your complaint form together with any documents that
support your complaint to 

20

www.breckland.gov.uk%2520
www.breckland.gov.uk.%2520


Appendix B

The Monitoring Officer
Democratic Services
Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham
Norfolk, NR19 1EE

or email: standards@breckland.gov.uk

The following sections of this document are intended to help you make sure you are
sending us all the information we need.

If you cannot write your complaint in English, we can arrange to have it translated
for you.

If you have any questions about the form, please contact the Monitoring Officer in 
writing.

What we cannot investigate

There are some complaints we will not investigate as a Councillor Code of 
Conduct complaint, including:-

• Complaints where a Member is not named;
• Complaints that are not in writing;
• Incidents or actions that are not covered by the Code of Conduct;
• Incidents that are about a fault in the way the Council rather than an individual 

member has or has not done something.
• Matters relating to the policies or performance of the Council generally. This is

known as maladministration and may be a matter for the Local Government
Ombudsman (www.lgo.org.uk); but should first be sent to us under our 
Corporate Complaints process at www.breckland.gov.uk.

• Complaints about employees;
• Incidents that happened before a Member was elected.
• Matters which occurred when the Member was not acting in their official 

capacity as a member.

The Complaint Form

Section 1 – Your contact details

• Please provide your full name, address, contact telephone number and
E-mail address if you have one.

Section 2 – About you

• Please tell us whether you are complaining as an Officer of the Council, 
member of the public etc.

21

standards@breckland.gov.uk
http://www.lgo.org.uk/
file://bcf01/Democratic%20Services/Localism%20Act%20Complaints/Sample%20Standards%20Arrangements/www.breckland.gov.uk


Appendix B

Section 3 – Details of the Member you are complaining about

You can complain about Members of Breckland Council, or members of a Town or 
Parish Council within the district of Breckland. A full list of current Council
Members are available on the Council’s web page at (www.Breckland.gov.uk.)

Section 4 – What you can complain about: breach of the Code of 
Conduct.

You can complain about a Member breaking any part of their Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members. A copy of the Code of Conduct for Breckland Council 
Members can be found on the Council’s website (www.Breckland.gov.uk.) Each 
Town and Parish Council has its own Code of Conduct. The majority are the same or 
based on the District Council’s Code but you will need to consider the provisions of 
the Code of the relevant Town or Parish Council before completing this form.  Copies 
of the relevant codes can be found on the Breckland Council Website, or 
alternatively contact the relevant Town or Parish Clerk to obtain a copy of the Code 
adopted by that Council.

Evidence

If you believe a Member has breached their Code of Conduct, please attach any 
evidence that you feel is relevant to your complaint. For example, details of any 
witnesses or copies of relevant documents. We can only consider a complaint on the 
evidence that has been provided or made available to us.

Section 5 – Confidential information

In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe Members who are 
complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint. We will usually 
give them a copy of the complaint. We are unlikely therefore to withhold your identity 
or the details of your complaint unless the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that it 
is in the public interest to do so. For example, where the disclosure of your personal 
details may result in the evidence being compromised or destroyed by the subject 
Member, or if there is a real possibility of intimidation of the complainant or witnesses 
by the Subject Member.

What happens to your complaint?

When you submit your complaint we will write to you to let you know we have 
received it. We will give you our summary of what we consider the key issues to be. 
We will also tell the member that you are complaining about that we have received 
your complaint and the relevant part(s) of the Code of Conduct that it is alleged may 
have been breached.

The Monitoring Officer will then consider your complaint and decide whether it 
should be progressed. If it is progressed, it may be referred for investigation or other 
action. As part of this process the Monitoring Officer will consult the District Council’s 

22

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/
www.Breckland.gov.uk.)%2520


Appendix B

Independent Person for their views on the merits of the complaint. If the complaint is 
not progressed, we will write to you giving our reasons.

What is meant by ‘Other Action’

The Monitoring Officer may decide to refer your complaint for ‘other action’. This is a 
broad term that may include options such as seeking an agreed resolution, which 
might involve the member giving an apology or attending mediation. When there is a 
failure to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or where there is other evidence 
of criminality then we may refer the complaint to the Police

What factors will be taken into account in deciding what to do 
with your complaint?

The Monitoring Officer may take the following into account in deciding whether to 
investigate the complaint: 

 is the matter serious enough to warrant the time and expense of 
further investigation

 does the complaint appear to be politically motivated
 does the complaint appear to be malicious, vexatious or repetitive.
 is it about something that happened so long ago that there would be 

little benefit in taking action now
 is the outcome, including the availability of any likely sanction sought 

by the complainant, one that the Authority is empowered to deliver
 if proven, would a finding of breach of the Code assist the Authority 

in its duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct
 had the Member acted on the advice of an officer or the 

Independent Person in relation to the conduct complained of
 did the conduct arise from lack of experience or training
 had the Member apologised for the conduct or was he or she willing 

to apologise
 is the subject matter of the complaint being dealt with through any 

other complaints, legal or regulatory process.

Please note: There is no provision for appeal or review of this decision, but reasons 
for the decision will be provided.

If a conflict of interest arises the Monitoring Officer or the Independent person may 
consult an Independent third person.

Investigation

If your complaint is investigated we will write to you and inform you of the timescales 
for completing the investigation. You will also have an opportunity to provide the 
investigator with any further information or documents that you consider relevant.

23



Appendix B

If the complaint relates to a parish councillor, depending on the nature of the 
allegation, in the first instance we may consult with the parish as to whether they 
wish to undertake the investigation themselves. The Parish Council will progress the 
issue from this stage, subject to consultation with the Monitoring Officer and 
Independent Person. The final decision on the outcome of the complaint will still 
remain with the Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer may delegate the 
investigation to any officer, and may also commission an investigation by an external 
investigator.

At the end of an investigation

If the conclusion of the investigation is that there has been no breach of the Code 
and the Monitoring Officer considers that this is a reasonable conclusion, the 
Monitoring Officer will write to you and the person complained about to inform you 
that there will be no further action. 

There is no provision for appeal or review of this decision but reasons for the 
decision will be provided.

If the investigation concludes that there is evidence of a breach of the Code then the
Monitoring Officer will consult the Independent Person and make a decision either 
to:-

 resolve the matter without the need for a hearing or
 To convene a meeting of the Council’s Hearing Panel to hear the matter.

If a hearing takes place and concludes that there has been no breach of the Code 
then that is the end of the matter. There is no provision for appeal or review of that 
decision.

If the hearing concludes that there has been a breach of the Code the panel will
consider whether and what sanction it might be appropriate to impose on the 
member found to be in default. 

These are as follows:-

 Censure or reprimand.
 Report to full Council.
 Recommendation to the subject members Political Group Leader (or in 

the case of un-grouped members, recommend to Council or to 
Committee) to remove the member from membership of Committees or 
Sub-Committees.

 Recommendation to the Leader of the Council that the member be 
removed from the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio 
responsibilities.

 Require the member to undergo training.
 Removal of the member from external nominations or appointments.
 Withdrawal of facilities or services from the member including access to 

Council premises and/or IT facilities.

24



Appendix B

Please Note: In respect of Town and Parish Councils, the Hearing Panel can only 
make a recommendation to the Town/Parish Council on action to be taken in
respect of the Member. Town/Parish Councils will be under no obligation to accept 
any such recommendation.

Revision of these Arrangements

The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements

Appeals

 There is no right of appeal either as the complainant or the subject member against 
a decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings panel.

If it is felt that the authority has failed to deal with the complaint in accordance with 
these arrangements, a complaint can be made through the Corporate Complaints 
procedure (www.breckland,gov.uk) or the Local Government Ombudsman (www.lgo.org.uk)

25

http://www.breckland,gov.uk
(www.lgo.org.uk)


Appendix C

COUNCILLORS’ CODE OF
CONDUCT COMPLAINT FORM

ONCE COMPLETED PLEASE RETURN TO: The Monitoring Officer, Democratic 
Services, Breckland Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, 
NR19 1EE

Your details

1 Please provide us with your name and contact details

Title:
First name:
Last name:
Address:

Daytime telephone:
Evening telephone:
Mobile telephone:
Email address:
Signature:
Date:

Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless necessary or to 
deal with your complaint.

However if your complaint is referred for assessment, we will tell the following people 
that you have made this complaint:

 the Councillor(s) you are complaining about
 the Parish or Town Clerk (if applicable)

If you need this document in large print, audio Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language, please 
contact Democratic Services on 01362 656295

26



Appendix C

We will tell them your name and give them details of your complaint. We will give them 
the full details of your complaint where necessary or appropriate to be able to deal with 
it. If you have serious concerns about your name and a summary, or details of your 
complaint being released, please complete section 5 of this form.

2 Please tell us whether you are making this complaint as:

A Member of the public
An elected or co-opted Member of an Authority
Other Council Officer or Authority employee 
Other, please state ( )

Making your complaint

3 Please provide us with the name of the Councillor(s) you believe have 
breached the Code of Conduct and the name of their Council:

Title First name Last name Council name

4 Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the Councillor has 
done that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct and the relevant 
paragraph(s) of the Code. If you are complaining about more than one 
Councillor you should clearly explain what each individual person has done 
that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct.
It is important that you provide all the information you wish to have taken into 
account by the Monitoring Officer when she decides whether to take any 
action on your complaint. For example:

 You should be specific, wherever possible; about exactly what you are 
alleging the Councillor said or did. For instance, instead of writing that 
the Councillor insulted you, you should state what it was they said.

 You should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever 
possible. If you cannot provide exact dates it is important to give a 
general timeframe.

 You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged 
conduct and provide their names and contact details if possible.

 You should provide any relevant background information. (e.g. minutes of 
meetings)

27



Appendix C

Please provide us with the details of your complaint. Continue on a separate 
sheet if there is not enough space on this form.

28



Appendix C
Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is 
kept confidential

5 In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe Councillors who are 
complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint. We also 
believe they have a right to be provided with a copy the complaint.

Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of 
complaint details will not automatically be granted. The Monitoring Officer will 
consider the request alongside the substance of your complaint. We will then 
contact you with the decision.  If your request for confidentiality is not granted, 
we will usually allow you the option of withdrawing your complaint.

However, it is important to understand that in certain exceptional 
circumstances where the matter complained about is very serious, we can 
proceed with an investigation or other action and disclose your name even if 
you have expressly asked us not to.

Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold your 
name and/or the details of your complaint:

Additional Help

Complaints must be submitted in writing.  This includes electronic 
submissions.  However, in line with the requirements of the Disability 
Discrimination Act 2005, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you if 
you have a disability that prevents you from making your complaint in writing.

We can also help if English is not your first language.

If you need any support in completing this form, please let us know as soon as 
possible.

Further information to help you complete this form can be found on the 
accompanying guidance notes.

29



Appendix D

Standards Hearing Procedure (District Councillor)

1. Formal Introductions of those present by the Chairman
• Members introduced
• Officers introduced – Monitoring Officer (MO) (or his/her Deputy) and Independent 

Person

2. Preliminary Issues
 Confirm Members interests disclosed in accordance with Code of Conduct (if 

relevant)
 Confirm meeting is quorate
 If the subject member is not present, decide whether to proceed
 Confirm whether the meeting will be held in public or in private session. If 

the meeting will be held in public session, confirmation that the Panel may 
decide to make their determination in private.

 Determine whether any additional witnesses are present, and whether they 
have been presented by the Subject member or Complainant. Determine 
whether the witnesses will be allowed to speak.

3. Hearing of complaint and findings
• MO to present their report.
• Complainant to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may determine the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the complainant and witnesses
• Subject member to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may seek to clarify the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the subject or witnesses.
• The Independent Person to present their views to the Panel
• The Panel may ask further questions of the Independent Person, and any of the 

other parties present.

4. Determination
• The Panel may resolve to close the meeting to deliberate in private.
• If so, the Panel to ask the Subject member, Complainant and any witnesses, 

members of the public and press to leave the room.
• Panel to determine whether the member failed to follow the Code of Conduct
• Panel to determine any sanctions or recommendations in light of their 

findings as to whether the member breached the Code of Conduct

5. Confirmation
• All parties are recalled to the meeting
• The Chairman to summarise the Panels’ deliberations and announce their finding 

as to whether the member has breached the Code of Conduct
• The Chairman to confirm any sanctions to be undertaken (or, in respect of Parish 

Councillors, to be recommended to the Parish Council)
• The Chairman to confirm that a decision notice will be placed on the Council’s 

website and available for public inspection.
• Chairman to close the meeting

30



Appendix D

Notes on the outcomes of the Hearing Panel:
The decision of the Hearing Panel is final. There are no further rights of appeal.

The Panel may decide on the following Sanctions where they identify that a Councillor has 
breached the Code of Conduct:

1 Publish its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct;

2 Report its findings to Council for information;

3 Recommend to the subject member’s Political Group Leader (or in the case of un-
grouped members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed 
from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council;

4 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the subject member be removed from 
the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities;

5 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the subject member;

6 Recommend the subject Member be removed from any or all outside appointments 
to which he/she has been appointed or nominated by the authority.

7 Withdrawal of facilities or services from the member including access to Council 
premises and/or IT facilities

When determining the sanctions that should be employed, the Panel may take 
into account any subsequent action undertaken by the Councillor to remedy 
the breach (for example, receipt of training or apology)

In respect of District Councillors, the Monitoring Officer is charged with ensuring that 
the necessary action is undertaken, including making recommendations to Council 
where necessary. The subject member will receive formal written notification within 
two weeks of the hearing as to the outcome of the meeting and any sanctions to be 
undertaken.

31



Appendix E

Standards Hearing Procedure - (Parish Councillor)

1. Formal Introductions of those present by the Chairman
• Members introduced
• Officers introduced – Monitoring Officer (MO) (or his/her Deputy) and Independent 

Person

2. Preliminary Issues
 Confirm Members interests disclosed in accordance with Code of Conduct (If 

Relevant)
 confirm meeting is quorate
 if the subject member is not present, decide whether to proceed
 Confirm whether the meeting will be held in public or in private session. If 

the meeting will be held in public session, confirmation that the Panel may 
decide to make their determination in private.

 Determine whether any additional witnesses are present, and whether they 
have been presented by the Subject member or Complainant. Determine 
whether the witnesses will be allowed to speak.

3. Hearing of complaint and findings
• MO to present their report.
• Complainant to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may determine the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the complainant and witnesses
• Subject member to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may seek to clarify the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the subject or witnesses.
• The Independent Person to present their views to the Panel
• The Panel may ask further questions of the Independent Person, and any of the 

other parties present.

4. Determination
• The Panel may resolve to close the meeting to deliberate in private.
• If so, the Panel to ask the Subject member, Complainant and any witnesses, 

members of the public and press to leave the room.
• Panel to determine whether the member failed to follow the Code of Conduct
• Panel to determine any sanctions or recommendations in light of their 

findings as to whether the member breached the Code of Conduct

5. Confirmation
• All parties are recalled to the meeting
• The Chairman to summarise the Panel’s deliberations and announce their finding 

as to whether the member has breached the Code of Conduct
• The Chairman to confirm any sanctions to be undertaken (or, in respect of Parish 

Councillors, to be recommended to the Parish Council)
• The Chairman to confirm that a decision notice will be placed on the Council’s 

website and available for public inspection. 
• Chairman to close the meeting

32



Appendix E

Notes on the outcomes of Hearing Panels:

The decision of the Hearing Panel is final. There are no further rights of appeal.

The Panel may decide on the following Sanctions where they identify that a Councillor has 
breached the Code of Conduct:

1. Publish its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct;

2. Report its findings to  the Town / Parish Council for information;

3. Recommend that the Town/Parish council arrange training for the subject 
member;

4. Recommend to the Town / Parish council that the subject member be removed 
from any or all outside appointments to which he/she has been appointed or 
nominated by the town / parish Council.

When determining the sanctions that should be employed, the Panel may take 
into account any subsequent action undertaken by the Councillor to remedy 
the breach (for example, receipt of training or apology)

In respect of Parish Councillors, the Monitoring Officer will notify the Parish Clerk within 
two weeks of the hearing of the outcome. The Parish Council is required to consider 
the Panel’s findings, and determine whether they agree with the findings or propose 
other action to be taken.

33



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation  

To: Governance & Audit Committee, 24 February 2017

(Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation)

Subject: Processes in Place for Reviewing Financial and Corporate Performance

Purpose: This report details the current processes at the Council for reviewing 
financial and corporate performance information, to provide Governance & 
Audit Committee with assurance of the processes in place.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report be noted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 At Governance & Audit Committee in December 2016, Members questioned the process 
for reviewing performance at the Council.  This report provides the committee with those 
current processes in order to provide assurance to Governance & Audit Committee 
Members that a relevant and fit for purpose process is in place at the Council.

Financial Performance

1.2 Financial performance is reported on either a monthly or quarterly basis, dependent on 
the potential financial impact of differing areas (a risk based approach).  The variances 
reported are based on the original budget approved by Full Council and updated for any 
known changes in the year to date (i.e. new approvals).  The budget is set by the Service 
Manager and is then reviewed by finance and challenged where necessary.

1.3 On a monthly basis, areas which have the potential to generate a substantial financial 
impact are reported through the covalent system.  These areas are also reviewed by the 
Finance Board using a link to the covalent system.  The areas currently reported on are:
 Variances on major contract spend – Serco waste contract, PFI leisure contract and 

the Capita planning & building control contract.
 Variance on planning application income.
 Commercial Property net income variance.
 Investment interest variance.
 Variance on establishment costs (i.e. salaries) compared to the 96% budget.

1.4 On a quarterly basis, the actual financial position compared to budget is reviewed for all 
areas of the council for capital, treasury and revenue.  The finance department liaise or 
meet with all Service Managers and review their variances and forecast spend for the 
remainder of the financial year.  The results of this are reported to Cabinet on a quarterly 
basis.  The report to Cabinet details the overall forecast financial position of the council 
along with details of the major variances and the reasons for those variances.  The 
quarter three report to Cabinet can be found at the following link 
http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=3847&Ver=4 – 
item 10 of the agenda.

34

Agenda Item 9

http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=3847&Ver=4


1.5 The annual statement of accounts is subject to an in depth audit by Ernst & Young and 
the results of this are presented to Governance & Audit Committee on an annual basis.  
This audit of the statement of accounts also includes a conclusion from Ernst & Young on 
the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness (the value 
for money conclusion).  Details of this report for 2015-16 can be found at the following link 
http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=468&MId=3874&Ver=4 – 
agenda item 9.

1.6 The Finance Board meets on a monthly basis, the board consists of; the S151 officer, the 
Head of Internal Audit, the Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager and the 
Chief Accountants (for both Breckland and South Holland councils).  The Finance Board 
reviews the monthly financial information on covalent (see paragraph 1.3 of this report) 
and if necessary will investigate further any areas of concern.  The Finance Board is also 
responsible for releasing capital budgets (once approved by Full Council) to ensure that 
the appropriate milestones are in place to measure performance.  Any internal audit 
issues are raised at the Finance Board as necessary to ensure early action, if required, 
can be taken to resolve any up-coming issues.  The Finance Board also work to identify 
potential threats, risks, opportunities and issues through horizon scanning, liaison on a 
countywide basis and through reviewing the impact of national changes to the Councils 
medium term plan.  A summary of the Finance Board minutes is also reviewed by the 
Executive Management Team (EMT).

Transformation Programme

1.7 The Operational Transformation Board meets on a monthly basis and at each meeting 
reviews the financial performance of the programme along with the progress of the 
individual projects.  This board consists of staff from; Corporate Improvement, Finance, 
Human Resources, Communications and Legal and is chaired by the Executive Manager 
for People & Public Protection.  The financial report details the financial savings made to 
date compared to the target and highlights any areas of concern and also any opportunity 
areas.  The project progress report details the progress of each project along with a RAG 
(Red-Amber-Green) rating to highlight any areas of concern.  The Operational 
Transformation Board will call in a Service Manager, if necessary, where there are 
concerns over the delivery of a specific project, to determine if there are any actions which 
can be taken to assist.  Both the financial and project reports are also reviewed by the 
Strategic Transformation Board and Strategic growth Group which are the Executive 
Director and Executive Manager level boards.

Corporate Performance and Risk

1.8 The internal audit service reviews areas in accordance with the pre-approved audit plan.  
The audit plan is created on a risk based approach and is discussed with senior managers 
whilst being prepared to identify any areas of concern, change, system development or 
issue.  The plan is then reviewed by Finance Board and then the Executive Management 
Team (EMT) before being presented to Governance & Audit Committee for final approval 
(see item on this meeting agenda).

1.9 Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) are initially agreed as part of the annual team/service 
plan which happens as part of the annual corporate plan refresh process.  These are first 
agreed by Service Managers, then signed off by Executive Management Team and 
Directors and then reviewed by Portfolio Holders.  Key Performance Indicators that make 
up the Council’s Performance Framework are considered monthly at the Performance, 
Risk and Audit Board.  The board is chaired by the Executive Director for Strategy & 
Governance.  Where performance is below the expected levels the relevant Service 

35

http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=468&MId=3874&Ver=4


Manager is called in to explain the reasons for this variation and outline mitigating actions 
being taken to recover the position.  The outcomes of the Board are then reported monthly 
to the Executive Management Team in the form of a highlight report.

1.10 The Performance, Risk and Audit Board also considers updates on operational and 
strategic risks, and progress made against audit recommendations.  These are again 
subject to the same call in process outlined above.

Contract Performance

1.11 The council’s three major contracts (Serco waste contract, PFI leisure contract and Capita 
planning & building control contract) are all subject to internal monitoring processes.  
These are led by the services and are tailored to the needs of the specific contract.  The 
general process followed is regular contract monitoring meetings with the providers of the 
service.  At these meetings, providers are challenged and held to account where 
necessary.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 This report is for information only.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 This report is for information only.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To provide Governance & Audit Committee Members with assurance that an appropriate 
process is in place at the Council for reviewing financial and corporate performance.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these would be identified below.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 RAG – Red, Amber, Green

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant

36

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report:

37



Ernst & Young LLP

Certification of claims and
returns annual report 2015/16
Breckland Council

12 December 2016

38

Agenda Item 10



The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.
A list of members’ names is available for inspection at 1 More London Place, London
SE1 2AF, the firm’s principal place of business and registered office.

The Members of the Governance & Audit Committee
Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham
NR19 1EE

12 December 2016

Direct line: 07876 397986
Email: KSuter@uk.ey.com

Dear Members

Certification of claims and returns annual report 2015/16
Breckland Council

We are pleased to report on our certification work. This report summarises the results of our work on
Breckland Council’s 2015/16 claims.

Scope of work

Local authorities claim large sums of public money in grants and subsidies from central government and
other grant-paying bodies and must complete returns providing financial information to government
departments. In some cases these grant-paying bodies and government departments require
appropriately qualified auditors to certify the claims and returns submitted to them.

From 1 April 2015, the duty to make arrangements for the certification of relevant claims and returns and
to prescribe scales of fees for this work was delegated to the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd
(PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.

For 2015/16, these arrangements required only the certification of the housing benefits subsidy claim. In
certifying this we followed a methodology determined by the Department for Work and Pensions and did
not undertake an audit of the claim.

Summary

Section 1 of this report outlines the results of our 2015/16 certification work and highlights the significant
issues.

We checked and certified the housing benefits subsidy claim with a total value of £34,080,770. We met
the submission deadline. We issued a qualification letter; details of the qualification matters are included
in section 1.

Fees for certification work are summarised in section 2. The housing benefits subsidy claim fees for
2015/16 were published by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) in March 2015 and are now
available on the PSAA’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

Ernst & Young LLP
400 Capability Green
Luton
Bedfordshire
LU1 3LU

Tel: + 44 1582 643000
Fax: + 44 1582 643001
ey.com

Tel: 023 8038 2000

39



We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the 24 February 2017
Governance & Audit Committee.

Yours faithfully

Kevin Suter
Executive Director
Ernst & Young LLP
Enc

40



Contents

EY ÷ i

Contents

1. Housing benefits subsidy claim ................................................................................. 1
2. 2015/16 certification fees ............................................................................................ 2
3. Looking forward .......................................................................................................... 3

41



Housing benefits subsidy claim

EY ÷ 1

1. Housing benefits subsidy claim

Scope of work Results

Value of claim presented for certification £34,080,770

Amended/Not amended Not amended

Qualification letter Yes

Fee – 2015/16
Fee – 2014/15

£11,210 (subject to PSAA approval)
£20,619

Recommendations from 2014/15 Findings in 2015/16

Perform early extended testing in those
areas where errors were identified in
2014/15, to ascertain the extent of
similar errors arising in 2015/16.

Early extended testing was undertaken in relation
to input errors in income assessments. Further
details of these findings are included below.

Local Government administers the Government’s housing benefits scheme for tenants and
can claim subsidies from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) towards the cost of
benefits paid.

The certification guidance requires auditors to complete more extensive ‘40+’ or extended
testing if initial testing identifies errors in the calculation of benefit or compilation of the claim.
40+ testing may also be carried out as a result of errors that have been identified in the audit
of previous years claims. We found errors and carried out extended testing in two areas.

We have reported the extrapolated value of these errors, underpayments, and other
observations in a qualification letter. The DWP then decides whether to ask the Council to
carry our further work to quantify the errors or to claw back the benefit subsidy paid. These
are the main issues we reported:

· testing of the initial rent allowance sample identified one case where the Authority
had overpaid benefit as a result of a carers allowance not being removed when
entitlement ended and one case where benefit had been underpaid as a result of an
input error in the income assessment. Extended ‘40+’ testing was undertaken in each
of these areas and further errors resulting in overpaid benefit were identified for both
types of error;

· testing of the initial non-HRA rent rebate sample identified one case where
expenditure had been underpaid as a result of a move to passported benefit being
incorrectly applied from the Monday following. No additional testing was undertaken
as this type of error will always result in an underpayment of benefit; and

· testing of the initial rent allowance sample identified one case where maintenance
payments had not been removed when payment ceased. No additional testing was
undertaken as this type of error will always result in an underpayment of benefit.

42



2015/16 certification fees

EY ÷ 2

2. 2015/16 certification fees

The PSAA determine a scale fee each year for the audit of claims and returns.  For 2015/16,
these scale fees were published by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA’s) in
March 2015 and are now available on the PSAA’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

Claim or return 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15

Actual fee
£

Indicative fee
£

Actual fee
£

Housing benefits subsidy claim 11,210 13,926 20,619

The 2014/15 actual fee included an additional fee to reflect the extra work undertaken for that
year. The indicative fee for 2015/16 is based on the actual fee for 2013/14 with a 25%
reduction in scale fee.

For 2015/16 the level of error identified was similar to that identified in 2013/14. However due
to the Council undertaking the initial testing, requiring us to review and carry out an element
of reperformance of their work only, we are able to reduce the fee by £2,716.

Our final proposed fee remains subject to approval by PSAA.

43



Looking forward

EY ÷ 3

3. Looking forward

From 1 April 2015, the duty to make arrangements for the certification of relevant claims and
returns and to prescribe scales of fees for this work was delegated to (PSAA) by the
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.

The Council’s indicative certification fee for 2016/17 is £15,465. This was prescribed by
PSAA in March 2016, based on no changes to the work programme for 2015/16. Indicative
fees for 2016/17 housing benefit subsidy certification work are based on final 2014/15
certification fees. PSAA reduced scale audit fees and indicative certification fees for most
audited bodies by 25 per cent based on the fees applicable for 2014/15.

Details of individual indicative fees are available at the following web address:
http://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-and-certification-fees/201617-work-programme-and-scales-of-
fees/individual-indicative-certification-fees/

We must seek the agreement of PSAA to any proposed variations to these indicative
certification fees. We will inform the Executive Director, Commercialisation before seeking
any such variation.

PSAA is currently consulting on the 2017/18 work programme. There are no changes
planned to the work required and the arrangements for certification of housing benefit subsidy
claims remain in the work programme. However, this is the final year in which these
certification arrangements will apply. From 2018/19, the Council will be responsible for
appointing their own auditor and this is likely to include making their own arrangements for
the certification of the housing benefit subsidy claim in accordance with the requirements that
will be established by the DWP.

44



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

Ernst & Young LLP

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

ey.com

45



Ernst & Young LLP

Breckland Council
Year ending 31 March 2017

Audit Plan

8 February 2017

46

Agenda Item 11



The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.
A list of members’ names is available for inspection at 1 More London Place, London
SE1 2AF, the firm’s principal place of business and registered office.

Governance & Audit Committee
Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham
Norfolk
NR19 1EE

8 February 2017

Dear Committee Members

Audit Plan

We are pleased to attach our Audit Plan which sets out how we intend to carry out our responsibilities as
auditor. Its purpose is to provide the Governance & Audit Committee with a basis to review our proposed
audit approach and scope for the 2016/17 audit in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, the Statement of
Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and other
professional requirements. It is also to ensure that our audit is aligned with the Committee’s service
expectations.

This plan summarises our initial assessment of the key risks driving the development of an effective
audit for the Council, and outlines our planned audit strategy in response to those risks.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss this Audit Plan with you on 24 February 2017 and to understand
whether there are other matters which you consider may influence our audit.

Yours faithfully

Kevin Suter
Executive Director
For and behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Enc

Ernst & Young LLP
400 Capability Green
Luton
Bedfordshire
LU1 3LU

Tel: + 44 1582 643000
Fax: + 44 1582 643001
ey.com

Tel: 023 8038 2000

47



Contents

EY ÷ i

Contents

1. Overview ..................................................................................................................... 1
2. Financial statement risks ........................................................................................... 2
3. Value for money risks ................................................................................................. 4
4. Our audit process and strategy.................................................................................. 5
5. Independence.............................................................................................................. 9
Appendix A Fees .......................................................................................................... 11
Appendix B UK required communications with those charged with governance .... 12
Appendix C Detailed scopes ....................................................................................... 14

In April 2015 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued ‘‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and
audited bodies 2015-16’. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited body and via the PSAA website
(www.psaa.co.uk)
The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited
bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is
to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The ‘Terms of Appointment from 1 April 2015’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must
comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute,
and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This Audit Plan is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Audit Committee,
and is prepared for the sole use of the audited body. We, as appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third
party.
Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be
improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you may take the issue up with your usual
partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1
More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all
we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our service, you may of
course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact
our professional institute.

48



Overview

EY ÷ 1

1. Overview

This Audit Plan covers the work that we plan to perform to provide you with:

► Our audit opinion on whether the financial statements of Breckland Council give a true
and fair view of the financial position as at 31 March 2017 and of the income and
expenditure for the year then ended; and

► Our conclusion on the Council’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

We will also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO), to the extent and in the
form required by them, on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts return.

Our audit will also include the mandatory procedures that we are required to perform in
accordance with applicable laws and auditing standards.

When planning the audit we take into account several key inputs:

► Strategic, operational and financial risks relevant to the financial statements;

► Developments in financial reporting and auditing standards;

► The quality of systems and processes;

► Changes in the business and regulatory environment; and

► Management’s views on all of the above.

By considering these inputs, our audit is focused on the areas that matter and our feedback is
more likely to be relevant to the Council.

49



Financial statement risks

EY ÷ 2

2. Financial statement risks

We outline below our current assessment of the financial statement risks facing the Council,
identified through our knowledge of the Council’s operations and discussion with those
charged with governance and officers.

At our meeting, we will seek to validate these with you.

Significant risks (including fraud risks) Our audit approach

Risk of management override

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management
is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its
ability to manipulate accounting records directly or
indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively. We identify and respond to this fraud risk on
every audit engagement.

Our approach will focus on:
► Testing the appropriateness of journal entries

recorded in the general ledger and other
adjustments made in the preparation of the financial
statements;

► Reviewing accounting estimates for evidence of
management bias;

► Evaluating the business rationale for significant
unusual transactions; and

► Testing additions to Property, Plant and Equipment
to ensure that these are correctly classified as
capital expenditure.

Other financial statement risks

Presentation of the financial statements

Amendments have been made to the Code of Practice
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2016/17 (the Code) changing the way the financial
statements are presented.
The new reporting requirements impact the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
(CIES) and the Movement in Reserves Statement, and
include the introduction of a new Expenditure and
Funding Analysis note as a result of the ‘Telling  the
Story’ review of the presentation of local authority
financial statements.
The Code no longer requires statements or notes to be
prepared in accordance with Service Reporting Code of
Practice. Instead the Code requires that the service
analysis is based on the organisational structure under
which the authority operates. We expect this to show the
Council’s segmental analysis.
This change in the Code will require a new structure for
the primary statements, new notes and full retrospective
restatement of comparatives. This restatement will
require audit review, which could potentially incur
additional costs, depending on the complexity and
manner in which the changes are made.

Our approach will focus on:
► Reviewing the expenditure and funding analysis,

CIES and new disclosure notes to ensure
disclosures are in line with the Code;

► Reviewing the analysis of how these figures are
derived, how the ledger system has been re-mapped
to reflect the Council’s organisational structure and
how overheads are apportioned across the service
areas reported; and

► Agreeing restated comparatives figures to the
Council’s segmental analysis and supporting
working papers.

Property, plant and equipment valuations

Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) represents a
material item on the Council’s balance sheet. PPE is
initially measured at cost and then revalued to fair value
(determined by the amount that would be paid for the
asset in its existing use) on a 5 year rolling basis. This is
carried out by an expert valuer and is based on a
number of complex assumptions. Annually assets are
assessed to identify whether there is any indication of
impairment.
ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 require us to
undertake procedures on the use of experts and
assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

Our approach will focus on:
► Reliance on management’s valuation experts. This

will include comparison to industry valuation trends
and reliance on our own valuation experts where
significant unexplained variations are identified;

► Testing the accounting treatment of valuations made
in the year, including the assessment and treatment
of impairments; and

► Reviewing and testing the Council’s application of
IFRS13 to ensure the fair value of relevant assets is
based on economic best interest.

50



Financial statement risks

EY ÷ 3

Pensions valuations and disclosures

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and
IAS19 require the Council to make extensive disclosures
within its financial statements regarding the Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) in which it is an
admitted body.
The Council’s current pension fund deficit is a highly
material and sensitive item and the Code requires that
this liability be disclosed on the Council’s Balance Sheet.
The information disclosed is based on the IAS19 report
issued to the Council by the actuaries to the Norfolk
Pension Fund.
As part of their actuarial review, councils are being
asked to make additional payments to the pensions
scheme to fund deficits.

Our approach will focus on:
► Liaising with the auditors of the Norfolk Pension

Fund, to obtain assurances over the information
supplied to the actuary in relation to Breckland
Council;

► Assessing the conclusions drawn on the work of the
actuary by the Consulting Actuary commissioned by
Public Sector Auditor Appointments, PwC; and

► Reviewing and testing the accounting entries and
disclosures made in relation to IAS19.

2.1 Responsibilities in respect of fraud and error
We would like to take this opportunity to remind you that management has the primary
responsibility to prevent and detect fraud. It is important that management, with the oversight
of those charged with governance, has a culture of ethical behaviour and a strong control
environment that both deters and prevents fraud.

Our responsibility is to plan and perform audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free of material misstatements whether
caused by error or fraud. As auditors, we approach each engagement with a questioning
mind that accepts the possibility that a material misstatement due to fraud could occur, and
design the appropriate procedures to consider such risk.

Based on the requirements of auditing standards our approach will focus on:

► Identifying fraud risks during the planning stages;

► Enquiry of management about risks of fraud and the controls to address those risks;

► Understanding the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s
processes over fraud;

► Consideration of the effectiveness of management’s controls designed to address the risk
of fraud;

► Determining an appropriate strategy to address any identified risks of fraud, and

► Performing mandatory procedures regardless of specifically identified risks.

51



Value for money risks

EY ÷ 4

3. Value for money risks

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
For 2016/17 this is based on the overall evaluation criterion:

“In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable
outcomes for taxpayers and local people”

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office.
They comprise your arrangements to:

· Take informed decisions;

· Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and

· Work with partners and other third parties.

In considering your proper arrangements, we will draw on the requirements of the
CIPFA/SOLACE framework for local government to ensure that our assessment is made
against a framework that you are already required to have in place and to report on through
documents such as your annual governance statement.

We are only required to determine whether there are any risks that we consider significant,
which the Code of Audit Practice which defines as:

“A matter is significant if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that
the matter would be of interest to the audited body or the wider public”

Our risk assessment supports the planning of sufficient work to enable us to deliver a safe
conclusion on arrangements to secure value for money and enables us to determine the
nature and extent of further work that may be required. If we do not identify any significant
risks there is no requirement to carry out further work.

Our risk assessment has therefore considered both the potential financial impact of the
issues we have identified, and also the likelihood that the issue will be of interest to local
taxpayers, the Government and other stakeholders. This has not identified any risks which
we view as relevant to our value for money conclusion.

We will keep our risk assessment under review throughout the audit and communicate any
updates to the Audit Committee if necessary.

52



Our audit process and strategy

EY ÷ 5

4. Our audit process and strategy

4.1 Objective and scope of our audit
Under the Code of Audit Practice our principal objectives are to review and report on the
Council’s:

► Financial statements; and

► Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
to the extent required by the relevant legislation and the requirements of the Code.

We issue an audit report that covers:

1. Financial statement audit

Our objective is to form an opinion on the financial statements under International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

Alongside our audit report, we also:

► Review and report to the NAO on the Whole of Government Accounts return to the extent
and in the form they require; and

► Issue statutory audit opinions on the Council’s subsidiaries. We will plan our audit
procedures to identify misstatements that could be material to the statutory financial
statements of the individual entity.

2. Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value
for money)

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

4.2 Audit process overview
We will obtain an understanding of the Council’s system of internal control and assess the
adequacy of specific controls that respond to significant risks of material misstatement. We
will document and walkthrough your financial processes and controls. To the fullest extent
permissible by auditing standards, we will seek to rely on internal audit wherever possible.

Our initial assessment of the key processes across the Council has identified payroll where
we will seek to test key controls, both manual and IT.

We will substantively test transactions and balances of other key processes at year end as
we believe this to be the most efficient approach.

Analytics
We will use our computer-based analytics tools to enable us to capture whole populations of
your financial data, in particular journal entries and payroll. These tools:

► Help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be subject to more
traditional substantive audit tests; and

► Give greater likelihood of identifying errors than random sampling techniques.

53



Our audit process and strategy

EY ÷ 6

Internal audit
As in prior years, we will review internal audit plans and the results of their work. We will
reflect the findings from these reports, together with reports from any other work completed in
the year, in our detailed audit plan, where we raise issues that could have an impact on the
year-end financial statements.

Use of specialists

When auditing key judgements, we are often required to rely on the input and advice
provided by specialists who have qualifications and expertise not possessed by the core audit
team. The areas where either EY or third party specialists provide input for the current year
audit are:

Area Specialists

Pensions liability EY Pensions team, PWC acting as consulting actuary appointed by the
NAO & the Council’s Actuary

Property Valuations EY Valuations team & the Council’s valuer

Business rate appeals Management’s expert

In accordance with Auditing Standards, we will evaluate each specialist’s professional
competence and objectivity, considering their qualifications, experience and available
resources, together with the independence of the individuals performing the work.

We also consider the work performed by the specialist in light of our knowledge of the
Council’s environment and processes and our assessment of audit risk in the particular area.
For example, we would typically perform the following procedures:

► Analyse source data and make inquiries as to the procedures used by the expert to
establish whether the source date is relevant and reliable;

► Assess the reasonableness of the assumptions and methods used;

► Consider the appropriateness of the timing of when the specialist carried out the work;
and

► Assess whether the substance of the specialist’s findings are properly reflected in the
financial statements.

4.3 Mandatory audit procedures required by auditing standards
and the Code
As well as the financial statement risks (section two) and value for money risks (section
three), we must perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence
standards, the Code and other regulations. We outline below the procedures we will
undertake during the course of our audit.

Procedures required by standards
► Addressing the risk of fraud and error;

► Significant disclosures included in the financial statements;

► Entity-wide controls;

► Reading other information contained in the financial statements and reporting whether it
is inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements; and

54



Our audit process and strategy

EY ÷ 7

► Auditor independence.

Procedures required by the Code
► Reviewing, and reporting on as appropriate, other information published with the

financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement and the Narrative
Statement; and

► Reviewing and reporting on the Whole of Government Accounts return, in line with the
instructions issued by the NAO.

Finally, we are also required to discharge our statutory duties and responsibilities as
established by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

4.4 Materiality
For the purposes of determining whether the financial statements are free from material error,
we define materiality as the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the users of the financial statements.
Our evaluation requires professional judgement and so takes into account qualitative as well
as quantitative considerations implied in the definition.

We have determined that overall materiality for the financial statements of the Council is £1.4
million based on 2% of gross revenue expenditure on services. We will communicate
uncorrected audit misstatements greater than £70,000 to you.

The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our initial
determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate all the circumstances that
might ultimately influence our judgement. At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion
by reference to all matters that could be significant to users of the financial statements,
including the total effect of any audit misstatements, and our evaluation of materiality at that
date.

4.5 How materiality is applied to the component locations
We determine component materiality as a percentage of Group materiality based on risk and
relative size to the Group. Based on the planning materiality of £1.4 million, we expect to
apply materiality of £317,000 to Breckland Bridge Ltd. The component reporting limit for
adjustments of £70,000 is the same as that noted above.

4.6 Fees
The duty to prescribe fees is a statutory function delegated to Public Sector Audit
Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.
PSAA has published a scale fee for all relevant bodies. This is defined as the fee required by
auditors to meet statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in
accordance with the NAO Code. The indicative fee scale for the audit of Breckland Council is
£44,537. Further detail is provided in Appendix A.

4.7 Your audit team
The engagement team is led by Kevin Suter, who has significant experience in the local
government sector. Kevin is supported by Alison Riglar who is responsible for the day-to-day
direction of audit work and is the key point of contact for the chief accountant. This audit team
provides continuity and knowledge of the Council.

4.8 Timetable of communication, deliverables and insights
We have set out below a timetable showing the key stages of the audit, including the value
for money work and the Whole of Government Accounts. The timetable includes the
deliverables we have agreed to provide to the Council through the Governance & Audit

55



Our audit process and strategy

EY ÷ 8

Committee’s cycle in 2016/17. These dates are determined to ensure our alignment with
PSAA’s rolling calendar of deadlines.

From time to time matters may arise that require immediate communication with the
Governance & Audit Committee and we will discuss them with the Chair as appropriate.

Following the conclusion of our audit we will prepare an Annual Audit Letter to communicate
the key issues arising from our work to the Council and external stakeholders, including
members of the public.

Audit phase Timetable

Audit
Committee
timetable Deliverables

High level planning April 2016 Audit Fee Letter

Risk assessment and
setting of scopes

January –
February 2017

February 2017 Audit Plan

Testing routine
processes and
controls

March 2017 June 2017 Progress Report if required

Year-end audit June-July 2017
Completion of audit July 2017 July 2017 Report to those charged with governance via the

Audit Results Report
Audit report (including our opinion on the
financial statements and overall value for money
conclusion).
Audit completion certificate
Reporting to the NAO on the Whole of
Government Accounts return.

Conclusion of
reporting

August 2017 September 2017 Annual Audit Letter

In addition to the above formal reporting and deliverables we will seek to provide practical
business insights and updates on regulatory matters.

56



Independence

EY ÷ 9

5. Independence

5.1 Introduction
The APB Ethical Standards and ISA (UK and Ireland) 260 ‘Communication of audit matters
with those charged with governance’, requires us to communicate with you on a timely basis
on all significant facts and matters that bear on our independence and objectivity. The Ethical
Standards, as revised in December 2010, require that we do this formally both at the planning
stage and at the conclusion of the audit, as well as during the audit if appropriate. The aim of
these communications is to ensure full and fair disclosure by us to those charged with your
governance on matters in which you have an interest.

Required communications

Planning stage Final stage

► The principal threats, if any, to objectivity and
independence identified by EY including
consideration of all relationships between you, your
affiliates and directors and us;

► The safeguards adopted and the reasons why they
are considered to be effective, including any
Engagement Quality Review;

► The overall assessment of threats and safeguards;
and

► Information about the general policies and process
within EY to maintain objectivity and independence.

► A written disclosure of relationships (including the
provision of non-audit services) that bear on our
objectivity and independence, the threats to our
independence that these create, any safeguards that
we have put in place and why they address such
threats, together with any other information
necessary to enable our objectivity and
independence to be assessed;

► Details of non-audit services provided and the fees
charged in relation thereto;

► Written confirmation that we are independent;
► Details of any inconsistencies between APB Ethical

Standards, the PSAA Terms of Appointment and
your policy for the supply of non-audit services by
EY and any apparent breach of that policy; and

► An opportunity to discuss auditor independence
issues.

During the course of the audit we must also communicate with you whenever any significant
judgements are made about threats to objectivity and independence and the appropriateness
of our safeguards, for example when accepting an engagement to provide non-audit services.

We also provide information on any contingent fee arrangements, the amounts of any future
contracted services, and details of any written proposal to provide non-audit services.

We ensure that the total amount of fees that EY and our network firms have charged to you
and your affiliates for the provision of services during the reporting period are disclosed and
analysed in appropriate categories.

5.2 Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards
We highlight the following significant facts and matters that may be reasonably considered to
bear upon our objectivity and independence, including any principal threats. However we
have adopted the safeguards below to mitigate these threats along with the reasons why they
are considered to be effective.

Self-interest threats

A self-interest threat arises when EY has financial or other interests in your entity. Examples
include where we have an investment in your entity; where we receive significant fees in
respect of non-audit services; where we need to recover long outstanding fees; or where we
enter into a business relationship with the Council.

At the time of writing, there are no long outstanding fees.

57



Independence

EY ÷ 10

We believe that it is appropriate for us to undertake permissible non-audit services, and we
will comply with the policies that the Council has approved and that are in compliance with
PSAA Terms of Appointment.

At the time of writing, there are no non-audit fees.

A self-interest threat may also arise if members of our audit engagement team have
objectives or are rewarded in relation to sales of non-audit services to the Council. We
confirm that no member of our audit engagement team, including those from other service
lines, is in this position, in compliance with Ethical Standard 4.

There are no other self-interest threats at the date of this report.

Self-review threats

Self-review threats arise when the results of a non-audit service performed by EY or others
within the EY network are reflected in the amounts included or disclosed in the financial
statements.

There are no other self-review threats at the date of this report.

Management threats

Partners and employees of EY are prohibited from taking decisions on behalf of management
of your entity. Management threats may also arise during the provision of a non-audit service
where management is required to make judgements or decisions based on that work.

There are no management threats at the date of this report.

Other threats

Other threats, such as advocacy, familiarity or intimidation, may arise.

There are no other threats at the date of this report.

Overall Assessment

Overall we consider that the adopted safeguards appropriately mitigate the principal threats
identified, and we therefore confirm that EY is independent and the objectivity and
independence of Kevin Suter, the audit engagement Director and the audit engagement team
have not been compromised.

5.3 Other required communications
EY has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and
ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence and integrity are maintained.

Details of the key policies and processes within EY for maintaining objectivity and
independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report, which the firm is required to
publish by law. The most recent version of this report is for the year ended June 2016 and
can be found here:

http://www.ey.com/uk/en/about-us/ey-uk-transparency-report-2016

58



Fees

EY ÷ 11

Appendix A Fees

A breakdown of our agreed fee is shown below.

Planned Fee
2016/17

£

Scale fee
2016/17

£

Outturn fee
2015/16

£
Explanation

Opinion Audit and VFM
Conclusion

46,883* 44,537 47,678 Group accounts not
included in scale fee

Total Audit Fee – Code work 46,883 44,537 47,768

Certification of claims and
returns 1

15,465 15,465 11,210 Fee reduction for 2015/16,
subject to PSAA approval

All fees exclude VAT.

*The planned fee for 2016/17 is set above the scale fee, as the scale fee does not take into
account the Council’s group accounts.  This is subject to the PSAA’s approval.

The agreed fee presented above is based on the following assumptions:

► Officers meeting the agreed timetable of deliverables;

► The operating effectiveness of the internal controls for the key processes outlined in
section 4.2 above;

► Our accounts opinion and value for money conclusion being unqualified;

► Appropriate quality of documentation is provided by the Council; and

► The Council has an effective control environment.

If any of the above assumptions prove to be unfounded, we will seek a variation to the agreed
fee. This will be discussed with the Council in advance.

Fees for the auditor’s consideration of correspondence from the public and formal objections
will be charged in addition to the scale fee.

1 Our fee for the certification of grant claims is based on the indicative scale fee set by the PSAA.

59



UK required communications with those charged with governance

EY ÷ 12

Appendix B UK required communications with
those charged with governance

There are certain communications that we must provide to the Governance & Audit
Committee. These are detailed here:

Required communication Reference

Planning and audit approach
Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit including any limitations.

► Audit Plan

Significant findings from the audit
► Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices

including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement
disclosures

► Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit
► Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with

management
► Written representations that we are seeking
► Expected modifications to the audit report
► Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

► Report to those charged
with governance

Misstatements
► Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion
► The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods
► A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected
► In writing, corrected misstatements that are significant

► Report to those charged
with governance

Fraud
► Enquiries of the Governance & Audit Committee to determine whether they have

knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity
► Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates

that a fraud may exist
► A discussion of any other matters related to fraud

► Report to those charged
with governance

Related parties
Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related
parties including, when applicable:
► Non-disclosure by management
► Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions
► Disagreement over disclosures
► Non-compliance with laws and regulations
► Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity

► Report to those charged
with governance

External confirmations
► Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations
► Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures

► Report to those charged
with governance

Consideration of laws and regulations
► Audit findings regarding non-compliance where the non-compliance is material

and believed to be intentional. This communication is subject to compliance with
legislation on tipping off

► Enquiry of the Governance & Audit Committee into possible instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the
financial statements and that the Governance & Audit Committee may be aware
of

► Report to those charged
with governance

60



UK required communications with those charged with governance

EY ÷ 13

Required communication Reference

Independence
Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s objectivity and
independence
Communication of key elements of the audit engagement director’s consideration of
independence and objectivity such as:
► The principal threats
► Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness
► An overall assessment of threats and safeguards
► Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain

objectivity and independence

► Audit Plan
► Report to those charged

with governance

Going concern
Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, including:
► Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty
► Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the

preparation and presentation of the financial statements
► The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

► Report to those charged
with governance

Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit ► Report to those charged
with governance

Fee Information
► Breakdown of fee information at the agreement of the initial audit plan
► Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit

► Audit Plan
► Report to those charged

with governance
► Annual Audit Letter if

considered necessary

Group audits
► An overview of the type of work to be performed on the financial information of the

components
► An overview of the nature of the group audit team’s planned involvement in the

work to be performed by the component auditors on the financial information of
significant components

► Instances where the group audit team’s evaluation of the work of a component
auditor gave rise to a concern about the quality of that auditor’s work

► Any limitations on the group audit, for example, where the group engagement
team’s access to information may have been restricted

► Fraud or suspected fraud involving group management, component management,
employees who have significant roles in group-wide controls or others where the
fraud resulted in a material misstatement of the group financial statements

► Audit Plan

Certification work
► Summary of certification work undertaken

► Annual Report to those
charged with governance
summarising grant
certification

► Annual Audit Letter if
considered necessary

61



Detailed scopes

EY ÷ 14

Appendix C Detailed scopes

Our objective is to form an opinion on the group’s consolidated financial statements under
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We set audit scopes for each reporting unit which together enable us to form an opinion on
the group accounts. We take into account the size, risk profile, changes in the business
environment and other factors when assessing the level of work to be performed at each
reporting unit.

The preliminary audit scopes we have adopted to enable us to report on the group accounts
are set out below. Our audit approach is risk-based, and therefore the data below on
coverage of gross revenue expenditure and total assets is provided for your information only.

Group audit scope Location % of GRE

Specific Breckland Bridge Ltd 5%

► Specific scope: locations where only specific procedures are performed by the local
audit team, based upon procedures, accounts or assertions identified by the Group audit
team.

ISA 600 (UK and Ireland) requires that we provide you with an overview of the nature of our
planned involvement in the work to be performed by the component auditors of significant
locations/reporting units. Our involvement can be summarised as follows:

► We plan to rely on the work of the EY component team for Breckland Bridge Ltd.
Interoffice group instructions will be prepared to set out the scope of procedures required.

62



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

Ernst & Young LLP

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

ey.com

63



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Internal Audit Consortium Manager 

To: Audit Committee 24 February 2017

Author: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager

Subject: Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Purpose: This report examines progress made between 1 April 2016 and 10 February 
2017in relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17, 
and includes abbreviated executive summaries in respect of the audit reviews 
which have been finalised in the course of this period

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members note the outcomes of the eight audits completed by TIAA, in the period 
covered by this report, and the amendments to the 2016/17 internal audit plan.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Audit Committee receive updates on progress made against the annual internal audit 
plan. This report forms part of the overall reporting requirements to assist the Council in 
discharging its responsibilities in relation to the internal audit activity. 

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive (Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager) to report to the Audit Committee the performance of internal audit 
relative to its agreed plan, including any significant risk exposures and control issues. The 
frequency of reporting at Breckland is twice yearly. To comply with the above the report 
identifies:- 

o Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan;
o Progress made  in delivering the agreed audits for the year; 
o Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and
o Performance Indicator outcomes to date.

1.3 As Members are aware this report is usually brought in December, however due to a length 
of sickness only a verbal report was provided at that meeting. This report therefore includes 
that verbal update and brings the Committee up to date with current progress.

2.0 CURRENT PROGRESS

2.1 The current position and issues in relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan 2016/17 are shown within the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The Audit Committee are requested to receive and note the Progress Report on Internal 
Audit Activity.  In doing so, the Committee is ensuring that the Internal Audit Service 
remains compliant with professional auditing standards, and are fulfilling their terms of 
reference.

64

Agenda Item 12



4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Corporate Priorities

4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas reviewed and ensuring that they are 
working towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

4.2 Financial 

4.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan has been delivered within the approved budget for 2015/16.

4.3 Risk Management 

44.3.1 Internal Audit planning starts with the Council’s key risks, which then directs the audit plan 
for the financial year. Internal Audit reports then identify risks and control weaknesses 
within the Council which are highlighted in this report, with appropriate management action 
being agreed to mitigate these risks within agreed timeframes.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds Internal Audit Consortium Manager
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email:ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report:  Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

65



Page 1 of 33

Eastern Internal Audit Services

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Period Covered: 1 April 2016 to 10 February 2017

Responsible Officer: Emma Hodds – Internal Audit Consortium Manager (IACM)

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION ..............................................................................................................2

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN ....................2

3. PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK ..............................2

4. THE OUTCOMES ARISING FROM OUR WORK ............................................................3

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES.........................................................................................6

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK...................7

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES..............................................9

APPENDIX 3 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES..................................................................33

66



Page 2 of 33

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report is issued to assist the Authority in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the 
internal audit activity. 

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards also require the Chief Audit Executive (known in 
this context as the Internal Audit Consortium Manager) to report to the Audit Committee on 
the performance of internal audit relative to its plan, including any significant risk exposures 
and control issues. The frequency of reporting and the specific content are for the Authority 
to determine.

1.3 To comply with the above this report includes:- 

 Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan;
 Progress made  in delivering the agreed audits for the year;
 Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and
 Performance Indicator outcomes to date.

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

2.1 At the meeting on 19 February 2016, the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the year was 
approved, identifying the specific audits to be delivered, with the IT audit plan of work 
confirmed. 

2.2 The IT audits have been agreed with senior management and the (previous) Section 151 
Officer to cover Website Content Management and undertake an ISO Gap Analysis, thus 
utilising 20 of the available 30 days. 

The Website Content Management scope focused on the Strategy, policies & procedures, 
roles & responsibilities, change control, business continuity / resilience and performance 
management.

The ISO Gap Analysis review is a joint audit with South Holland DC; the ISO/IEC 
27001:2013 is an information security standard that was published by the International 
Organization for Standardization (ISO) and the International Electrotechnical Commission 
(IEC) under the joint ISO and IEC subcommittee, ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 27. It is a specification 
for an information security management system (ISMS). Organisations which meet the 
standard may be certified compliant and the Council wishes to meet these standards. The 
gap analysis will provided an understanding of the current compliance maturity of both 
Councils.

2.3 There has been one change to the internal audit plan whereby the joint risk management 
audit has been postponed to 2017/18 to enable the risk strategy to be reviewed and updated 
prior to the audit being undertaken. For the 2016/17 financial year the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager can take assurance from the work of the Performance, Risk and Audit 
Board and the review of the strategic risk register by this Committee. 

3. PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK

3.1 The current position in completing audits to date within the financial year is shown in 
Appendix 1 confirming that the agreed audit plan is now complete. 

As members are aware the main part of the plan of work is completed by TIAA Ltd, with 
West Suffolk Audit completing the Revenues and Benefits audit reviews through the ARP 
arrangements.

67



Page 3 of 33

3.2 In summary 93 days of programmed work has been completed by TIAA Ltd, and 25 days 
completed by West Suffolk Audit, totalling 118 days of the revised 176 days (71%). All 
remaining audits have been timetabled in with all work being completed by the end of March 
2017.

4. THE OUTCOMES ARISING FROM OUR WORK

4.1 On completion of each individual audit an assurance level is awarded using the definitions 
shown in the table below.

Substantial 
Assurance

Based upon the issues identified there is a robust series of suitably 
designed internal controls in place upon which the organisation relies to 
manage the risks to the continuous and effective achievement of the 
objectives of the process, and which at the time of our review were being 
consistently applied.

Reasonable 
Assurance

Based upon the issues identified there is a series of internal controls in 
place, however these could be strengthened to facilitate the organisation’s 
management of risks to the continuous and effective achievement of the 
objectives of the process. Improvements are required to enhance the 
controls to mitigate these risks.

Limited 
Assurance

Based upon the issues identified the controls in place are insufficient to 
ensure that the organisation can rely upon them to manage the risks to the 
continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. 
Significant improvements are required to improve the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the controls to mitigate these risks.

No Assurance Based upon the issues identified there is a fundamental breakdown or 
absence of core internal controls such that the organisation cannot rely 
upon them to manage risk to the continuous and effective achievement of 
the objectives of the process. Immediate action is required to improve the 
controls required to mitigate these risks. 

4.2 Recommendations made on completion of audit work are prioritised using the definitions 
shown in the table below.

Urgent Fundamental control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 
1 month.

Important Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 3 months.

Needs 
Attention

Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 6 months.

68



Page 4 of 33

4.3 On completion of audit work “Operational Effectiveness Matters” are proposed, these set out 
matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for service 
enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the 
delivery of value for money services. These are for management to consider and are not part 
of the follow up process.

4.4 During the period covered by the report Internal Audit Services (TIAA Ltd) have issued eight 
final reports and the Executive Summary of these reports are attached at Appendix 2. Full 
copies of these reports can be requested by Members from the Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager. 

4.5 As a result of these audits 32 recommendations have been raised; no priority one (urgent) 
18 priority two (important) and 14 priority three (needs attention). 

Of these 32, 31 have been agreed by management and one has been disagreed (see 
Website Content Management below) and nine Operational Effectiveness Matters have 
been proposed to management for consideration.

4.6 In summary the final reports issued conclude the following:

Strategic Housing – Reasonable Assurance

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Strategic 
Housing, in particular, following up on the recommendations made in the previous Affordable 
Housing report (BRK/15/04), to help confirm that these are operating adequately, effectively 
and efficiently.

The audit concluded with four important and one needs attention recommendations being 
agreed with management, all of which have been addressed and verified as complete.

Corporate Health and Safety - -Reasonable Assurance

This audit reviewed the systems and controls in place for Corporate Health and Safety 
(H&S) at both Breckland and South Holland District Councils. With specific regard to; 
designated responsible officers, roles & responsibilities of the H&S Group and respective 
joint committees, guidance available, inspections, and reporting of instances. 

The audit raised two important and one needs attention recommendations. The important 
recommendations relate to; reviewing outlying / residual premises to determine where H&S 
responsibility lies & to obtain evidence of H&S compliance and H&S inspections to be 
undertaken on all corporate premises & to document and report on the outcomes.

Branding – Reasonable Assurance

This joint audit focused on brand guidelines across Breckland and South Holland District 
Councils, in particular focusing on whether brands are fit for purpose, have been formally 
approved and are being correctly applied. 

The audit concluded with four needs attention recommendations (for Breckland DC) which 
were agreed with management, three of which have already been addressed.

Environmental Services, contaminated waste – Reasonable Assurance

The audit reviewed the measures taken by both the Council and NEWS to measure and reduce 
contaminated waste levels. 

69



Page 5 of 33

The audit concluded with two important and one needs attention recommendations being 
agreed with management. The important recommendations refer to; a Waste Collection 
Policy being developed that clearly sets out the Council's approach to managing resident's 
household waste in a safe and cost effective way, that encourages waste minimisation and 
recycling and requirements for minimising contaminated waste and developing a rolling 
action plan to address and reduce the levels of contaminated waste.

 Asset Management – Substantial Assurance

The audit covered; strategies, policies & procedures, acquisitions & disposals, lease 
renewals, rent, re-letting & rental arrears, maintenance & insurance, property valuation and 
asset reconciliation.

The audit raised no recommendations, thus concluding that the systems and processes of 
internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Substantial’ in managing the risks associated with 
Asset Management (Commercial Property). This demonstrates an improvement since the 
previous review in May 2015 which attained ‘reasonable’ assurance.

Payroll and Human Resources – Reasonable Assurance

The audit scope included a review of the controls in place for processing payroll as well as 
sickness absence monitoring, officer expenses and performance & appraisal process. 

The review concluded with two important recommendations being agreed with management, 
both of which have already been addressed. 

Licensing and Business Support – Reasonable Assurance

This joint audit with South Holland DC looked covered the following in respect of taxi 
licenses for drivers, vehicles and operators: policies & procedures, processing applications, 
complaints, appeals & revocations of licenses and recording & reconciliation of income. The 
audit also included an overview of online applications for alcohol licenses.

The audit concluded with one important and two needs attention recommendations being 
agreed with management, the important recommendation is for Breckland to undertake a 
review of the taxi licence fees and the review is planned for September 2017.

Website Content Management – Limited Assurance

This IT audit reviewed how the Council manages its website in terms of currency, usability, 
layout, content ownership & strategy and how legislative requirements are met, such as 
copyright and accessibility.

The audit raised seven important and five needs attention recommendations on conclusion 
of the review, with 11 of these agreed by management for implementation and one 
disagreed. 

The disagreed recommendation was to in relation to reviewing the current policy of allowing 
certain users to approve their own website content edits with a view to disabling the ability to 
'self-approve. Management response was: “Whilst we acknowledge the principle behind the 
recommendation, we have decided that the current structure will be maintained as it only 
applies in certain departments such as Communications. Hence, the risk is accepted in this 
case.” Internal Audit acknowledges the reason for this being the case in this department, but 
caution needs to maintained and that this option is not rolled out further, thus ensuring only 
appropriate content appears on the website. 

70



Page 6 of 33

Of the remaining six important recommendations, three have already been addressed by 
management. The remaining three requiring action are: (1) drafting, agreeing & 
communicating website content policy & procedure, (2) ensuring appropriate cookies 
warning are displayed on the website in line with legislation, and (3) roles & responsibilities 
for website content management to be formally documented.

4.7 Of the eight final reports, seven of these concluded in a positive opinion (substantial or 
reasonable), indicating a strong and stable control environment in these areas. 
Recommendations to improve the control environment for website content management 
have been agreed by management and progress will be monitored to decide whether 
inclusion as a risk in the annual opinion is necessary.

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES

5.1 The new Internal Audit Services contract includes a suite of key performance measures 
against which the new contractor will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. There are a total of 
13 indicators, over 4 areas. From the first year of the contract records will be maintained for 
all 13, however performance can only be recorded on 11 of these as base line data is 
required for the final 2. The performance measures can be seen at Appendix 3.

5.2 There are individual requirements for performance in relation to each measure; however 
performance will be assessed on an overall basis as follows (for the first year):

 9-11 KPIs have met target = Green Status.
 5-8 KPIs have met target = Amber Status.
 4 or below have met target = Red Status.

Where performance is amber or red a Performance Improvement Plan will be developed by 
the contractor and agreed with the Internal Audit Consortium Manager to ensure that 
appropriate action is taken.

5.3 The relevant quarterly reports have been provided to the Internal Audit Consortium Manager. 
The reports show that performance remains on track at the green status with targets having 
either been met or exceeded.

5.4 In addition to the quarterly reports from the Contractors Audit Director, ongoing weekly 
updates are provided to ensure that delivery of the audit plan for the current financial year is 
on track. 

71



Page 7 of 33

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK 

Audit Area Audit Ref No. of days Revised 
Days

Days 
Delivered

Status Assurance 
Level

Date to Committee

Urgent Important Needs 
Attention

Op

Quarter 1
Strategic Housing BRK1701 3 3 3 Final Report issued 16 August 2016 Reasonable 0 4 1 2 24 February 2017
Corporate Health and Safety BRK1702 3 3 3 Final Report issued 24 May 2016 Reasonable 0 2 1 1 24 February 2017
Branding BRK1703 3 3 3 Final Report issued 21 July 2016 Reasonable 0 0 4 1 24 February 2017
TOTAL 9 9 9
Quarter 2
Environmental Services - contaminated wasteBRK1704 6 6 6 Final Report issued 25 October 2016 Reasonable 0 2 1 1 24 February 2017

Asset Management BRK1706 10 10 10 Final Report issued 3 August 2016 Substantial 0 0 0 1 24 February 2017
TOTAL 16 16 16
Quarter 3
Cross Authority Review - Accounts ReceivableBRK1705 6 6 6 Draft Report issued 20 January 2017

Payroll and Human Resources BRK1707 17 17 17 Final Report issued 3 February 2017 Reasonable 0 2 0 0 24 February 2017
Licensing and Business Support BRK1709 5 5 5 Final Report issued 7 February 2017 Reasonable 0 1 2 2 24 February 2017
TOTAL 28 28 28
Quarter 4
LABVI BRK1708 10 10 9 Draft report issued 6 February 2017
Corporate Governance BRK1710 4 4 1 Audit to start 28 February 2017
Risk Management BRK1711 3 0 0 Postponed to 2017/18
Key Controls and Assurance BRK1712 10 10 1 Audit to start 20 February 2017
Accounts Payable BRK1713 12 12 1 Audit to start 27 February 2017
Housing Needs, Allocation, Homelessness, 
Housing Register and PSH

BRK1714 10 10 1 Audit to start 6 March 2017 

Transformation Programme - benefits 
realisations

BRK1715 6 6 1 Audit to start 14 February 2017

Procurement and Contract Management BRK1716 4 4 2 Audit to start 6 February 2017
TOTAL 59 56 16

Recommendations

72



Page 8 of 33

Audit Area Audit Ref No. of days Revised 
Days

Days 
Delivered

Status Assurance 
Level

Date to Committee

Urgent Important Needs 
Attention

Op

IT Audits
To be confirmed TBC 30 0 0
ISO27001:2013 Gap Analysis  BRK1717 0 10 5 Audit underway
Website Content Management BRK1720 0 10 10 Final Report issued 20 May 2016 Limited 0 7 5 1 24 February 2017

TOTAL 30 20 15
Follow Up
Follow Up NA 12 12 9
TOTAL 12 12 9

TOTAL 154 141 93 0 18 14 9

Percentage of plan completed 66%

Audit delivered by West Suffolk Internal Audit Services
Council Tax tbc 11 11 8
National Non-Domestic Rates tbc 11 11 8
Benefits tbc 13 13 9

35 35 25

71%

OVERALL TOTAL 189 176 118

67%

Recommendations

73



Page 9 of 33

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES

Assurance Review of Strategic Housing

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Policy and Procedures - 
Affordable Housing Policy

0 *0 0 0

Record of Shared Equity 
Schemes 0 1 0 0

Processing Applications, 
Decision Making 0 3 1 0

Delegations and Spot 
Checking

0 0 0 2

Total 0 4 1 2

*Relates to recommendation that is still outstanding from BRK/15/04.

SCOPE

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Strategic Housing, as detailed in the action points above, to help confirm that these are 
operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

74



Page 10 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’ in managing the risks associated with Remittances. The assurance 
opinion has been derived as a result of four ‘important’ and one ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The audit has also raised two ‘operational effectiveness matters’, which set out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings 

Approval and arrangements 

 Recommendation 4 – High (‘Urgent’) priority – from the previous report referred to the need to update guidelines for assessing eligibility for affordable 
housing, in particular, shared equity schemes. It was to include details of how borderline cases are to be resolved and any other additional issues that 
may be considered in the decision making process and to be endorsed by management and/or committee, in accordance with the Council’s levels of 
delegated authority.  

 This was confirmed as implemented with updates to procedures including reference to a ‘think zone’ which relates to borderline cases and a steer for 
actions to be considered by the assessing officer in such cases. Evidence of endorsement, under delegated decisions, was also confirmed. Under the 
Council’s Constitution responsibility is delegated to the Executive Director (of Commercialisation in this instance), who, on 21st January 2016, 
delegated responsibilities further to specific named officers in both Housing and Planning for decision making on shared equity schemes.      

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following area where four ‘Important’ recommendations have been made:

Record of Shared Equity Schemes

 There is a need for a consolidated record of all the Council’s shared equity schemes and a centralised approach to retaining supporting case records, 
including; application forms, assessment records and supporting documentary evidence, so as to reduce the risk of data being misplaced and or the 
Council losing track of all its current schemes.  

Processing applications, decision making

 The 28 day requirement to process shared equity applications to be included in written guidance, with actual performance against this requirement 
subject to monitoring by management, so as to reduce the risk of deadlines not being met causing reputational damage to the Council.

 The officer making the appeal decision should not be the same officer assessing and deciding on the original application. This is to reduce the risk of 
claims from the applicant of unfairness and impartiality. It also reduces the risk of the incorrect outcome of the appeal.  

75



Page 11 of 33

 Assessment spreadsheets to be completed for each shared equity application, thereby reducing the risk of areas being overlooked or being 
processed incorrectly.

The audit has highlighted the following area where one ‘needs attention’ recommendation has been made:

 Details of the officer assessing a shared equity application be clearly stated on the assessment spreadsheet along with a summary of the reasons for 
rejecting an application, where applicable, so as to reduce the risk of  uncertainty or confusion over who processed the application and why it was 
rejected, if appealed or if independently reviewed.

Operational Effectiveness Matters 

Delegations and Spot Checking

The operational effectiveness matters, for management to consider, relate to management to consider spot checking samples of approved and rejected 
applications for shared equity schemes to confirm they have been correctly assessed and to amend the levels of delegated authority for assessing and 
approving shared equity applications to align with the change in directorate from April 2016.   

Outstanding Recommendations

Policy and Procedures – Affordable Housing Policy

 Recommendation 1 – Medium (‘important’) priority in the previous report relates to the completion of an Affordable Housing Policy. This is still to be 
implemented. The Council is still developing its Local Plan in accordance with national requirements/timescales which is not scheduled to be 
completed until late summer 2017. This needs completing / adopting in order to inform the Affordable Housing Policy; effectively the Affordable 
Housing Policy is the vehicle for implementing aspects of affordable housing initiatives within the Local Plan. In view of the aforementioned, it was 
agreed with the Strategic Housing Manager to set a revised implementation date of 30th September 2017 with which to follow up on progressing the 
implementation of this recommendation through internal audits cyclical follow up checks. 

76



Page 12 of 33

Assurance Review of Corporate Health and Safety

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Health and Safety Group and 
Joint Committees

0 0 1 1

Programmed Inspections 0 2* 0 0

Inspection Outcomes 0 0* 0 0

Total 0 2 1 1

*Applies to both areas. 

No recommendations have been raised in respect of Corporate Responsibilities, 
Written Guidance, Management System and Incident Reporting.  

SCOPE

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Corporate Health and Safety, as detailed in the action points above, to help confirm that these 
are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

77



Page 13 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’’ in managing the risks associated with Remittances. The assurance 
opinion has been derived as a result of two ‘important’ and one ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The audit has also raised one ‘operational effectiveness matter’, which set out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings 

We found that the Council has demonstrated the following points of good practice as identified in this review and we will be sharing details of these 
operational provisions with other member authorities in the Consortium:

 Breckland and South Holland have procured a Health and Safety Management system (Vision Communications System) which is being rolled out 
across both Councils with separate modules for each Council.  The intention is to make individual managers responsible for health and safety 
management within their areas of responsibility, overseen by the Health and Safety Advisor and the Executive Manager - Public Protection. 

 The new system will allow all locations/corporate offices to be set up, accessible through drop down menus with designated managers assigned to 
specific tasks including health and safety risk assessments, with progress of those assessments being monitored by the Health and Safety Advisor 
and the Executive Manager - Public Protection. There is also the facility to store policy and procedural guidance, training records/material and 
reporting of incidents as well as providing management reports on health and safety activity.   

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 Responsibility for corporate health and safety is assigned to the Executive Manager - Public Protection, supported by the Health and Safety Advisor. 
Individual managers will be assigned day to day responsibility for their areas as the new health and safety management system is rolled out.

 Policies and procedures exist covering health and safety which are accessible to staff and members via the respective Council intranets. Copies will 
also be available via the new health and safety management system when fully operational. 

 Incidents/accidents are reported to the respective health and safety sub committees and to the Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety Group 
(JSCHSG).  

78



Page 14 of 33

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following areas where two ‘important’ recommendations have been made:

Programmed Inspections Health and Safety

 A review is required of all outlying Breckland and South Holland Council owned premises to determine where responsibility for health and safety lay 
and then to obtain the requisite evidence that health and safety compliance is being maintained. This is to prevent the risk of non compliances being 
overlooked and legal action being taken against the Council in the event of injury to staff or members of the public. 

 Health and safety inspections to be undertaken of all corporate premises as a matter of priority and be formally documented with outcomes reported 
to and monitored by, the respective health and safety sub committees, the JSCHSG and EMT so as to reduce the risk of injury to staff, members and 
stakeholders of the Council and the risk of legal proceedings including imprisonment and fines for Council staff, regardless of rank or position.

The audit has highlighted the following area where one ‘needs attention’ recommendation has been made:

Health and Safety Group and Joint Committees

 Terms of reference for the respective health and safety sub-committees require updating to remove reference that an annual work plan is to be 
agreed at the first meeting (of each joint committee) in each municipal year with the terms of reference for the JSCHSG to also be updated to refer to 
the annual work plan being reported to and progress monitored by EMT. This will help reduce the risk of any confusion with the process and or 
inconsistent practices developing.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

Health and Safety Group and Joint Committees

The operational effectiveness matter, for management to consider, relates to the need to improve clarity by aligning meeting minute titles with the respective 
health and safety committees for Breckland and South Holland.  

79



Page 15 of 33

Assurance Review of Branding

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Strategies, policies and 
procedures

0 0 4 0

Branding and criteria 0 0 1 1

Total 0 0 5 1

 

SCOPE
The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Branding across Breckland and South Holland District Councils to help confirm that these are 
operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

80



Page 16 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’ in managing the risks associated with Branding. The assurance opinion 
has been derived as a result of five ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The audit has also raised one ‘operational effectiveness matter’, which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings

 Both Breckland Council and South Holland District Council have documented ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’, which are available to staff via the intranet.

 Breckland Council also has documented ‘Social Media Guidance’, which is available to staff via the intranet.

 A review of a randomly selected sample of publications for South Holland District Council confirmed that the Council logo had been used correctly in all 
instances.

 Breckland Council has recently updated its logo. Evidence exists confirming that Council employees have been sent regular reminders to ensure that the 
updated logo is used.

 Breckland Council officers working with external partners and stakeholders have been requested to ensure they use the updated logo. Evidence was also 
available to show that third parties had been advised of the need to use the updated logo for Breckland Council, where it was identified that the old version 
was being used.

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following areas whereby controls would benefit from being strengthened, and as a result of these findings five ‘needs attention’ 
recommendations have been made.

Strategies, policies and procedures

 The ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ for Breckland Council and South Holland District Council would be enhanced by the inclusion of more specific 
guidance on use of the Council logo in relation to partnerships, contractors and providers of goods and services to the Council, signage, vehicle 
liveries, stationery and advertising, in order to reduce the risk of legal action against the Council if the incorrect branding is used.

 Publication of the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ on the respective Council websites, would provide guidance to third parties, and would help to 
reduce the risk that the logo is incorrectly used, reinforcing the message of a strong identity for the Council to its residents and stakeholders.

 The inclusion of a statement that copying and use of the Council logo is not permitted without prior approval from the respective Communications 
Teams in the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ and/or on the Council websites, would help reduce the risk of the Council logos being used 
inappropriately. 

81



Page 17 of 33

 The production of formal social media guidance for South Holland District Council employees (potentially via the Communication Strategy) would help 
mitigate the risk that social media is used by employees in a way that could damage the Council’s brand and reputation.

Branding and Criteria

 There is a need to update the standard documents available to the public so that they include the current Breckland Council logo. The sign at the 
entrance to Breckland’s Council’s main premises (Elizabeth House) also requires updating to display the correct version of the Council’s logo. 
Ensuring that the correct version of the logo is used reduces the risk that an incoherent message is sent to the Council’s residents and stakeholders.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

The operational effectiveness matter, for management to consider, relates to the inclusion of brief reference to the role of the Communications Team during 
staff induction.

Other Issues

It was noted that the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ for Breckland Council were updated during 2016 and reflect current practice. Although no 
recommendation is deemed necessary, the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ for Breckland Council should state the year of publication, and be tracked to 
confirm that they are reviewed on a timely basis.

82



Page 18 of 33

Assurance Review of Environmental Services - Contaminated Waste

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Strategies, policies and 
procedures

0 1 0 1

Measures taken to reduce 
contaminated waste levels   

0 1 1 0

Total 0 2 1 1

SCOPE
The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Environmental Services – Contaminated Waste, as detailed in the action points above, to help 
confirm that these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

83



Page 19 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’ in managing the risks associated with Environmental Services - 
Contaminated Waste. The assurance opinion has been derived as a result of two ‘important’ and one ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised 
upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The audit has also raised one ‘operational effectiveness matter’, which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following areas whereby controls would benefit from being strengthened, and as a result of these findings two ‘important’ 
recommendations have been made.

Strategies, policies and procedures

 A Waste Collection Policy to be produced and be formally adopted that clearly sets out the Council's approach to managing resident's household 
waste and to include the responsibilities of the Council, its waste collection contractor (Serco), and residents, with regard to recycling and reducing 
contaminated waste. Where policy is not documented, it increases the lack of awareness of the Council’s expectations, thereby increasing the risk of 
continued higher than desired/expected levels of contaminated waste through its recycling collections and increased costs for the disposal of 
contaminated waste as per the terms of the current contract with Norse Environmental Waste Services (NEWS).

Measures taken to reduce contaminated waste levels

 Using the NEWS intensive audit outcomes as a starting point, the Council to develop and implement a formal rolling action plan to help reduce the 
level of contaminated waste to the threshold level included in the contract (with NEWS) for the disposal of such waste. The action plan to include 
targeted actions to be taken in locations highlighted in the intensive audits, with actions being assigned to a responsible officer(s) with target dates for 
completion. This is to help reduce the risk that additional costs will be incurred under the waste management contract with NEWS.

The audit has highlighted has also highlighted the following area where one ‘needs attention’ recommendation has been made.

Measures taken to reduce contaminated waste levels

 The Council to conclude the renegotiation of the contaminated waste threshold level included in the contract in order to help reduce the risk of 
additional costs continuing to be incurred by the Council, despite efforts being made to reduce contaminated waste in the areas of the district where 
levels are at the highest.  

84



Page 20 of 33

Operational Effectiveness Matters

The operational effectiveness matter, for management to consider relates to the presentation of a report to Cabinet for member discussion and agreement, 
outlining the strategic options available to the Council to reduce the quantities of contaminated waste within its recycling collections. This could help to inform 
the development of a Waste Collection Policy (as per recommendation 1). 

85



Page 21 of 33

Assurance Review of Asset Management (Commercial Property)

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Strategies, policies and 
procedures

0 0 0 1

Acquisitions and disposals 0 0 0 0

Lease renewals, rent, re-
letting, and rental arrears

0 0 0 0

Maintenance and insurance 0 0 0 0

Property valuation 0 0 0 0

Asset Reconciliation 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 1

SCOPE
The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Asset Management (Commercial Property) to help confirm that these are operating 
adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

86



Page 22 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Substantial’ in managing the risks associated with Asset Management (Commercial 
Property). The assurance opinion has been derived from no recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. This demonstrates an 
improvement since the previous review in May 2015 which attained ‘Adequate’ assurance. 

 The audit has raised one ‘operational effectiveness matter’, which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for 
service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings 

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 Authorised documentation was held to support both the acquisition and disposal of commercial properties.

 System controls are in place to promptly action lease renewals with renewals clearly documented. Rent reviews are promptly actioned and formally 
documented.

 Controls exist to promptly re-let vacant commercial properties. As at 1st July 2016, the Commercial Property Occupancy Rate was reported as being 
98% (against a target of 90%).

 Deposits are collected for new lettings and are promptly and correctly returned once the property has been vacated.

 Lease Termination Inspections are completed, with a corresponding Schedule of Dilapidations prepared and with any repair costs deducted from 
tenant’s deposits.

 Procedures are in place for the recovery of arrears relating to commercial properties, which are being consistently applied.

 Properties are revalued and insured. 

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has not highlighted any areas whereby controls would benefit from being strengthened. 

Operational Effectiveness Matters

The operational effectiveness matter for management to consider, relates to moving to a paperless system for retaining commercial property documentation.

Previous audit recommendations 

The previous audit report included one recommendation that remained outstanding. The recommendation was for a Service Delivery and Surplus Asset 
Management Plan and an Investment Asset Management Plan, to be prepared.

87



Page 23 of 33

This recommendation was discussed with the Strategic Property Manager and a revised deadline date agreed of 31st March 2017 on the basis that the 
Council has begun a review of commercial property yields, and is also looking to refine the allocation of costs to commercial properties. These projects will 
inform potential property disposals, and the Investment Asset Management Plan. The Service Delivery and Surplus Asset Management Plan will be produced 
once the Investment Asset Management Plan has been completed.

88



Page 24 of 33

Assurance Review of Payroll and Human Resources

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Officers’ expenses 0 2 0 0

Total 0 2 0 0

*No recommendations have been raised in respect of Payroll in particular legislative 
requirements, starters and leavers, changes to payroll records, pension contributions, 
reconciliations and payroll processing. In addition, no recommendations have been 
raised for sickness absence monitoring and performance and appraisals, in respect of 
Human Resources. 

SCOPE
The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Payroll and Human Resources, as detailed in the action points above, to help confirm that 
these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

89



Page 25 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’ in managing the risks associated with Payroll and Human Resources. 
The assurance opinion has been derived as a result of two ‘important’ recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings

 Starters, leavers and changes had been processed promptly and accurately.

 Third party payments (childcare vouchers and deductions under the Cycle Scheme) had been processed accurately.

 Pension contributions had been correctly calculated and deducted from the payroll.

 Establishment changes had been subject to approval by senior staff, with justification recorded.

 Payroll exception reports had been run and reviewed.

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following areas whereby controls would benefit from being strengthened, and as a result of these findings two ‘important’ 
recommendations have been made.

Officers’ expenses

 Officers to submit VAT receipts with their expense claims for fuel purchases. This is to reduce the risk of the Council not complying with HM Revenue 
and Customs requirements and the risk of financial loss to the Council where VAT cannot be reclaimed without the requisite evidence.  

 Officers to submit invoices with their expense claims in support of items such as hotels, lunches and dinners. This is to reduce the risk of fraudulent 
claims being submitted and the risk of financial loss to the Council where payments are made for expenses that are not valid.  

Other Issues

On 1st November 2016 the Council requested that officers provide driving documentation (driving licence, insurance certificate and MOT certificate) within 10 
working days, in order to confirm that valid documentation is held by officers that use their vehicle for official Council business. Sample testing through the 
audit has highlighted that as at 30th November 2016, documentation had been received for six out of ten staff reviewed. As the Council is actively chasing for 
the outstanding documentation for the remaining four cases, a recommendation is not considered necessary. 

The Council is in the process of reviewing all its HR policies and procedures which coincides with a similar review at South Holland District Council. The 
review is scheduled to be completed by April 2017.  

90



Page 26 of 33

Follow up on previous recommendations

The previous audit of Payroll and HR (BRK/15/11) was completed in March 2015 with a ‘limited’ assurance as a result of one high and three medium priority 
recommendations being raised. All four recommendations have been confirmed as implemented through internal audit’s cyclical follow up checks.

91



Page 27 of 33

Assurance Review of Licensing and Business Support

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Policies and procedures (for 
issuing taxi licences)

0 0 1 0

Processing applications (new 
and renewals)

0 0 0 2

Complaints, appeals and 
revocations of licences

0 0 1 0

Recording and reconciliation 
of income (including fees)

0 1 0 0

Total 0 1 2 2

* No recommendations have been raised in respect of on line applications for alcohol 
licenses. 

SCOPE
The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Licensing and Business Support, as detailed in the action points above, to help confirm that 
these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

92



Page 28 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’ in managing the risks associated with Licensing and Business Support. 
The assurance opinion has been derived as a result of one ‘important’ recommendation and two ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised upon the 
conclusion of our work.

 The audit has also raised two ‘operational effectiveness matters’, which set out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings 

We found that Breckland and South Holland have demonstrated the following point of good practice as identified in this review and we will be sharing details 
of these operational provisions with other member authorities in the Consortium:

 Both Councils have introduced an online application facility for certain licences (mainly Licensing Act 2003 at present), which allows users to apply for 
licences both during and outside of office opening times. Breckland has already received positive feedback citing the flexibility this offers.

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 Taxi licences had been processed promptly by both Councils, with supporting documentation held on the licensing system (LalPac).

 Continuous audits of the completeness of documentation held on LalPac are completed by both Councils.

 Action has been taken by both Councils in readiness for the changes to the licensing regime resulting from the Immigration Act, which came into force 
on 1st December 2016.

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following areas whereby controls would benefit from being strengthened, and as a result of these findings one ‘important’ 
recommendation has been made.

Recording and reconciliation of income (including fees)

 Taxi licence fees for both Councils to be reviewed in order to reduce the risk that fees are not set an appropriate level to meet the costs of the service 
thereby resulting in financial loss to the respective Councils.

The audit has also highlighted the following areas where two ‘needs attention’ recommendations have been made.

Policies and procedures (for issuing taxi licenses)

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing procedures for both Councils to be updated, and to include accurate licence periods, and for Breckland 
Council, to also include reference to five yearly medical checks from age 45. This is to reduce the risk that processes are not completed in a correct 
and consistent manner.

93



Page 29 of 33

Complaints, appeals and revocations of licences

 Documented procedures for complaint handling to be produced. This is to reduce the risk of complaints not being resolved in a prompt and consistent 
manner.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

The operational effectiveness matters, for management to consider, relate to reviewing the narrative included in LalPac for taxi licence fees for pay.net 
transactions in order to improve the audit trail over each transaction, and the appointment of a Deputy Systems Administrator for the licensing system 
(LalPac) to provide cover for staff absences.

94



Page 30 of 33

Assurance Review of Website Content Management

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Policies and Procedures 0 4 2 0

Roles and Responsibilities 0 1 1 0

Change Control 0 0 2 0

Business 
Continuity/Resilience

0 2 0 0

Performance Management 0 0 0 1

Total 0 7 5 1

SCOPE
The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Website Content Management, as detailed in the action points above, to help confirm that 
these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

95



Page 31 of 33

RATIONALE 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Limited’ in managing the risks associated with the management of the Council’s 
website. The assurance opinion has been derived as a result of seven ‘important’ recommendations and five ‘needs attention’ recommendations being 
raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The audit has also raised one ‘operational effectiveness matter’, which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings 

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 The Council has documented an overall Digital Transformation Strategy that incorporates the Council’s website;

 The website uses a consistent page template that is aligned to corporate branding requirements;

 The updated website was found to be easily accessible, is mobile compatible and incorporates a menu structure allowing users of the site to navigate 
easily to the content that they require.

 Relevant staff with responsibilities for editing and approving website content have received training to coincide with the recent upgrade of the website 
infrastructure;

 The Goss ICM website infrastructure incorporates audit trail functionality that can be queried on demand.  In addition, each content edit includes 
summary history setting out the steps taken to create the changes;

 The website is hosted externally by Goss and is covered by relevant support contracts.

Issues to be addressed

The audit has highlighted the following areas where seven ‘important’ recommendations have been made.

Policies and Procedures

 Website management policies and procedures to be formally documented, agreed and communicated to help prevent inconsistencies when 
managing the website and its content;

 Management to review the current policy of allowing certain users to edit and approve their own content to help mitigate the risk of inappropriate 
content being published inadvertently;

 All users to be required to change their Goss passwords on a regular basis to help mitigate the risk of unauthorised access into the website’s 
administration features;

96



Page 32 of 33

 Relevant cookie warnings to be configured into the website to mitigate the risk of non-compliance with relevant EU law;

Roles and Responsibilities

 Website roles and responsibilities to be formally documented, agreed and communicated to all relevant staff.  All staff to be required to sign off their 
agreement to comply with said roles and responsibilities to help mitigate the risk of a lack of accountability and ownership of website content;

Business Continuity

 Management to work with Goss to understand the reasons for not securing the website management internet link and to implement remedial actions 
where it is considered appropriate to do so to help mitigate the risk of inappropriate access to the website’s administration features.  

 Management to implement an appropriate Disaster Recovery solution that provides the ability to continue accessing the Goss application during an 
incident where primary Council systems are not available to help mitigate the risk of customers not being kept informed of an incident that could affect 
services that they consume.

The audit has also highlighted the following areas where five ‘needs attention’ recommendations have been made.

Policies and Procedures

 A review of all administrator and power user accounts to be conducted with a view to reducing the number of such accounts wherever possible.  This 
is to help mitigate the risk of unauthorised activity.

 Management to conduct a review of the existing cookie policy that has been published on the Council's website in order to ensure that it remains 
relevant to the Council's current requirements and that it is complete.  This is to help mitigate the risk of reputational damage and inadequate 
compliance with relevant EU law.

Roles and Responsibilities

 Management to implement a process whereby the SortSite scans and related reports are run on a regular basis and communicated to all relevant 
web editor staff to help mitigate the risk of website content being inaccurate or faulty.

Change Control

 Management to review all of the available housekeeping tasks, for example, the "StaleArticleCheck" task, and enable (schedule) all those that are 
considered to add value to the management of the website to help mitigate the risk of out of date or otherwise irrelevant content remaining on the 
website.

 Management to update the website templates to include the date when the content on the pages being viewed was last updated.  This is to mitigate 
the risk that relevant content may be thought to be outdates by customers.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

The operational effectiveness matters, for management to consider relate to need to ensure that all relevant performance indicators in Covalent that relate to 
website activity be updated in a timely manner.

97



Page 33 of 33

APPENDIX 3 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Area / Indicator Target
Audit Committee / Senior Management

1. Audit Committee Satisfaction – measured 
annually

2. Chief Finance Officer Satisfaction – 
measured quarterly

Adequate

Good

Internal Audit Process
3. Each quarters audits completed to draft 

report within 10 working days of the end 
of the quarter

4. Quarterly assurance reports to the 
Contract Manager within 15 working days 
of the end of each quarter

5. An audit file supporting each review and 
showing clear evidence of quality control 
review shall be completed prior to the 
issue of the draft report ( a sample of 
these will be subject to quality review by 
the Contract Manager)

6. Compliance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards

7. Respond to the Contract Manager within 
3 working days where unsatisfactory 
feedback has been received.

100%

100%

100%

Full

100%

Clients
8. Average feedback score received from 

key clients (auditees)
9. Percentage of recommendations 

accepted by management

Adequate

90%

Innovations and Capabilities
10. Percentage of qualified (including 

experienced) staff working on the 
contract each quarter

11. Number of training hours per member of 
staff completed per quarter

12. Number of high and medium priority 
recommendations made per quarter

13. Number of audits which are considered 
to add value 

60%

1 day

To decrease over the life of the contract (from 
year 2)
To increase over the life of the contact (from 
year 2)

98



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Internal Audit Consortium Manager 

To: Audit Committee 24 February 2017

Author: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager

Subject: Follow Up Report on Internal Audit Recommendations

Purpose: This report provides members with the position on the progress made by 
management in implementing agreed Internal Audit recommendations as at 1 
February 2017.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members note the contents of the report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Audit Committee receive updates on management’s implementation of agreed audit 
recommendations. This report forms part of the overall reporting requirements to assist the 
Council in discharging the responsibilities in relation to its Internal Audit Service.

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive (Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager) to establish a process to monitor and follow up management actions 
to ensure that they have been effectively implemented or that senior management have 
accepted the risk of not taking action. The frequency of reporting at Breckland District 
Council is twice yearly.

1.3 To comply with the above this report includes the status of agreed actions.

2.0 CURRENT PROGRESS

2.1 The Audit Committee are asked to receive and note the year end position in relation to the 
completion of agreed audit recommendations.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The Audit Committee are requested to receive and note the Follow Up Report on the 
implementation of Internal Audit recommendations.  In doing so, the Committee is ensuring 
that it is kept up to date and informed as to the extent to which management has 
progressed Internal Audit recommendations as at 1 February 2017.

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Corporate Priorities

4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas reviewed are working towards the 
efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

4.2 Risk Management 

99

Agenda Item 13



4.2.1 Failure to implement or improve internal controls may lead to the risks associated with 
those controls materialising.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds Internal Audit Consortium Manager
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report:  Follow Up Report on Internal Audit Recommendations

100



Audit Reference Audit Area Main Contact Recommendations Priority Status Description Original Date 
Due for 
Completion

Revised Date 
Due for 
Completion

Notes for Changing Date Latest Note

BRK1502 Democratic Services Democratic Services and Legal (Monitoring 
Officer)

The Council's Vexatious or Repeated Complaints 
policy and the Habitual or Vexatious 
complainants/correspondents guidance note 
should be reviewed annually and where 
necessary, updated to reflect current practices 
and processes.

Medium Outstanding (Extension Agreed) 31‐Dec‐14 01‐May‐17 Current policy and guidance is currently being 
reviewed, as part of a joint project with SHDC. 
Revised documentation will be available by end 
of August 2016. Current information on the 
Council's website. Review still not completed 
report scheduled to be agreed by EMT 
October/Nov 2016

Colin Saville 10‐Feb‐2017 Update provided by 
Rory 09/02/17 to explain reason why revised 
deadline not reached. Revised deadline now 
agreed.

BRK1502 Democratic Services Democratic Services and Legal (Monitoring 
Officer)

The Council's Publication Scheme should be 
reviewed to confirm it is reflective of current 
information available to the public. Furthermore, 
a copy of the Publication Scheme should be 
accessible to the public via the Council's website.

Medium Outstanding (Extension Agreed) 31‐Dec‐14 01‐May‐17 Public Scheme currently being reviewed, as part 
of a joint project with SHDC. Revised scheme will 
be available by end of August 2016. Current 
scheme is available on the website. Hopefully will 
be signed off by EMT Oct/Nov 16

Colin Saville 10‐Feb‐2017 Update provided by 
Rory 09/02/17 to explain reason why revised 
deadline not reached. Revised deadline now 
agreed.

BRK1503 Community Development & Health Communities Manager The process for assessing Right to Challenge 
applications should be ascertained, formally 
documented and made available to staff and the 
public via the Council's website. This should 
include, but not be limited to: ‐ Processes to 
allow for a consistent and fair method of decision 
making; ‐ The need to identify assets/liabilities in 
place (e.g. contracts, suppliers) and understand 
the impact of Right to Challenge; ‐ Establishing a 
forum for decision making, to be comprised of 
trained and, where possible, independent 
officers; and ‐ strategy for aiding groups in the 
development and monitoring of services.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 27‐Feb‐15 28‐Feb‐17 Incorrect officer listed ‐ follow up in April 
highlighted that the responsible officer is Steve 
James. Deadline therefore extended to 31 May 
20216

Colin Saville 28‐Oct‐2016 Agree to extend 
implementation date till end of Feb 2017 
although would expect this to be implemented 
by then.

BRK1504 Affordable Housing Strategic Housing Manager Policy Update ‐ The Affordable Housing Policy 
should be reviewed and updated to include 
changes to Affordable Housing schemes as well 
as other updates required as a result of local 
planning review.

Medium Outstanding (No Extension Agreed) 30‐Jun‐15 30‐Sep‐16 This is a matter for Phil Mileham. A revised 
Affordable Housing policy is incorporated in the 
new Local Plan but at this time it holds no 
significant weight in decision making.
The Plan is expected to be adopted in the Late 
summer or Autumn of 2017.

Colin Saville 10‐Feb‐2017 Based on the most 
recent notes provided by Mike Brennan, we 
would be agreeable to extending the 
implementation date although would need a 
specific date as opposed to reference to 'later 
summer/autumn 2017'. 

CS ‐ Still requires a revised date in order to 
approve extension. Notified Riana on 07/02/17 
to add this.

BRK1512 Strategic Property Strategic Property Manager Profitability of Portfolio ‐ A process for evaluating 
the portfolio on an individual basis including 
income and cost, and future short and long term 
investments needed be prepared.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 30‐Apr‐16 31‐Mar‐17 This was not completed in 15/16 due to the fact 
that the change in approach to particularly the 
investment asset base. Now through a 
commercialisation of investments assets project 
a new asset management plan for that group of 
assets which will include a disposal and 
acquisition strategy will result ‐ which will be one 
of the two documents that this rec was trying to 
achieve. This will be completed in 16/17 in line 
with BAUDSCP001B

Colin Saville 02‐Feb‐2017 Extension agreed till 
31/03/17 as per explanation provided by 
Strategic Property Manager in the audit section.

BRK1512 Strategic Property Strategic Property Manager Strategic documents and procedures ‐ The 
Breckland Council Service Delivery and Surplus 
Asset Management Plan and the Breckland 
Council Investment Asset Management Plan 
should be prepared and as part of this work 
consideration given to the need for local 
procedures on the day to day running of the 
Asset Management department.

Low Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Mar‐16 31‐Mar‐17 This was not completed in 15/16 due to the fact 
that the change in approach to particularly the 
investment asset base. Now through a 
commercialisation of investment assets project a 
new asset management plan for that group of 
assets which will include a disposal and 
acquisition strategy will result which will be one 
of the two documents that this rec was trying to 
achieve. This will be completed in 2016/17.

Colin Saville 02‐Feb‐2017 Update 02/02/17 ‐ 
Extension agreed till 31/03/17 as per explanation 
provided by Strategic Property Manager in the 
audit section. Covalent updated.

101



Audit Reference Audit Area Main Contact Recommendations Priority Status Description Original Date 
Due for 
Completion

Revised Date 
Due for 
Completion

Notes for Changing Date Latest Note

BRK1604 Planning Operations and Contract Manager (Planning 
Services) and Breckland Place Manager

A new suite of performance reports be provided 
by Capita on conclusion of discussions with the 
software provider Ocella to ensure Discharge of 
Planning Conditions is adequately monitored. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Dec‐15 01‐Jun‐17 Capita has now provided the Council with a new 
suite of Performance indicators and these have 
been agreed and are being reported on. Whilst 
we have been pursuing quotes from Ocella for 
the cost of such provision this matter is being 
held in abeyance due to a complete review of 
the Council's IT.

Riana Rudland 06‐Feb‐2017 Cannot complete 
this action at present without knowing what the 
future is for Ocella ‐ i.e. further investment or 
change of system.

BRK1604 Planning Operations and Contract Manager (Planning 
Services) and Breckland Place Manager

Detailed written procedure be put in place by 
Capita stating how the Deemed Discharge of 
Planning Conditions will be monitored to ensure 
the Council is protected from financial and 
reputational risks of any breaches. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Dec‐15 01‐Mar‐17 To date the Council has received no notification 
from applicants that they intend to rely on 
deemed consent if no decision is issued, Once 
again Capita do not have the ability to provide 
the Council with reports to demonstrate 
progress with Discharges of Condition. The 
software provider has been asked to provide a 
cost for the works to allow appropriate reports 
to be run. The Council is also working with 
South Holland in order to assess whether its 
Ocella specialist could provide the reports in a 
more cost effective way than the Ocella 
company itself. Generally the matter of Ocella 
reports is being put on hold until the outcome 
of the Council's IT systems has been decided.
Capita are to provide a written procedure by 
31st December 2016 indicating how it would 
deal with Deemed Discharges of Conditions.

Riana Rudland 06‐Feb‐2017 Proportion of 
backlog has been reduced. Update due from 
Capita in March as to volume left requiring 
action.

BRK1604 Planning Operations and Contract Manager (Planning 
Services) and Breckland Place Manager

Land charge register be locked in a secure 
location where access is restricted to only 
officers responsible for updating the register 
and carrying out a search for land charges. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Dec‐15 01‐Apr‐17 Unfortunately this has not yet been resolved as 
we were awaiting the outcome of discussions 
with the Land Registry. Given the delays 
expected in the transfer of information to the 
Land Registry the Council has agreed to 
purchase fire proof storage cabinets but this is 
on hold awaiting an estimate of the cost of 
scanning the Land Charges files.
Due to the change in the Management of the 
Facilities team this was not provided so the new 
Manager is looking into the matter with a view 
to procuring appropriate cabinet space.

Riana Rudland 06‐Feb‐2017 Request to flag this 
as a risk rather than an audit action during the 
transition period of digitalisation.

BRK1607 Building Control Breckland Place Manager The Council reviews the fee payment 
mechanism for building control charges, to 
encompass the requirements of the Building 
Regulation Fee Charges Regulations 2010 and 
payment arrangements with Capita for the 
provision of this service. If the fees are not 
amended, a risk should be recorded in the 
Council's risk registers stating that the Council 
(and Capita) is not operating in accordance with 
the Regulations. 

High Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 30‐Apr‐16 01‐Apr‐17 We are experiencing difficulty in respect of 
setting an appropriate hourly rate given the 
amount of chargeable fees and the fixed 
contract price. Meeting with Riana Rudland and 
Mandy Chenery to discuss this and agree new 
rate. The intention is to introduce the new fee 
rate in the next round of budget setting for 
commencement in April 2017

Riana Rudland 06‐Feb‐2017 Fee mechanism 
calculation agreed with Capita. Further review 
underway to understand loss of income against 
budget as a result of AI operating in BDC.

BRK1616 Starters, Movers and Leavers HR Business Partner/ IT Manager A process to be implemented whereby all job 
roles within the Council are mapped to the ICT, 
and other, requirements of the role. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Mar‐16 31‐Dec‐17 18/10/16 ‐ This is being worked on and as part 
of new staff structure and linking to job 
descriptions.

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 Processes are being 
designed to achieve this with links between HR 
and IT to create automated process ‐ 31 
December 2017 as part of infrastructure refresh

BRK1618 Network Security and Infrastructure IT Manager Recommendation 2 ‐ Breckland IT management 
to design and implement an appropriate IT 
training programme, having formally identified 
where the training time should be positioned via 
the internal appraisal process.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 29‐Apr‐16 31‐Jul‐17 18/10/16 ‐ A programme of training will be 
rolled out. Netconsent will in the future cover 
policies with Q&A after

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 As part of the infrastructure 
update a training plan will be designed and 
rolled out, plan to be defined by 31 July 2017

BRK1618 Network Security and Infrastructure IT Manager Recommendation 3 ‐ The username known as 
"DomainAdmin" to be disabled and replaced 
with equivalent named user accounts, if 
possible. Passwords for these accounts to be 
compliant with the existing Domain Accounts 
Policy. It is recognised that the account is 
required for the effective operation of the 
network. Hence, disabling it should be tested to 
understand the consequences of doing so 
before being disabled 

Low Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 29‐Apr‐16 30‐Nov‐17 18/10/16 ‐ this will happen with the move to 
the new infrastructure

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 This will happen with the 
move to the new infrastructure and is not a 
priority before hand. Revised date 30 November 
2017

BRK1619 Business Continuity Planning and 
Disaster Recovery

IT Manager Recommendation 2 ‐ Copies of all relevant DR 
plan documentation (including updated 
documentation as this becomes relevant) to be 
communicated to all relevant staff, with hard 
copies kept at both Elizabeth House in Dereham 
and Breckland House in Thetford. Consideration 
could be given to incorporating the DR plan 
documentation into the Corporate Business 
Continuity Plan or using similar storage and 
communication mechanisms. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 29‐Jul‐16 31‐Dec‐17 18/10/16 ‐ This is being done as part of the 
development of new disaster recovery 
processes.

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 DR is much improved, there 
is now 4 hourly replications to Thetford and 
overnight back ups in place ‐ therefore if a 
disaster occurs the ability is there to recover. 
The documentation of this process will be 
undertaken as part of the IT infrastructure work 
and will be carried out alongside this, therefore 
revised deadline date of 31 December 2017

BRK1619 Business Continuity Planning and 
Disaster Recovery

IT Manager Recommendation 1 ‐ IT Management to 
complete the upgrade of the DR infrastructure 
and ensure that formal documentation of DR 
plans are drafted and agreed thereafter.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 29‐Jul‐16 31‐Dec‐17 18/10/16‐ Being done as part of development of 
new disaster recovery processes.

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 DR is much improved, there 
is now 4 hourly replications to Thetford and 
overnight back ups in place ‐ therefore if a 
disaster occurs the ability is there to recover. 
The documentation of this process will be 
undertaken as part of the IT infrastructure work 
and will be carried out alongside this, therefore 
revised deadline date of 31 December 2017

BRK1619 Business Continuity Planning and 
Disaster Recovery

IT Manager Recommendation 5 ‐ IT Management to 
document, agree and implement an appropriate 
DR test plans and relevant supporting 
management process. Such processes to 
include: The creation and communication of 
test reports for each test; Documenting 
appropriate remedial action plans that seek to 
address potential weaknesses identified as a 
result of the tests; Updating the DR plan as 
appropriate to implement any remedial actions 
identified. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 29‐Apr‐16 31‐Dec‐17 18/10/16 ‐ Being done as part of development 
of new disaster recovery processes

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 DR is much improved, there 
is now 4 hourly replications to Thetford and 
overnight back ups in place ‐ therefore if a 
disaster occurs the ability is there to recover. 
The documentation of this process will be 
undertaken as part of the IT infrastructure work 
and will be carried out alongside this, therefore 
revised deadline date of 31 December 2017

BRK1619 Business Continuity Planning and 
Disaster Recovery

IT Manager Recommendation 6 ‐ IT Management to ensure 
that all DR‐related documentation such as the 
DR plan, test schedules, test reports and 
remedial action plans be shared with Business 
Continuity colleagues as appropriate. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 30‐Jun‐16 31‐Dec‐17 18/10/16 ‐ Being developed as part of new 
disaster recovery processes.

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 DR is much improved, there 
is now 4 hourly replications to Thetford and 
overnight back ups in place ‐ therefore if a 
disaster occurs the ability is there to recover. 
The documentation of this process will be 
undertaken as part of the IT infrastructure work 
and will be carried out alongside this, therefore 
revised deadline date of 31 December 2017

BRK1619 Business Continuity Planning and 
Disaster Recovery

IT Manager Recommendation 3 ‐ IT Management to work 
with Business Continuity Management to design 
and implement appropriate IT service Business 
Continuity Plans that adequate demonstrate 
how the DR service will be delivered. The plans 
to include reference to formal out of hours 
support arrangements. 

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 29‐Apr‐16 31‐Dec‐17 18/10/16 ‐ Development of new disaster 
recovery solution will link with Business 
Continuity plan

G Kinton 14‐Feb‐17 DR is much improved, there 
is now 4 hourly replications to Thetford and 
overnight back ups in place ‐ therefore if a 
disaster occurs the ability is there to recover. 
The documentation of this process will be 
undertaken as part of the IT infrastructure work 
and will be carried out alongside this, therefore 
revised deadline date of 31 December 2017

102



Audit Reference Audit Area Main Contact Recommendations Priority Status Description Original Date 
Due for 
Completion

Revised Date 
Due for 
Completion

Notes for Changing Date Latest Note

BRK1702 Health & Safety+B78 Health and Safety Advisor Recommendation 1 ‐ A review be undertaken of 
all outlying / residual Breckland and South 
Holland Council owned premises, including 
leisure facilities, commercial property, to firstly 
determine where responsibility for health and 
safety lay i.e. with the Council or third party and 
secondly, to obtain the requisite evidence that 
health and safety compliance is being 
maintained.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 30‐Dec‐16 31‐Mar‐17 Delay in starting process due to conflicting work 
demands

Colin Saville 02‐Feb‐2017 Extension agreed to 
31/03/17 as per reasons / discussions with Nick 
Kendrick previously.

BRK1702 Health and Safety Health and Safety Advisor Recommendation 2 ‐ Following on from 
recommendation 1, health and safety 
inspections to be undertaken of all corporate 
premises as a matter of priority and be formally 
documented with outcomes reported to and 
monitored by, the respective health and safety 
sub committees, the JSCHSG and EMT.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 30‐Dec‐16 31‐Mar‐17 Delay in starting process due to conflicting work 
demands

Colin Saville 06‐Dec‐2016 Agreed to defer 
implementation date to 31/03/17 following 
request from responsible officer and as 
discussed previously.

BRK1704 Environmental Services ‐ contaminated 
waste

Communities Manager Using the NEWS intensive audit outcomes as a 
starting point, a formal rolling action plan be 
developed and implemented to reduce the level 
of contaminated waste to the threshold level 
included in the contract with Norse 
Environmental Waste Services (NEWS). The 
action plan to include targeted actions to be 
taken in locations highlighted in the intensive 
audits.
Implementation of the action plan be subject to 
formal monitoring by management to ensure 
that actions are completed fully and in a timely 
basis. Actions to be assigned to a responsible 
officer(s), and have a target dates for 
completion.

Medium Outstanding (No Extension Agreed) 01‐Feb‐17 Colin Saville 10‐Feb‐2017 No updates provided.

BRK1720 Website Content Management Digital and Customer Access Manager Management to draft, agree and communicate 
relevant website management policies and 
procedures. Such review to include 
documentation of a corporate website design 
standard, also to be adopted across the wider 
digital platform being implemented

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Aug‐16 31‐May‐17 A policy is currently being compiled for 
circulation to coincide with the launch of the 
new website which will go live in January 2017

This will be dealt with by new person in post 
which will better resource the team to them deal 
with the outstanding audit recommendations. A 
revised deadline date 31 May 2017 has been 
proposed

BRK1720 Website Content Management Digital and Customer Access Manager Management to ensure that an appropriate 
cookies warning is configured to appear on the 
site as required by EU law.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Aug‐16 30‐Apr‐17 This will be implemented with the new website 
design which will be live in January 2017

Work in progress, revised date end of April 2017

BRK1720 Website Content Management Digital and Customer Access Manager Management to draft, agree and communicate 
relevant website roles and responsibilities and 
have all relevant staff sign off their agreement to 
comply with them.

Medium Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Aug‐16 31‐May‐17 This will be included with the website policy 
document which will be compiled prior to the 
new website going live in January 2017

This will be dealt with by new person in post 
which will better resource the team to them deal 
with the outstanding audit recommendations. A 
revised deadline date 31 May 2017 has been 
proposed

BRK1720 Website Content Management Digital and Customer Access Manager Management to conduct a review of the existing 
cookie policy that has been published on the 
Council's website in order to ensure that it 
remains relevant to the Council's current 
requirements and that it is complete.

Low Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Aug‐16 30‐Apr‐17 This will be implemented on the new version of 
the website

Work in progress, revised date end of April 2017

BRK1720 Website Content Management Digital and Customer Access Manager Management to implement a process whereby 
the SortSite scans and related reports are run on 
a regular basis and communicated to all relevant 
web editor staff.

Low Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Aug‐16 31‐May‐17 This is a time consuming process and currently 
falls out of priority. The addition of additional 
resource will allow this process to be performed

This will be dealt with by new person in post 
which will better resource the team to them deal 
with the outstanding audit recommendations. A 
revised deadline date 31 May 2017 has been 
proposed

BRK1720 Website Content Management Digital and Customer Access Manager Management to review all of the available 
housekeeping tasks, for example, the 
"StaleArticleCheck" task, and enable (schedule) 
all those that are considered to add value to the 
management of the website.

Low Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Aug‐16 28‐Feb‐17 This ongoing process requires resource. This will 
be possible when the new resource is appointed

Colin Saville 06‐Dec‐2016 Agree to extension 
until 28/02/17 as per management's comments. 

BRK1720 Website Content Management Digital and Customer Access Manager Management to update the website templates 
to include the date when the content on the 
pages being viewed was last updated.

Low Outstanding (With Agreed Extension) 31‐Aug‐16 28‐Feb‐17 This is not a facility that the Goss ICM system 
allows but could be implemented by Goss at a 
cost. To date no other council has asked for this 
functionality (including SHDC) meaning it has not 
been viewed by 60 plus councils that use Goss as 
their ICM provider, however it is common on 
news websites. I have requested a cost to 
complete this work from Goss

Colin Saville 06‐Dec‐2016 Having discussed the 
latest management responses with Paul 
Kamminga ‐ Senior IT Audit Manager, I have 
changed the status to 'Outstanding – extension 
agreed', with a revised date of 28/02/17. This 
acknowledges the responses on whether the 
recommendation is to remain and having 
indicated you are requesting a cost from Goss to 
implement the recommendation. This can then 
be updated further once the costs have been 
provided/the way forward reconsidered.

103



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Internal Audit Consortium Manager

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 24 February 2017

Author: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager

Subject: Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2017/18

Purpose: This report provides an overview of the stages followed prior to the 
formulation of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18 to 2019/20 and the 
Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18. 
The Annual Internal Audit Plan will then serve as the work programme for the 
Council’s Internal Audit Services Contractor; TIAA Ltd. 
It will also provide the basis for the Annual Audit Opinion on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of Breckland District Council’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control.

Recommendation(s):

1) That the Committee notes and approves:

a) the Internal Audit Charter for 2017/18;
b) the Internal Audit Strategy for 2017/18;
c) the Strategic Internal Audit Plans 2017/18 to 2019/20; and
d) the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2017/18.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that “a relevant authority must undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”.

1.2 Those standards are set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which 
came into effect in April 2013.

1.3 The attached report contains; 
o the Internal Audit Charter which formally defines the internal audit’s purpose, 

authority and responsibility, and is a mandatory document. The Charter reflects the 
new Internal Professional Practices Framework (IPPF) and PSIAS – and in 
particular the mission statement and core principles. The Charter now also more 
explicitly includes reference to the mandatory nature of the Core Principles for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the International 
Standards;

o the Internal Audit Strategy, which is  a strategic high level statement on how the 
internal audit service will be delivered and developed in accordance with the charter 
and how it links to the organisational objectives and priorities;

o the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, which details the plan of work for the next 3 
financial years;

104

Agenda Item 14



o the Annual Internal Audit Plan, which details the timing and the purpose of each 
audit agreed for inclusion in 2017/18; and

o provides the Committee with the performance measures against which the 
contractor will be monitored.

2.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The risk-based internal audit plans will add real value to the Council, have a defined and 
specific scope for each review and ensure that risks in relation to the service area are being 
reviewed by Internal Audit, thus enabling best practice to be followed.

3.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

3.1 The Council’s key business risks will be addressed by Internal Audit, thus ensuring that 
appropriate controls are in place to mitigate such risks and also ensure that the appropriate 
and proportionate level of action is taken.

3.2 The Internal Audit Service will be seen to add value, become a useful management tool 
and link more directly to the Council’s risk management processes

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Corporate Priorities

4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas and risks reviewed are working 
towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

4.2 Financial

4.2.1 The Internal Audit Service is provided by way of a Partnership Agreement with South 
Norfolk Council, whereby South Norfolk Council provide the role of the Head of Internal 
Audit and Contract Manager to Breckland Council, and the service provision i.e. delivery of 
the audits, is provided through a contract with TIAA Ltd. The 2017/18 plans have been set 
within the approved budget.

4.3 Risk Management 

4.3.1 The Risk Based Internal Audit approach will ensure that the Council’s key risks are 
accurately reviewed and updated and thus the Internal Audit Service is adding value and 
auditing the key risk areas.

4.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

4.4.1 The Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans for 2017/18 and the Internal Audit Charter 
have been consulted upon with Senior Managers, the Executive Management Team and 
External Audit, prior to coming to the Committee.

Background papers: None

Lead Contact Officer

105



Name and Post:  Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision:  No

Appendices attached to this report: Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2017/18

106



Page 1 of 26

Eastern Internal Audit Services

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2017/18

Responsible Officer: Emma Hodds – Internal Audit Consortium Manager

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................2
2. AUDIT CHARTER............................................................................................................2
3. INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY.......................................................................................3
4. STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN ...........................................................................3
5. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN .................................................................................3
6. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT ..................................................................................4
APPENDIX 1 – INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER ......................................................................5
APPENDIX 2 – INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY ..................................................................14
APPENDIX 3 – STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN.......................................................18
APPENDIX 4 – ANNUAL INTENAL AUDIT PLAN ...............................................................21
APPENDIX 5 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES ...................................................................26

107



Page 2 of 26

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that “a relevant authority must undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”.

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) mandate a periodic preparation of a risk-
based plan, which must incorporate or be linked to a strategic high level statement on how 
the internal audit service will be delivered and developed in accordance with the charter and 
how it links to the organisational objectives and priorities, this is set out in the Internal Audit 
Strategy.

1.3 Risk is defined as 'the possibility of an event occurring that will have an impact on the 
achievement of objectives’. Risk can be a positive and negative aspect, so as well as 
managing things that could have an adverse impact (downside risk) it is also important to 
look at potential benefits (upside risk).

1.4 The development of a risk-based plan takes into account the organisation's risk 
management framework. The process identifies the assurance (and consulting) assignments 
for a specific period, by identifying and prioritising all those areas on which objective 
assurance is required. This is then also applied when carrying out individual risk based 
assignments to provide assurance on part of the risk management framework, including the 
mitigation of individual or groups of risks. 

1.5 The following factors are also taken into account when developing the internal audit plan:

 Any declarations of interest so as to avoid conflicts of interest;
 The requirements of the use of specialists e.g. IT auditors;
 Striking the right balance over the range of reviews needing to be delivered, for 

example systems and risk based reviews, specific key controls testing, value for 
money and added value reviews;

 The relative risk maturity of the Council;
 Allowing contingency time to undertake ad-hoc reviews or fraud investigations as 

necessary;
 The time required to carry out the audit planning process effectively as well as 

regular reporting to and attendance at Governance and Audit Committee, the 
development of the annual report and opinion and the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme.

1.6 In accordance with best practice the Governance and Audit Committee should ‘review and 
assess the annual internal audit work plan’. 

2. AUDIT CHARTER

2.1 The Internal Audit Charter (the Charter) was developed as part of the planning process in 
2014/15 and incorporated the requirements of the PSIAS, this was updated in 2015/16 to 
more accurately reflect the working arrangements with the new Internal Audit Contractor – 
TIAA Ltd. 

2.2 There is an obligation under the PSIAS for the Charter to be periodically reviewed and 
presented. This Charter is therefore reviewed annually by the Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager to confirm its ongoing validity and completeness, and presented to the Section 151 

108



Page 3 of 26

Officer, senior management and the Governance and Audit Committee every 2 years, or as 
required for review. 

2.3 The Charter has been recently been updated to now also reflect the new Internal 
Professional Practices Framework (IPPF) and PSIAS – and in particular the mission 
statement and core principles. The Charter now also more explicitly includes reference to the 
mandatory nature of the Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the 
Code of Ethics, and the International Standards. The updated Charter is attached is attached 
at Appendix 1 to this report.

2.4 As part of the review of the Audit Charter the Code of Ethics are also reviewed  by the 
Internal Audit Consortium Manager, and it is ensured that the Internal Audit Services 
contractor staff, as well as the Internal Audit Consortium Manager adhere to these, 
specifically with regard to; integrity, objectivity, confidentiality and competency. Formal sign 
off to acceptance of the Code of Ethics is retained by the Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager.

3. INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY

3.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Strategy (see Appendix 2) is to confirm:

 How internal audit services will be delivered;
 How internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 

charter;
 How internal audit services links to organisational objectives and priorities; and
 How the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed.

4. STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

4.1 The overarching objective of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan (see Appendix 3) is to provide 
a comprehensive programme of review work over the next three years, with each year 
providing sufficient audit coverage to give annual opinions, which can be used to inform the 
organisation’s Annual Governance Statement.

4.2 The coverage over the forthcoming three years has been discussed with senior 
management to ensure audits are undertaken at the right time and at a time where value can 
be added. The discussions also went into greater detail in relation to the scope of the audits 
for the forthcoming year, with a joint review for audit areas being undertaken wherever 
possible. 

5. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

5.1 Having developed the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, the Annual Internal Audit Plan is an 
extract of this for the forthcoming financial year (see Appendix 4). This details the areas 
being reviewed by Internal Audit, the number of days for each review, the quarter during 
which the audit will take place, a brief summary / purpose of the review and highlights those 
audit reviews which we be jointly undertaken with South Holland DC.

5.2 The Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18 totals 232 days, 197 of which is provided by 
Eastern Internal Audit Services and 35 of which are provided by West Suffolk Internal Audit. 

109



Page 4 of 26

5.3 The work to be provided by Eastern Internal Audit Services encompasses 20 audits, 10 of 
which will be jointly carried out at Breckland DC and South Holland DC:

 17 assignments which will conclude in an audit opinion, 
 One review where a position statement will be concluded at the end of the review, 
 a cross authority review which will compare four Council’s operation of Payroll and 

Human Resources and share best practice items on conclusion; and
 One IT audit.

5.4 In addition, audit verification work concerning audit recommendations implemented to 
improve the Council’s internal control environment will also be undertaken throughout the 
financial year.

5.5 Three assignments will be completed by West Suffolk Internal Audit which will conclude in 
an audit opinion.

5.6 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager is a member of the Finance Board and attends the 
Performance, Risk and Audit Board as appropriate, both of which have established terms of 
reference. Participating in these Boards has resulted in a greater awareness of Council 
business and key activities and has also resulted in good working relationships being 
maintained with key officers. 

6. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

6.1 The new Internal Audit Services contract includes a suite of key performance indicators (see 
Appendix 5) against which the new contractor will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. There 
are a total of 11 indicators, over 4 areas. 

6.2 There are individual requirements for performance in relation to each indicator; however 
performance will be assessed on an overall basis as follows (for the first year):

 9-11 KPIs have met target = Green Status.
 5-8 KPIs have met target = Amber Status.
 4 or below have met target = Red Status.

Where performance is amber or red a Performance Improvement Plan will be developed and 
agreed with the contractor to ensure that appropriate action is taken.

6.3 Performance in relation to these indicators will be reported to the Committee as part of the 
Progress Reports and the Annual Report and Opinion, ensuring that Members are kept up to 
date on a regular basis.

110



Page 5 of 26

APPENDIX 1 – INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER

EASTERN INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL’S

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER FOR 2017/18

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) came into effect from 1 April 2013, these 
provide a consolidated approach across the public sector thus ensuring continuity, sound 
corporate governance and transparency.

1.2 The Standards require all internal audit services to implement, monitor and review an 
internal audit charter (the charter); this formally defines the internal audit’s purpose, authority 
and responsibility, and is a mandatory document. 

1.3 The charter also displays formal commitment to and recognises the mandatory nature of the 
Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the 
Standards, I.e. the International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF). 

1.4 The IPPF now also recognises the mission of internal audit which Eastern Internal Audit 
Services conforms to. The mission is; to enhance and protect organisational value by 
providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight.

1.5 The charter also:
 Establishes the position and reporting lines of internal audit;
 Provides unrestricted access;
 Sets the tone for internal audit activities;

111



Page 6 of 26

 Defines the nature and scope of internal audit services, in particular assurance and 
consultancy services; and

 Sets out the nature and scope of assurance provided to other parties.

1.6 The charter is to be periodically reviewed and presented to Senior Management and the 
Board for approval. Therefore the charter will be reviewed annually by the Chief Audit 
Executive to confirm its ongoing completeness and validity, and presented to Senior 
Management and the Board every 2 years for review.

1.7 The Charter applies to all Authorities which are part of Eastern Internal Audit Services, 
currently; Breckland, Broadland, North Norfolk, South Holland and South Norfolk District 
Councils, Gt Yarmouth Borough Council and the Broads Authority.

2. Purpose, Authority and Responsibility

2.1 Purpose

2.1.1 Internal auditing is best summarised through its definition with the Standards, “an 
independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 
an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes”.

2.1.2 Internal audit will provide reasonable assurance to all organisations that are part of Eastern 
Internal Audit Services that necessary arrangements are in place and operating effectively, 
and to identify risk exposures and areas where improvements can be made.

2.2 Authority

2.2.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015, states that the relevant body must; 
“undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance”. The statutory requirement for internal audit is recognised in the 
Constitution of each Authority and the internal auditing standards in this regard are the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

2.2.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Statement on the Role 
of the Head of Internal Audit confirms that this person is responsible for the organisation’s 
internal audit service, including drawing up the internal audit strategy and annual plan and 
giving the annual audit opinion. The requirements of this statement are fully adhered to by 
the Chief Audit Executive.

2.3 Responsibility

2.3.1 The responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective internal audit to evaluate risk 
management, control and governance processes lies with each Authority’s Chief Finance 
Officer (the Section 151 Officer).

2.3.2 The Authority and its Members must be satisfied about the adequacy of the advice and 
support it receives from internal audit.

2.3.3 Internal audit is provided by Eastern Internal Audit Services, with the Chief Audit Executive 
responsible for ensuring the internal audit activity is undertaken in accordance with the 
definition of internal auditing, the code of ethics and the standards.

112



Page 7 of 26

2.3.4 Senior management are responsible for ensuring that internal control, risk management and 
governance arrangements are sufficient to address the risks facing the Authority. 
Accountability for responding to internal audit rests with senior management who either 
accept and implement the recommendations, or formally reject it. Any advice that is rejected 
will be formally reported. 

3. Key Relationships and Position in the Organisation

3.1 The standards require the terms ‘Chief Audit Executive’, ‘Board’ and ‘Senior Management’ to 
be defined in the context of the governance arrangements in each public sector organisation 
in order to safeguard the independence and objectivity of internal audit. The following 
interpretations are applied within Eastern Internal Audit Services.

3.2 Chief Audit Executive

3.2.1 The Chief Audit Executive is the Internal Audit Consortium Manager who provides the role of 
the Head of Internal Audit to all organisations part of the Eastern Internal Audit Services. The 
delivery of the annual internal audit plan, and any ad-hoc assignments is provided by an 
external contractor; TIAA Ltd since 1 April 2015. The Chief Audit Executive also manages 
this contract on behalf of all organisations.

3.2.2 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager reports functionally to the Board and administratively 
to the Director of Business Development at South Norfolk Council. In addition the Internal 
Audit Consortium Manager also reports administratively to the Section 151 Officer at each 
organisation. 

3.2.3 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager also has a direct line of reporting and unfettered 
access to the Chief Executive, the Senior Management Team at each Authority and the 
Chair of the Audit Committee at each Authority.

3.3 Board

3.3.1 The ‘Board’ is the governance group charged with independent assurance on the adequacy 
of the risk management framework, the internal control environment and the integrity of the 
financial reporting. At Breckland and South Holland District Council’s this is the respective 
Governance and Audit Committee, whose responsibilities are discharged through the 
Constitution and explicitly referred to in the terms of reference.

3.3.2 This functional reporting includes; 
 Approving the audit charter, audit strategy and annual plans;
 Receiving regular reports on the outcomes of internal audit activity and performance;
 Receiving regular reports on management action in relation to agreed internal audit 

recommendations;
 Receiving the Annual Report and Opinion of the Internal Audit Consortium Manager, 

alongside a conclusion as to the effectiveness of internal audit;

3.3.3 In addition the each Governance and Audit Committee also; assesses its own effectiveness 
on an annual basis to ensure it meets best practice, receives reports in relation to relevant 
Policy / Strategy updates i.e. Fraud and will receive and oversee the results of external 
assessments of internal audit.

113



Page 8 of 26

3.4 Senior Management

3.4.1 ‘Senior Management’ is those responsible for the leadership and direction of the 
organisation, and are responsible for specific aspects of internal control, risk management 
and governance arrangements. There is effective liaison between internal audit and senior 
management to ensure that independence remains, and provides for a critical challenge. 

3.4.2 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager meets regularly with the Section 151 Officer, both 
formally and informally, to ensure organisational awareness is maintained and that good 
working relationships are in place. The formal arrangements facilitate discussion in relation 
to the delivery of the current internal audit plan to ensure it remains on track and is 
responsive to changes and emerging risks. The meeting also highlights any areas which 
require immediate attention, that are not in the current annual plan, and also areas for future 
consideration. 

3.4.3 In addition the Internal Audit Consortium Manager meets with officers of the senior 
management team through the annual audit planning process to enable a risk based internal 
audit plan. These relationships are maintained throughout the year to ensure awareness of 
developments within service areas, to keep up to date, and to ensure internal audit 
involvement where necessary. These are key relationships to the effective delivery of 
internal audit and to ensure a value-added service is provided.

3.5 Other key relationships

3.5.1 There are other key relationships that are maintained which are important to the effective 
and efficient delivery of internal audit. 

3.5.2 Regular liaison is maintained with External Audit to consult on audit plans, and to discuss 
matters of mutual interest. The external auditors have the opportunity to take account of the 
work of internal audit where appropriate. 

3.5.3 Where appropriate internal audit will liaise with other internal audit providers, where shared 
arrangements exist. In such cases, a dialogue will be opened with the Chief Audit Executive 
to agree a way forward regarding the auditing of such shared services. This is to ensure an 
efficient and effective approach, and enable reliance on each other’s outcomes.  Where 
formal arrangements are entered into a protocol will be determined and agreed by both Chief 
Audit Executives.

3.5.4 At Breckland DC a protocol is in place with West Suffolk Internal Audit Services where 
reliance is placed on the audits undertaken by the team in relation to Council Tax, National 
Non-Domestic Rates and Housing Benefits. The protocol has been in place since the 
2012/13 financial year, and has recently been extended for a year until 31 March 2018.

The relevant Heads of Internal Audit for the respective Council’s whose Revenues and 
Benefits services are provided by Anglian Revenues Partnership (ARP) have been reviewing 
the arrangement for internal audit going forwards. Proposals are currently being finalised to 
ensure that there is a consistent approach to internal audit at ARP and that each audit area 
review will cover all seven sites, thus reducing duplication and ensuring a more effective and 
efficient internal audit service.

3.5.5 At South Holland DC Compass Point provide back office services; finance, human resources 
& payroll, ICT, customer services and revenues & benefits to both South Holland and East 
Lindsey DC’s. This area has been previously audited by the East Lindsey DC internal audit 
team for both Councils and it is envisaged that this arrangement will continue. A protocol has 

114



Page 9 of 26

been agreed between both Heads of Internal Audit and Section 151 Officers, thus enabling 
South Holland DC to place reliance on this work to inform the Annual Report and Opinion. 

3.5.6 Internal audit will also co-operate with all external review and inspection bodies that are 
authorised to access and evaluate the activities of the Authority, to determine compliance 
with regulations and standards. Assurances arising from this work will be taken into account 
where applicable.

4. Rights of Access

4.1 Internal audit, with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding records and 
information, is authorised to have the right of access to all records, assets, personnel and 
premises and has authority to obtain such information and explanations as it considers 
necessary to fulfil its responsibilities. This access is full, free and unrestricted and is set out 
in each Authority’s Constitution.

4.2 Such access shall be granted on demand and shall not be subject to prior notice, although in 
principle, the provision of prior notice will be given wherever possible and appropriate, 
unless circumstances dictate otherwise.

5. Objective and Scope

5.1 Assurance services is the primary role of internal audit services, which primarily feeds into 
the annual audit opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control, together with reasons if the opinion is 
unfavourable. This opinion covers the entire control environment of the Authority and not just 
the financial controls. 

5.2 Internal audit also provides consultancy services, where required, which is advisory in nature 
and generally performed to facilitate improved governance, risk management and control.

5.3 It is management’s responsibility to manage the risk of fraud and corruption; however 
internal audit will be alert to such risks in all the work that is undertaken. In addition the 
Internal Audit Consortium is either responsible for, or is consulted on, related policy / 
strategy. These include for example; Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Strategy, 
Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Money Laundering Policy, and the related promotion and 
training for officers and councillors.

5.4 Through the contract in place with TIAA Ltd there are other services that can be provided, 
these include: fraud investigations, grant certification and digital forensics.

5.5 Whichever role / remit is carried out by internal audit the scope is to be determined by 
internal audit, through discussion with senior management, however this scope will not be 
unduly bias nor shall it be restricted.

6. Independence, Objectivity and Due Professional Care

6.1 Internal audit must be sufficiently independent of the activities that are audited to enable an 
impartial, unbiased and effective professional judgement. Internal auditors must maintain an 
unbiased attitude that allows work to be performed in such a manner that no quality 
compromises are made. To this end all internal auditors working within Eastern Internal 
Audit Services, annually review and sign up to the Code of Ethics, which sets out the 
minimum standards for performance and conduct. The four core principles are integrity, 
objectivity, confidentiality and competency.

115



Page 10 of 26

6.2 Internal auditors have no operational responsibility or authority over any of the activities 
which they are required to review. In addition, internal auditors will not review operations for 
which they were previously responsible for in the preceding 12 months. Internal auditors may 
provide consulting services relating to such operations.

6.3 If independence or objectivity is impaired, or appears to be, the details of the impairment will 
be disclosed to the Internal Audit Consortium Manager and / or senior management. The 
nature of the disclosure will depend upon the impairment.

6.4 Internal auditors will perform work with due professional care, competence and diligence. 
Internal auditors cannot be expected to identify every control weakness or irregularity but 
their work is designed to enable them to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
controls examined. 

7. Internal Audit Resources

7.1 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager will be professionally qualified (CMIIA, CCAB or 
equivalent) and have a wide range of internal audit management experience to enable them 
to deliver the responsibilities that arise from the need to liaised internally and externally with 
councillors, senior management, officers and other professionals and stakeholders.

7.2 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager, through the contract with the external provider, shall 
ensure access to a team of staff who have the appropriate range of knowledge, skills, 
qualification and experience to deliver the audit service. The types of reviews are referred to 
in section 5 of the charter.

8. Audit Planning

8.1 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager develops a strategy, alongside a strategic and 
annual internal audit plan, using a risk based approach. 

8.2 The Internal Audit Strategy is a high level statement of; how the internal audit service will be 
delivered; how internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 
charter; how internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities; and 
how the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed. The purpose of the 
strategy is to provide a clear direction for internal audit services and creates a link between 
the Charter, the strategic plan and the annual plan.

8.3 On an annual basis the internal audit plan of work, developed as per the Internal Audit 
Strategy, is submitted to Senior Management and each Governance and Audit Committee 
for approval. The Internal Audit Consortium Manager is responsible for the delivery of the 
internal audit plan, which will be kept under regular review and reported through to the 
Committee.

9. Audit Reporting

9.1 As mentioned at section 8 the resultant internal audit plans will be received on an annual 
basis for approval by both Senior Management and each Governance and Audit Committee. 
These annual plans are then the work plan for the internal audit contractor for the 
forthcoming year and are resourced accordingly. 

9.2 On conclusion of each assurance review a draft audit report will be provided to management 
that;

 Provides an assurance opinion on the systems and controls in place as to whether 
these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. These reports contribute to 

116



Page 11 of 26

the annual report and opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and control.

 Provides a formal report of points arising from the review and management 
responses to the issues raised, this includes; acceptance (or not) of the 
recommendation, with responsibility and timescales for implementation.

 Provides Operational Efficiency Matters (as appropriate) which sets out matters 
identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for service 
enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance 
the delivery of value for money services.

On receipt of responses from management the report can then be finalised, post review by 
the Internal Audit Consortium Manager.

9.3 As mentioned in 9.2, management can choose not to accept / implement the 
recommendations raised by internal audit. In all such instances this will be reported through 
to the relevant Governance and Audit Committee, especially in instances whereby there are 
no compensating controls justifying the course of action. 

9.4 The Executive Summary of all final reports is reported through periodically to each 
Governance and Audit Committee as part of the progress reports. The standards require this 
to include the performance of internal audit relative to its plan, including any significant risk 
exposures and control issues. To comply this report includes:; any significant changes to the 
approved Audit Plan; progress made  in delivering the agreed audits for the year; any 
significant outcomes arising from those audits; and performance Indicator outcomes to date.

9.5 Where management agree to recommendations resulting in an action plan, these are input 
onto Covalent and regularly followed up to assess progress on implementation. The internal 
audit contractor undertakes verification work on closed recommendations, and also reviews 
the responses from management on Covalent in relation to progress made. The results of 
which are reported periodically to the relevant Governance and Audit Committee as part of 
the follow up reports.

9.6 On conclusion of the annual internal audit plan for the financial year the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager provides an annual report and opinion to senior management and to 
both Governance and Audit Committees.

9.7 The annual report and opinion provides:
 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s framework 

of governance, risk management and control during the financial year, together with 
reasons if the opinion is unfavourable;

 A summary of the internal audit work carried from which the opinion is derived, the 
follow up of management action taken to ensure implementation of agreed action as 
at financial year end and any reliance placed upon third party assurances;

 Any issues that are deemed particularly relevant to the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS);and

 The Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit, which includes; 
o a statement on conformance with the standards and the results of any quality 

assurance and improvement programme, 
o the outcomes of the performance indicators and 
o the degree of compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of 

Internal Audit.

117



Page 12 of 26

10. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme

10.1 The standards require a quality assurance and improvement programme to be developed 
that covers all aspects of internal audit; including both internal and external assessments. 

10.2 If an improvement plan is required as a result of the internal and / or the external 
assessment, in order to further develop the existing service provisions, the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager will coordinate appropriate action and report against this to Senior 
Management and the respective Governance and Audit Committee, as part of the annual 
report and opinion. 

10.3 Internal Assessment

10.3.1 Internal assessment includes the ongoing monitoring of the performance of the contractor 
through the performance measures which form a key part of the contract and through the 
quality review of all completed audits, both of which is undertaken by the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager. 

10.3.2 On conclusion of audit reviews a feedback form is provided to the key client on the audit 
process; the outcomes of which are reviewed to look to improve the service and any criticism 
received is investigated immediately and action taken with the contractor to resolve the 
issue.

10.3.3 The standards also require periodic self-assessment in relation to the effectiveness of 
internal audit, the detail and outcomes of which are then forwarded to the Section 151 
Officer for their independent scrutiny, before the summary of which is provided to each 
Governance and Audit Committee as part of the annual report and opinion. This information 
enables the Committee to be assured that the internal audit service is operating in 
accordance with best practice.

10.4 External Assessment

10.4.1 External assessments must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the Authority. This can be in the 
form of a full external quality assessment that involves interviews with relevant stakeholders, 
supported by examination of the internal audit approach and methodology leading to the 
completion of an independent report, or a validated self-assessment, which the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager compiles against the PSIAS assessment tool, which is then validated 
by an external assessor / team. The full external quality assessment is the chosen option for 
Eastern Internal Audit Services. 

10.4.2 An external assessment will:
 Provide an assessment on the internal audit function’s conformance to the standards;
 Assess the performance of the internal audit activity in light of its charter, the 

expectations of the various boards and executive management;
 Identify opportunities and offer ideas and counsel for improving the performance of 

the internal audit activity, raising the value that internal audit provides to the 
organisation; and 

 Benchmark the activities of the internal audit function against best practice.

10.4.3 In January 2017 Eastern Internal Audit Services was fully assessed by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. The conclusion of the review was:

118



Page 13 of 26

The internal audit team fully meet most of the Standards, as well as the Definition, Core 
Principles and the Code of Ethics which form the mandatory elements of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors’ International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), the globally 
recognised standard for quality in Internal Auditing. This is described as “Generally 
Conforms”. It means that the internal audit team may state in its audit reports that the work 
“has been performed in accordance with the IPPF”

119



Page 14 of 26

APPENDIX 2 – INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY

EASTERN INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL’S

INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY FOR 2017/18

1. Introduction

1.1 The Internal Audit Strategy is a high level statement of;
 how the internal audit service will be delivered;
 how internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 

charter;
 how internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities; and
 how the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed.

The provision of such a strategy is set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the 
standards).

1.2 The purpose of the strategy is to provide a clear direction for internal audit services and 
creates a link between the Charter, the strategic plan and the annual plan.

2. How the internal audit service will be delivered

2.1 The Role of the Head of Internal Audit and contract management is provided by South 
Norfolk Council (the Internal Audit Consortium Manager) to; Breckland, Broadland, North 
Norfolk, South Holland and South Norfolk District Councils, Great Yarmouth Borough 
Council and The Broads Authority. All Authorities are bound by a Partnership Agreement.

2.2 The delivery of the internal audit plans for each Authority is provided by an external audit 
contractor, who reports directly to the Internal Audit Consortium Manager. The current 
contract is with TIAA Ltd, and commenced on 1 April 2015, for an initial period of 5 years.

3. How internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 
charter

3.1 Internal Audit objective and outcomes

3.1.1 Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve the Authority’s operations. It helps the Authority accomplish its objectives 
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes.

3.1.2 The outcomes of the internal audit service are detailed in the Internal Audit Charter and can 
be summarised as; delivering a risk based audit plan in a professional, independent manner, 
to provide the Authority with an opinion on the level of assurance it can place upon the 
internal control environment, systems of risk management and corporate governance 
arrangements, and to make recommendations to improve these provisions, where further 
development would be beneficial.

120



Page 15 of 26

3.1.3 The reporting of the outcomes from internal audit is through direct reports to senior 
management in respect of the areas reviewed under their remit, in the form of an audit 
report. The respective Governance and Audit Committee and the Section 151 Officer also 
receive:

 The Audit Plans Report, which is risk based and forms the next financial year’s plan 
of work;

 The Progress Reports which provide summaries of the work achieved throughout the 
year and the individual opinions awarded on conclusion of reviews;

 The Follow Up Reports which detail the level of management action taken in respect 
of agreed internal audit recommendations; and

 The Annual Report and Opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and control.

3.2 Internal Audit Planning

3.2.1 A risk-based internal audit plan (RBIA) is established in consultation with senior 
management that identifies where assurance and consultancy is required.

3.2.2 The audit plan establishes a link between the proposed audit areas and the priorities and 
risks of the Authority taking into account:

 Stakeholder expectations, and feedback from senior and operational managers;
 Objectives set in the strategic plan and business plans;
 Risk maturity in the organisation to provide an indication of the reliability of risk 

registers;
 Management’s identification and response to risk, including risk mitigation strategies 

and levels of residual risk;
 Legal and regulatory requirements;
 The audit universe – all the audits that could be performed; and
 Previous IA plans and the results of audit engagements.

3.2.3 In order to ensure that the internal audit service adds value to the Authority, assurance 
should be provided that major business risks are being managed appropriately, along with 
providing assurance over the system of internal control, risk management and governance 
processes.

3.2.4 Risk based internal audit planning starts with the Authority’s Business Plan, linking through 
to the priority areas and the related high level objectives. The focus is then on the risks, and 
opportunities, that may hinder, or help, the achievement of the objectives. The approach also 
focuses on the upcoming projects and developments for the Authority.

3.2.5 The approach ensures; better and earlier identification of risks and increased ability to 
control them; greater coherence with the Authority’s priorities; an opportunity to engage with 
stakeholders; the Committee and Senior Management better understand how the internal 
audit service helps to accomplish its objectives; and this ensures that best practice is 
followed.

3.2.6 The key distinction with establishing plans derived from a risk based internal audit approach 
is that the focus should be to understand and analyse management’s assessment of risk and 
to base audit plans and efforts around that process.

3.2.7 Consultation with the Section 151 Officer and Senior Management takes place through 
specific meetings during which current and future developments, changes, risks and areas of 
concern are discussed and the plan amended accordingly to take these into account. 

121



Page 16 of 26

3.2.8 The outcome of this populates a strategic internal audit plan, and the resulting annual 
internal audit plan, which are discussed with and approved by Executive Management Team 
prior to these being brought to both Governance and Audit Committee’s. In addition External 
Audit is also provided with early sight of the plans.

3.3 Internal Audit Annual Opinion

3.3.1 The annual opinion provides Senior Management and the Governance and Audit 
Committee’s with an assessment of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s 
framework of governance, risk management and control.

3.3.2 The opinion is based upon:
 The summary of the internal audit work carried out;
 The follow up of management action taken to ensure implementation of agreed 

action as at financial year end;
 Any reliance placed upon third party assurances;
 Any issues that are deemed particularly relevant to the Annual Governance 

Statement (AGS);
 The Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit, which includes; 

o A statement on conformance with the standards and the results of any quality 
assurance and improvement programme,

o  the outcomes of the performance indicators and 
o the degree of compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of 

Internal Audit.

3.3.3 In order to achieve the above internal audit operates within the standards and uses a risk 
based approach to audit planning and to each audit assignment undertaken. The control 
environment for each audit area reviewed is assessed for its adequacy and effectiveness of 
the controls and an assurance rating applied.

4. How internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities

4.1 In addition to the approach taken as outlined in section 3.2 (Internal Audit Planning), which 
ensures that the service links to the organisations objectives and priorities and thereby 
through the risk based approach adds value, internal audit also ensure an awareness is 
maintained of local and national Issues and risks.

4.2 The annual audit planning process ensures that new or emerging risks are identified and 
considered at a local level. This strategy ensures that the planning process is all 
encompassing and reviews the records held by the Authority in respect of risks and issue 
logs and registers, reports that are taken through the Authority Committee meetings, and 
through extensive discussions with senior management.

4.3 Awareness of national issues is maintained through the contract in place with the external 
internal audit provider through regular “horizon scanning” updates, and annually a particular 
focus provided on issues to be considered during the planning process. Membership and 
subscription to professional bodies such as the Institute of Internal Auditors and the CIPFA 
on-line query service, liaison with External Audit, and networking with, all help to ensure 
developments are noted and incorporated where appropriate.

5. How internal audit resource requirements have been assessed

5.1 Through utilising an external audit contractor the risk based internal audit plan can be 
developed without having to take into account the existing resources, as you would with an 

122



Page 17 of 26

in-house team, thus ensuring that audit coverage for the year is appropriate to the 
Authority’s needs and not tied to a particular resource.

5.2 That said a core team of staff is provided to deliver the audit plan, and these staff bring with 
them considerable public sector knowledge and experience. These core staff can be 
supplemented with additional staff should the audit plan require it, and in addition specialists, 
e.g. computer auditors, contract auditor, fraud specialists, can be drafted in to assist in 
completing the internal audit plan and focusing on particular areas of specialism.

5.3 All audit professionals are encouraged to continually develop their skills and knowledge 
through various training routes; formal courses of study, in-house training, seminars and 
webinars. As part of the contract with TIAA Ltd the contractor needs to ensure that each 
member of staff completes a day’s training per quarter.

123



Page 18 of 26

APPENDIX 3 – STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

Audit Area Last reviewed & assurance Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Corporate Governance 2015/16 - Substantial, also due 
2016/17

Integral to all critical activities √ 4 4 4

Risk Management Position Statement 2015/16 Integral to all critical activities √ 3 3
Key Controls and Assurance 2015/16 - Reasonable High risk due to links to 

Statement of Accounts
10 10 10

ARP Governance 2014/15 - Substantial Medium risk due to necessity 
to deliver a high quality service 
to a number of Councils

8

Transformation Programme - benefits realisation Management request CA08 - Deliver transformation 
programme to drive through 
efficiencies & achieve resilience

√ 6 6 6

Accountancy Services includes control accounts, 
banking, bank reconciliation, asset register, 
budgetary control, insurance and treasury 
management

2015/16 - Substantial High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

16 16

Accounts Payable Due 2016/17 High risk due to links to 
Statement of Acc+C26ounts

12

Accounts Receivable 2015/16 - Reasonable High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

10 10

Income 2015/16 - Substantial High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

8 8

Payroll and Human Resources includes officers 
expenses, car loans and leased cars

Due 2016/17 High risk due to links to 
Statement of Accounts

17

Cross Authority Review - Payroll and HR 6

Annual Opinion / Governance audits

Fundamental Financial Systems

124



Page 19 of 26

Audit Area Last reviewed & assurance Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

LABVI Due 2016/17 CA09 Commercial approach 10
Asset Management 2016/17 - Substantial CA09 Commercial approach 10
Strategic Housing 2016/17 - Reasonable 

(Affordable Housing)
CA21 Housing Solutions 10

Economic Development ERDF funding previously 
reviewed

Licensing and Business Support 2016/17 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services √ 5
Corporate Health and Safety 2016/17 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services √ 3
Environmental Protection 2012/13 - Limited CA12 Regulatory services √ 8
Food, Health & Safety 2012/13 - Limited CA12 Regulatory services √ 8
Legal Services Not previously reviewed Integral to all critical activities √ 5
Democratic Services (2017/18 Charter Status, 
2018/19 Standards & Member Conduct)

2015/16 - Substantial CA11 Skills √ 5 5

Elections and Electoral Registration 2013/14 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services √ 8
Corporate Performance and Corporate Plan 2015/16 - Reasonable Integral to all critical activities √ 7 7
Procurement and Contract Management 2014/15 - Substantial (reduced 

scope)
CA09 Commercial approach √ 8 8

Customer Services (2017/18 Communications) Management request CA07 Accessible services √ 4
Branding 2016/17 - Reasonable CA07 Accessible services √ 3

Directorate audits
Executive Director Commercialisation

Executive Director Strategy and Governance

125



Page 20 of 26

Audit Area Last reviewed & assurance Associated risk or critical 
activity

Joint? 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Housing needs, allocation, homelessness, 
housing register and PSH

Due 2016/17 (housing register, 
homelessness, temp 
accommodation & rent 
deposits)

CA21 Housing Solutions 10

Community development and safety 2015/16 - audit due CA06 Reduce & prevent crime 8
Leisure (PFI) 2015/16 - Substantial CA20 Health & Wellbeing 6
Environmental Services - contract management 
(SERCO), refuses collection, street cleansing, 
recycling, grounds maintenance and abandoned 
vehicles. Also includes review of JV

2012/13 - Substantial
2016/17 - Reasonable 
(Contaminated waste)

CA09 Commercial approach 18 18

Planning - contract management (CAPITA), 
development control, enforcement, s106 
agreements, land charges

2015/16 - Reasonable CA12 Regulatory services 18 18

Building Control 2015/16 - Limited CA12 Regulatory services 8 8

IT audits 2016/17 - various Integral to all critical activities 20 30 30

All previous audits BRK 12 12 12
Total number of days delivered by EIAS 197 143 179

Council Tax 2015/16 - Substantial* CA12 Regulatory services 11 11 11
National Non Domestic Rates 2015/16 - Substantial* CA12 Regulatory services 11 11 11
Benefits 2015/16 - Substantial* CA12 Regulatory services 13 13 13
Days provided by other Internal Audit Services 35 35 35

Total Internal Audit provision 232 178 214

ICT Audits

Follow Up of audit recommendations

Revs and Bens Audits currently delivered by West Suffolk Internal Audit

Executive Director Place

126



Page 21 of 26

APPENDIX 4 – ANNUAL INTENAL AUDIT PLAN

Audit Area No of days Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Joint? Notes 

Corporate Governance 4 4 √ Exact coverage determined annually in conjunction with the 
monitoring officer (or deputy).

Risk Management 3 3 √ Joint audit review will focus on the use of covalent, the role of 
the Performance, Risk and Audit Board and the information 
reported to the Audit Committee.

Key Controls and Assurance 10 10 Annual testing of key controls not subject to full review within 
the financial year. This year will include; general ledger 
maintenance, control accounts, asset register, treasury 
management, budgetary control, accounts receivable, income 
and the assurance framework.

Corporate Performance and Corporate Plan 7 7 √ This review will look at the "golden thread" at the Council and 
how the Corporate Delivery Plan priorities link through to the 
performance at the Council and what these mean to the 
teams and individuals delivering these priorities.

Transformation Programme - benefits realisation 6 6 √ Internal Audit involvement over the financial year as a critical 
friend, to ensure appropriate challenge is provided, in relation 
to benefits proposed, i.e. cashable savings, improved 
performance, resilience, customer focus, quality etc.

Annual Opinion / Governance  audits

127



Page 22 of 26

Audit Area No of days Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Joint? Notes 

Accountancy Services includes control accounts, 
banking, bank reconciliation, asset register, 
budgetary control, insurance & treasury

16 16

Accounts Receivable 10 10
Income 8 8
Cross Authority Review - HR and Payroll 6 6 This is the third cross authority review that will be undertaken, 

these are designed to compare the areas of a particular 
service at each of the participating Councils during a defined 
period to identify the medians for each of the areas. 
Information is also obtained on the practices and approaches 
adopted by the individual Councils for the areas being 
considered. A comparator assessment is provided for each 
area considered which advises the extent to which the 
arrangements currently adopted by a Council compare against 
best practice identified at the other participating Councils.

Fundamental Financial Systems
These key financial systems feed into the Statement of 
Accounts and requires regular review to confirm the adequacy 
and effectiveness of controls in these key areas.

These reviews will look at the controls in place within these 
key processes, the audit will also take account of the team 
restructure and how processes have been streamlined whilst 
ensuring controls remain robust.

128



Page 23 of 26

Audit Area No of days Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Joint? Notes 

Environmental Protection 8 8 √ This will be a joint review focusing on air quality and 
contaminated land, the audit will audit focus on private water 
supplies at Breckland. 

Democratic Services 5 5 √ Breckland have recently retained the Charter Plus status, and 
this audit will review the action plan which was proposed and 
the management responses to date to ensure a high quality 
service is maintained. The audit will be undertaken at the 
same time as the South Holland review, but is likely to result 
in two reports. 

Elections and Electoral Registration 8 8 √ This area has not been reviewed since 2013/14 and a review of 
the processes and controls in place is now required to ensure 
these are still fit for purpose and robust. The audit will be a 
joint review with South Holland.

Procurement and Contract Management 8 8 √ This joint audit will focus on the recent procurement exercises 
and awards of contracts, to ensure these have been carried 
out in line with relevant legislation and the financial procedure 
rules. As it is also a requirement of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 (Regulations 22 and 53) that local 
authorities are required to offer e-procurement by April 2017, 
this will also be focused on.

Communications 4 4 √ A peer review has recently been concluded in this area and 
the outcomes will be a point of focus for the joint review and 
how the recommendations flowing from this are being 
achieved. 

Directorate audits
Executive Director Strategy and Governance

129



Page 24 of 26

Audit Area No of days Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Joint? Notes 

Private Sector Housing 10 10 This review will focus on private  sector housing, empty 
properties & enforcement and HMO licensing & standards. 
The audit will provide a baseline for the service in relation to 
the control framework and performance in place, which will 
provide actions and improvements that may be required going 
forwards. 

Community Safety 8 8 This service has been delivered jointly with the police for quite 
some time and it is deemed to be a high quality service. The 
review will focus on policy and procedure to determine if it is 
providing a value for money service and that customers are 
well served.

Environmental Services includes contract 
management, refuse collection, street cleansing, 
recycling, grounds maintenance & abandoned 
vehicles

18 18 The audit will focus on contract management and also the 
additional support / work that is provided. In addition a focus 
on street cleaning and grounds maintenance will also be 
provided as traditionally this is an area whereby information is 
no so readily available.  The outcomes of the report which is 
due to go to Scrutiny in the summer will also feed into the 
audit review.

Planning includes contract management, 
development control, enforcement, s106 
agreements & land charges

18 18 This review will be undertaken to ensure a high quality service 
across the board is being provided by the contractor.

Building Control 8 8 This audit will focus on outcomes and service delivery, the 
quality of the work, the number of challenges on the decisions 
that have been made to ensure that the contractor is providing 
and appropriately resourced, high quality service.

Executive Director Place

130



Page 25 of 26

Audit Area No of days Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Joint? Notes 

IT  Project Delivery 20 5 10 5 √ Due to the recent approval of the report to both Councils with 
regards to the IT infrastructure, the audit time over the course 
of the year will be undertaken as intermediary reviews as to 
the progress made to date and what is still required and to 
ensure that controls remain robust and appropriate throughout 
the change management process.

All previous audits BRK 12 3 3 3 3 Follow up of recommendations and evidence of closure 
verified, following updates from management on Covalent.

Total number of days delivered by EIAS 197 30 60 73 34

Council Tax 11 6 5
National Non Domestic Rates 11 6 5
Benefits 13 7 6
Days provided by other Internal Audit Services 35 0 0 19 16

Total Internal Audit provision 232 30 60 92 50

ICT Audits

Follow Up of audit recommendations

Revs and Bens Audits currently delivered by West Suffolk Internal Audit
West Suffolk Audit will undertake the reviews, and the specific 
scope will be determined later in the financial year.

131



Page 26 of 26

APPENDIX 5 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Area / Indicator Target
Audit Committee / Senior Management

1. Audit Committee Satisfaction – measured 
annually

2. Chief Finance Officer Satisfaction – 
measured quarterly

Adequate

Good

Internal Audit Process
3. Each quarters audits completed to draft 

report within 10 working days of the end 
of the quarter

4. Quarterly assurance reports to the 
Contract Manager within 15 working days 
of the end of each quarter

5. An audit file supporting each review and 
showing clear evidence of quality control 
review shall be completed prior to the 
issue of the draft report ( a sample of 
these will be subject to quality review by 
the Contract Manager)

6. Compliance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards

7. Respond to the Contract Manager within 
3 working days where unsatisfactory 
feedback has been received.

100%

100%

100%

Full

100%

Clients
8. Average feedback score received from 

key clients (auditees)
9. Percentage of recommendations 

accepted by management

Adequate

90%

Innovations and Capabilities
10. Percentage of qualified (including 

experienced) staff working on the 
contract each quarter

11. Number of training hours per member of 
staff completed per quarter

 

60%

1 day

 

132



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Internal Audit Consortium Manager

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 24 February 2017

Author: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager

Subject: External Quality Assessment of Internal Audit

Purpose: This report presents the results of an external review by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors of Eastern Internal Audit Service’s conformance with the 
Standards.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Committee note the report, the results of the assessment and the resultant action plan.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The objective of the review was to undertake an independent, objective external quality 
assessment of the Eastern Internal Audit Service against the IPPF. This has included 
considering the team’s conformance to the IPPF, benchmarking the function’s activities 
against best practice and assessing the impact of internal audit on the organisation.

1.2 The assessment was conducted as a full external quality assessment using the methods 
prescribed by Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors. A wide range of documentary 
evidence was reviewed, a number of representative stakeholders were interviewed, as 
were the Internal Audit Consortium Manager and TIAA Audit Director. This report presents 
the outcome of that review to the Committee, and the full report is attached at Appendix A 
to this report.

1.3 The IIA’s IPPF includes the Definition of Internal Auditing, Core Principles, Code of Ethics 
and International Standards. There are 56 fundamental principles to achieve with more than 
150 points of recommended practice. The Standards aim to promote further improvement in 
the professionalism, quality and effectiveness of Internal Audit across both the public and 
private sectors. They reaffirm the importance of robust, independent and objective internal 
audit assurance

1.4 The report concluded that the internal audit team fully meet most of the Standards, as well 
as the Definition, Core Principles and the Code of Ethics which form the mandatory 
elements of the Institute of Internal Auditors’ International Professional Practices 
Framework (IPPF), the globally recognised standard for quality in Internal Auditing. This is 
described as “Generally Conforms” (this is the best rating available). It means that the 
internal audit team may state in its audit reports that the work “has been performed in 
accordance with the IPPF”.

1.5 The assessor has noted some key achievements within the attached report, with the 
following overriding summary statement provided:

“Eastern Internal Audit Services deliver an effective independent and objective assurance 
and consulting service across the authorities it serves, covering the full range of activity that 

133

Agenda Item 15



this organisation undertakes. Some challenges remain, of course, but overall we believe 
that stakeholders see the Internal Audit Consortium Manager and the core internal audit 
team as professional, approachable and competent in their work.”

1.6 In addition the IIA have benchmarked the service against others that have been assessed 
and has concluded against 5 key areas that:

The service is excellent in the efficiency of its operations – this is a fantastic result which 
really emphasises how well the contract works and the IIA have confirmed that this is a 
conclusion that is rarely achieved in such a review.

The service is good in its Reflection of the Standards and the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme.

In relation to focusing on performance, risk and adding value the team is satisfactory – this 
relates to more formally documenting the risks to the internal audit service and undertaking 
a more formal assessment of risks at each Authority and formally link this through to the 
audit plans.

And finally in relation to coordinating and maximising assurance we are considered to need 
improvement in this area - this is not uncommon and a conclusion drawn on by the 
assessors in the majority of the reviews they undertake. This is where we need to more 
formally recognise relationships with other internal teams i.e. Business Improvement, 
Monitoring Officer, Fraud, Risk etc. and then consider undertaking a wider assurance 
mapping exercise.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The assessment is required to be undertaken every five years in line with the standards; 
therefore to do nothing is not an option in this regard.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To follow best practice and ensure that the Committee is kept up to date with the 
performance of the internal audit service.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The External Quality Assessment, which is a rigorous and challenging process, should 
provide the Committee with confidence over the quality of the Internal Audit service.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Not applicable.

134



7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 IIA – Institute of Internal Auditors
7.2 PSIAS – Public Sector Internal Audit Standards
7.3 IPPF – Internal Professional Practices Framework
7.4 EQA – External Quality Assessment
7.5 EIAS – Eastern Internal Audit Services

Background papers:- Checklist completed by the IIA, copy retained by the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Report of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA)

135

mailto:ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk


  Page 1  
  

 

EXTERNAL QUALITY ASSESSMENT (EQA) FINAL REPORT FOR 

 

Eastern Internal Audit Services (EIAS) 

Prepared by John Chesshire and Jane Needham on behalf of the CIIA, 13 January 2017 

 PAGES 

Executive Summary 2 

Conformance to the International Professional Practices Framework  3-4 

Key Achievements 5 

Recommendations to achieve conformance to the Standards 6-7 

Opportunities for Further Development and Continuous Improvement 

IIA evaluations: 
• Internal Audit Effectiveness Matrix  
• Corporate Audit SWOT Analysis  

7 
 

8 
9 
 

Appendices:   
 
1. IIA Grading definitions 
   
2. List of Interviewees 

 
 

10 
 

11 
 

 

Report Caveat - This report is provided on the basis that it is for your information only and that it will not 
be quoted or referred to, in whole or part, without the prior written consent of Chartered IIA. 

136



  Page 2  
  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY    External Quality Assessment for Ordnance Survey  

The internal audit team fully meet most of the Standards, as well as the Definition, Core Principles 
and the Code of Ethics which form the mandatory elements of the Institute of Internal Auditors’ 
International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), the globally recognised standard for quality in 
Internal Auditing. This is described as “Generally Conforms”. It means that the internal audit team 
may state in its audit reports that the work “has been performed in accordance with the IPPF”.  
 
We have benchmarked the performance of the internal audit team against a maturity model based 
on a wide range of UK and Irish internal audit functions and we believe that it is Excellent in:  

 
• The efficiency of its operations  

 
We consider that the internal audit team is Good in its:  
 

• Reflection of the Standards  
• Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme  

 
We consider that the internal audit team is Satisfactory in its:  

 
• Focus on performance, risk and adding value  

 
We consider that the internal audit team Needs Improvement as regards:  

 
• Coordinating and maximising assurance  

 
We consider that a key factor in these achievements is that the Internal Audit Consortium Manager is 
competent, enthusiastic and well respected by key stakeholders.  
 
We have provided the Internal Audit Consortium Manager with our comments in a detailed standard-
by-standard checklist as a separate document. 
 
We also make a number of recommendations to achieve conformance with the Standards. These are 
included below. 
 
Finally, as part of this External Quality Assessment we undertook an online survey of 36 senior 
managers across the authorities and the seven audit committee chairs. We received 19 and four 
responses. The majority of the results were either good or excellent, with a small number of fair 
assessments and very few lower ratings. Audit committee feedback was particularly positive. We 
have sent on a separate copy of the results to the Internal Audit Consortium Manager. 

137



  Page 3  
  

Conformance to the Standards: The International Professional Practice Framework (IPPF) 

The objective of this External Quality Assurance (EQA) review was to undertake an independent, 
objective external quality assessment of the Eastern Internal Audit Service against the IPPF. This has 
included considering the team’s conformance to the IPPF, benchmarking the function’s activities 
against best practice and assessing the impact of internal audit on the organisation.  
 
The Institute of Internal Audit’s (IIA’s) International Professional Practice Framework (IPPF) includes 
the Definition of Internal Auditing, Core Principles, Code of Ethics and International Standards. There 
are 56 fundamental principles to achieve with more than 150 points of recommended practice. 
Below is a summary of the Eastern Internal Audit Service’s conformance to both the IPPF and the 
core principles. This is a good performance given the breadth of the IPPF and the diverse 
organisational contexts that the IA team operate in across the region.   
 

Summary of IIA 
Conformance 

Standards N/A Does not 
Conform 

Partially 
Conforms 

Generally 
Conforms 

Total 

Definition of IA and 
Code of Ethics 

Rules of 
conduct 

0 0 1 4 5 

Purpose 1000 - 1130 1 0 2 5 8 

People 1200 - 1230 0 0 1 3 4 

Performance 1300 - 1322 1 0 1 5 7 

Planning 2000 - 2130 0 0 1 10 11 

Process 2200 - 2600 2 0 0 19 21 

Total  4 0 6 46 56 

 
The overall assessment resulting from the EQA is that Eastern Internal Audit Services “does generally 
conform to the IIA’s professional standards” and by extension, the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS).    
 
It is therefore appropriate for Eastern Internal Audit Services to say in reports and other literature that it 
“conforms to the IIA’s professional standards” and that its work has been performed “in accordance 
with the IPPF.” 
 
This external quality assessment was conducted as a full external quality assessment using the methods 
prescribed by Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors. We reviewed a wide range of documentary 
evidence, interviewed a number of representative stakeholders, and interviewed the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager and TIAA Audit Director.  

138



  Page 4  
  

In addition to our review of the self-assessment, we also used a “Survey Monkey” application to survey a 
total of 36 senior managers and the seven audit committee chairs. The surveys provided consistent 
results that supported our validation and interviews. Copies of the survey results have been shared with 
the Internal Audit Consortium Manager. 
 
We have also provided the Internal Audit Consortium Manager with our comments in a detailed standard-
by-standard checklist as a separate document.  
 
  

139



  Page 5  
  

Key Achievements 
 
Eastern Internal Audit Services deliver an effective independent and objective assurance and 
consulting service across the authorities it serves, covering the full range of activity that this 
organisation undertakes. Some challenges remain, of course, but overall we believe that stakeholders 
see the Internal Audit Consortium Manager and the core internal audit team as professional, 
approachable and competent in their work.  
 
Senior managers also value the results of IA engagements. 
 
The service is led by an experienced Internal Audit Consortium Manager who is a Chartered Internal 
Auditor and CMIIA qualified. She is supported by an experienced Audit Director and a core team of 
internal auditors from TIAA, the external partner.  
 
Stakeholders were universally complimentary about the Internal Audit Consortium Manager’s 
personal, communication, relationship and technical skills. Indeed, everyone we spoke to was full of 
praise for the Internal Audit Consortium Manager. Very well done – this is excellent!  
 
Annual planning is comprehensive and is a very participative process involving clients and 
stakeholders at appropriate stages. Progress is documented and reported in quarterly sessions with 
respective audit committees. Eastern Internal Audit Services employ range of effective Key 
Performance Indicators to assess service performance, with a particular focus on quality and delivery.  
 
Eastern Internal Audit Services have developed an appropriate methodology for auditing across the 
authorities. The operational internal audit processes are fit for purpose and documented in a 
professional audit manual and an associated set of templates and supporting guidance. Our file 
reviews showed appropriate compliance with the methodology and evidence of appropriate 
supervision and review. The internal audit process is efficient and economic.  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

140



  Page 6  
  

Recommendations to achieve conformance to the Standards 

Ref IPPF section Recommendations for the  
Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager 
 

Internal Audit Consortium Manager 
 

1. Mission 
Statement & 
Definition of 
internal auditing 

Amend the IA Charter to 
reflect the new IPPF and PSIAS 
– and in particular the mission 
statement and core principles 
– at its next formal review.  
 

Agreed and already implemented. 

2. 1010 - 
Recognising 
Mandatory 
Guidance in the 
Internal Audit 
Charter 

More explicitly include 
reference to the mandatory 
nature of the Core Principles 
for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing, the Code of 
Ethics, and the International 
Standards in the charters.  
 

Agreed and already implemented. 

3. 1100 -
Independence 
and Objectivity 

Formally document the role 
and relationship between 
internal audit and other 
assurance providers, across 
the authorities, with the aim 
of more formally sharing 
information, coordinating 
activities and potentially 
relying upon each other’s 
work. 
 

This is “known” informally for each authority 
and will be included in the Audit Charter 
update in 2018 following formal 
documentation and assessment of the other 
internal assurance providers such as Fraud, 
DP, H&S and Business Improvement Teams. 

4. 1111 - Direct 
Interaction with 
the Board 

Consider the benefits and 
opportunities associated with 
having an annual meeting with 
the audit committee chairs, 
without management present. 
 

This is already considered and a process is 
already in place at each Authority. For 
example this is a standing item annually at Gt 
Yarmouth and six monthly at Breckland. As 
this is already considered I do not believe any 
further action is necessary. 
 

5. 1230 - 
Continuing 
Professional 
Development 

Formally develop and 
document a CPD plan to help 
ensure they stay up to date 
with new and emerging risk, 
governance and internal audit 
practices. 
 

Agreed 

6. 1311 – Internal 
Assessments 

Formally review a sample of 
internal audit working files 
from time to time as part of 
their internal assessments. 
 
 

The possibility to undertake such reviews is 
built into the contract and can be invoked as 
and when necessary.  
However the assure programmes (completed 
work programmes, including evaluation, 
population, sample selection, testing, 

141



  Page 7  
  

 reference to supporting evidence and 
outcomes)  are reviewed along with every 
draft report to ensure that I would come to 
the same conclusions – if I have any queries I 
do ask for further information from the 
auditor and can also look into the supporting 
evidence files if necessary. 
I believe the risks associated with the current 
approach are very low.  
 

7. 1312 – External 
Assessments 

Ensure that external 
assessments are undertaken 
at a minimum of five yearly 
intervals in the future. 
 

Agreed but this is the first time that an 
external review has been necessary so it 
seems a bit harsh to have this as a formal 
recommendation. 

8. 2000 - 
Managing the 
Internal Audit 
Activity 

Undertake more formal risk 
management activity to 
increase the chance of Eastern 
Internal Audit Services 
achieving its objectives.  

We are informally aware of risks that face us a 
service, therefore I do not believe that just 
because we do not have these formally 
documented it prevents us from achieving our 
objectives – we provide a professional audit 
service to all our clients and complete all work 
on time and to a high standard. 
 
I also have the opportunity to raise high level 
risks through the South Norfolk Council risk 
management process and have done so 
historically i.e. whilst we were retendering for 
the service. 
 

9. 2010 - Planning As risk management maturity 
improves across the 
authorities, undertake a more 
formal assessment of the risk 
maturity of each organisation 
and ensure that there is a 
defined link between the risk 
registers in place in each 
organisation and the internal 
audit RBIA annual plans.   
 

At some authorities I am able to link through 
to risk registers as part of audit planning and 
as part of this process I review the risk 
registers.  However some sites have a more 
informal risk process so this is not possible. 
 
This action is one for future consideration.  

10. 2050 -
Coordination 
and Reliance 

As formal risk management 
maturity improves, consider 
developing a fit for purpose 
assurance map for each 
authority. 
 

Assurance mapping is recognised as a 
relatively new concept and can be time 
consuming.  
 
Options for how to do this more formally will 
be explored, however I would argue that this 
is carried out informally through the 
discussions with senior management as part 
of the audit planning process. 
 

 

142



  Page 8  
  

Opportunities for Further Development and Continuous Improvement 

The Chartered Institute regards conformance to the IPPF as the foundation for effective internal audit 
practice.  
 
However, in our EQA reviews we also seek feedback from key stakeholders and we benchmark each 
function against the diversity of professional practice seen on our EQA reviews and other interviews with 
chief audit executives, summarised in an Internal Audit effectiveness matrix (page eight).  
 
We then interpret our findings into a summary of strengths and weaknesses (page nine) to set the scope 
for further development based upon the wide range of guidance published by the Chartered Institute. It is 
our aim to offer advice and a degree of challenge to help internal audit functions continue their journey 
towards best practice and excellence.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

143



  Page 9  
  

Internal Audit Maturity Matrix: Eastern Internal Audit Services’ Effectiveness highlighted 

Assessment  IIA standards Focus on 
performance, risk 
and adding value. 

Coordination and 
maximising 
assurance 

Operating with 
efficiency   

Quality Assurance 
and Improvement 
Programme 

Excellent Outstanding 
reflection of the 
IIA standards, in 
terms of logic, 
flow and spirit. 
Generally 
conforms in all 
areas. 

IA alignment to the 
organisation’s 
objectives, risks and 
change. IA has a high 
profile, is listened to 
and is respected for 
its assessment, 
advice and insight. 

IA is fully 
independent and is 
recognised by all as 
a 3rd line of defence. 
The work of 
assurance providers 
is coordinated with 
IA reviewing 
reliability thereof. 

Assignments are 
project managed to 
time and budget 
using 
tools/techniques for 
delivery. IA reports 
are clear, concise and 
produced promptly. 

On-going efforts by 
IA team to enhance 
quality through 
continuous 
improvement. 
QA&IP plan is 
shared with and 
approved by AC. 

Good The IIA 
Standards are 
fully integrated 
into the 
methodology – 
mainly generally 
conforms. 

Clear links between 
IA engagement 
objectives to risks 
and critical success 
factors with some 
acknowledgement of 
the value added 
dimension. 

Coordination is 
planned at a high 
level around key 
risks. IA has 
established formal 
relationships with 
regular review of 
reliability. 

Audit engagements 
are controlled and 
reviewed while in 
progress. Reporting is 
refined regularly 
linking opinions to 
key risks. 

Quality is regarded 
highly, includes 
lessons learnt, 
scorecard 
measures and 
customer feedback 
with results shared 
with AC.  

Satisfactory Most of the IIA 
Standards are 
found in the 
methodology 
with scope to 
increase 
conformance 
from partially to 
generally 
conform in 
some areas. 

Methodology 
requires the purpose 
of IA engagements to 
be linked to 
objectives and risks. 
IA provides advice 
and is involved in 
change but criteria 
and role require 
clarity.  

The 3 lines of 
defence is model is 
regarded as 
important.  Planning 
of coordination is 
active and IA has 
developed better 
working 
relationships with 
some review of 
reliability. 

Methodology 
recognises the need 
to manage 
engagement 
efficiency and 
timeliness but further 
consistency is 
needed. Reports are 
informative and 
valued. 

Clear evidence of 
timely QA in 
assignments with 
learning points and 
coaching. 
Customer feedback 
is evident. Wider 
QA&IP may need 
formalising.  

Needs 
improvement 

Gaps in the 
methodology 
with a 
combination of 
non-
conformances 
and partial 
conformances 
to the IIA 
Standards. 

Some connections to 
the organisation’s 
objectives and risks 
but IA engagements 
are mainly cyclical 
and prone to change 
at management 
request.  

The need to 
coordinate 
assurance is 
recognised but 
progress is slow. 
Some informal 
coordination occurs 
but reviewing 
reliability may be 
resisted. 

Multiple guides that 
are slightly out of 
date and form a 
consistent and 
coherent whole. 
Engagements go 
beyond deadline and 
a number are 
deferred. 

QC not consistently 
embedded across 
the function. QA is 
limited / late or 
does not address 
root causes. 

Poor No reference to 
the IIA 
Standards with 
significant levels 
of non-
conformance.  

No relationship 
between IA 
engagements and the 
organisation’s 
objectives, risks and 
performance. Many 
audits are ad hoc. 

IA performs its role 
in an isolated way. 
There is a feeling of 
audit overload with 
confusion about 
what various 
auditors do. 

Lack of a defined 
methodology with 
inconsistent results. 
Reports are usually 
late with little 
perceived value. 

No evidence of 
ownership of 
quality by the IA 
team. 

 

144



  Page 10  
  

SWOT analysis: Eastern Internal Audit Services’ opportunities for development 

What works well (Strengths) What could be done better (Weaknesses) 

• The Internal Audit Consortium Manager is highly respected by key stakeholders. 
• Stakeholders particularly praised the Internal Audit Consortium Manager’s 

relationship, communication and engagement skills. 
• When issues have occurred in particular internal audits, stakeholders have been 

impressed by the Internal Audit Consortium Manager’s timely resolution. 
• The Internal Audit Consortium Manager and internal audit service are responsive 

and flexible, and always try to be accommodating. They communicate effectively. 
• A range of KPIs are actively monitored to assess delivery and performance. 
• Stakeholders feel very engaged in the annual and engagement planning 

processes, and throughout the internal audit engagements. 
• Stakeholders felt that the annual plans covered relevant, useful subjects. 
• Stakeholders were very supportive of the revised internal audit engagement 

report format and structure. The operational effectiveness points were valued. 
• The core internal audit team were generally viewed as competent, knowledgeable 

and approachable. 

• Formalise risk management in Eastern Internal Audit Services to help 
ensure relationship, continuity, delivery and assurance risks are 
effectively mitigated. 

• More formal coordination and knowledge sharing with other internal 
and external assurance providers may help improve governance, risk 
and control across the authorities.   

• The Internal Audit Consortium Manager could sample check working 
files to enhance elements of her own QAIP. 
 

What could deliver further value (Opportunities) What could stand in your way (Threats) 

• Some stakeholders want to see more insight, added value and a better idea of 
‘what good looks like’ from TIAA’s work with other organisations.  

• More cross-functional internal audit engagements could help highlight good 
practices and help enhance consistent adoption of these. 

• Benchmarking and knowledge sharing activities with other IA functions could be 
used to identify alternative strategies. SIAP could be a useful contact. 

• A closer link between authorities’ risk maturity and annual internal audit plans 
would be beneficial and may help drive risk management improvements.  

• A greater focus on identifying any root causes of governance, risk and control 
weaknesses could add greater value.   

• There may be governance, risk and control benefits in an internal audit presence 
on the steering groups of key change initiatives and systems implementations. 

• The Internal Audit Consortium Manager should be cautious about 
reducing internal audit engagement durations to ensure that sufficient, 
professional work can be done in the time available to provide 
meaningful assurance.  

• Loss of the Internal Audit Consortium Manager would impact service. 
• Small core TIAA team with risk of loss of continuity, local knowledge 

and expertise if staff move elsewhere. 
• Cuts in authority budgets could reduce internal audit coverage below a 

minimum required to provide an annual opinion.  
• Less management buy in to internal audit could impact delivery and 

overall effectiveness.  
• Emerging risks could impact service quality unless ongoing CPD occurs.  

 

145



  Page 11  
  

IIA Grading definitions         Appendix 1 

The following rating scale has been used in this report.   

Overall Audit Grading 

Generally 
Conforms 
(GC) 

The assessor has concluded that the relevant structures, policies, and procedures of the 
activity, as well as the processes by which they are applied, comply with the requirements 
of the individual Standard or element of the Code of Ethics in all material respects. For the 
sections and major categories, this means that there is general conformance to a majority 
of the individual Standards or elements of the Code of Ethics, and at least partial 
conformance to the others, within the section/category. There may be significant 
opportunities for improvement, but these must not represent situations where the activity 
has not implemented the Standards or the Code of Ethics, has not applied them effectively, 
or has not achieved their stated objectives. As indicated above, general conformance does 
not require complete/perfect conformance, the ideal situation, successful practice, etc. 

Partially 
Conforms 
(PC) 

The assessor has concluded that the activity is making good-faith efforts to comply with the 
requirements of the individual Standard or element of the Code of Ethics, section, or major 
category, but falls short of achieving some major objectives. These will usually represent 
significant opportunities for improvement in effectively applying the Standards or Code of 
Ethics and/or achieving their objectives. Some deficiencies may be beyond the control of 
the activity and may result in recommendations to senior management or the board of the 
organisation. 

Does Not 
Conform 
(DNC) 

The assessor has concluded that the activity is not aware of, is not making good-faith 
efforts to comply with, or is failing to achieve many/all of the objectives of the individual 
Standard or element of the Code of Ethics, section, or major category. These deficiencies 
will usually have a significant negative impact on the activity’s effectiveness and its 
potential to add value to the organisation. They may also represent significant 
opportunities for improvement, including actions by senior management or the board.  

 

Often, the most difficult evaluation is the distinction between general and partial. It is a judgement call 
keeping in mind the definition of general conformance above. The assessor must determine if basic 
conformance exists. The existence of opportunities for improvement, better alternatives, or other 
successful practices does not reduce a “generally conforms” rating. 

146



  Page 12  
  

List of Interviewees         Appendix 2 

We greatly appreciate the time and assistance given by stakeholders and members of Eastern 
Internal Audit Services during the review. 

Name IA Exec Position / role 
 

Emma Hodds ✓  Internal Audit Consortium Manager 
 
 

Julie Cook  ✓ Head of HR & S151 at Great Yarmouth 
(Previous similar post at North Norfolk) 
 

Karen Sly  ✓ Finance Director & S151 at Great Yarmouth 
(Previous Head of Finance at North Norfolk) 
 

Hamish Melville  ✓ Head of Economic Development at Broadland 
DC 
 

Jill Penn  ✓ Head of Finance and Revenues &S151 at 
Broadland (currently also S17 Officer for 
Broads Authority until 31/03/2017) 

Emma Krelle  ✓ Head of Finance at Broads Authority 
 
 

Fiona Dodimead ✓  Director of Audit, TIAA 
 

Debbie Lorimer   Director of Business Development and until 
recently S151 Officer at South Norfolk 
 

Simon Bessey  ✓ Finance Manager at South Norfolk 
 
 

Greg Pearson  ✓ Corporate Improvement and Performance 
Manager at Breckland and South Holland DC 
 

Alison Chubbock  ✓ Chief Accountant, Breckland and Holland DC 
 

Totals 2 8  
 
 
Online Survey 
 
We issued an online survey to 36 senior managers on 4th January 2017 and to the seven audit 
committee chairs on 6th January 2017. We received 19 and four responses respectively. 

147



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy and Governance

To: Audit Committee – 24th February 2017

Author: Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager

Subject: Risk Report – Quarter 3 2016-17

Purpose: To inform the Committee on the current status of the Councils’ strategic 
risks

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the contents of the report are noted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report is has been compiled to include updates on strategic risks for quarter three of 
2016-17.

1.2 Strategic risks are captured on the Corporate Dashboard and reviewed by the Executive 
Management Team quarterly.  In addition, risks are reviewed monthly at the internal 
Performance, Risk & Audit Board chaired by the Executive Director of Strategy and 
Governance.

1.4. Strategic risks have been reviewed and updated with responsible members of the 
Executive Management Team.  The strategic risk register includes 12 strategic risks (see 
Appendix A).  These cover the over-arching risks that may affect the strategic direction of 
the council, rather than risks linked to business continuity or those that affect discreet 
service areas.

1.5 Strategic risks typically affect the whole of the organisation and not just one or more parts 
of it. Strategic risks can potentially involve very high stakes and often affect the ability of 
the organisation to survive, e.g. impact on the ability of the Council to achieve its 
corporate plan objectives and purpose. Strategic risks are managed at senior level (EMT) 
within the Council.

1.6 The Council’s risk scoring mechanism is based on a 5x5 matrix, and is comparable with 
best practice in other similar organisations.  The risk matrix provides a comprehensive 
assessment and understanding of risk likelihood and impact. The matrix results in a 
numerical score which combines the impact of the risk occurring with the likelihood of it 
happening.

1.7 Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating

High
Medium
Low

148

Agenda Item 16



1.8 Risks are tracked below in a heat map to represent the number of strategic risks currently 
reported at each score 

                               
Unlikely (1)      Possible (2)     Plausible (3)      Likely (4)      Certain (5)

Critical (5)

High (4)

Medium (3)

Low (2)

Minimal (1)

1.9 There is one risk currently reported in the high category. Post mitigation, the most 
significant strategic risk remains the potent ial  breach of the counci l ’s ICT provision. 
Scoring remains the same as the previous quarter, anti-virus and web filtering continue to 
mitigate the risk of a virus infecting the systems; however a breach would have critical impact 
as it would result in a total shutdown of ICT to minimize exposure.

1.10 There are seven risks which fall into the medium category.  Whilst the risks within this 
category have been reassessed, there is little movement in terms of scoring.  There has been 
a reduction in the level of risk concerned with Uncertainty over future government funding 
settlement.  This is a reflection of the fact that New Homes Bonus funding has been included 
within the local government financial settlement consultation which in turn, provides an 
indication of the future levels of funding.

1.11 There are four risks which fall within the low category and are scored as they were in the 
previous quarter.

1.12 All but two of the risks have had a target risk level added to their assessment.  The targets 
are considered appraisals of the risk levels that the organization would like to achieve.  
Targets may change over time in order to reflect changing circumstances and changes to 
these will be highlighted to the board.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the contents of the report are noted.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Not applicable

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

3

21 4

1

1

149



4.1   That the Committee is made aware of the Council’s strategic risks and understands that 
they are being managed and mitigated effectively.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental 
implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct constitutional or legal implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the Council’s 
corporate priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct crime and disorder implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct equality or human rights implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the Council’s budgets and 
financial management.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no health or wellbeing implications.

5.9 Reputation 

5.9.1 Risks which come to fruition have some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of the 
risk management strategy to manage potential outcomes by means of control measures.

5.10 Risk Management 

5.10.1 The report provides detail on the Council’s strategic risks.

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct safeguarding implications as a result 
of this report

150



5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 The report  contains  information  on  strategic  risks  relevant  to  the  delivery  of  the 
Council’s corporate priorities.

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this 
report.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this 
report.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Not applicable. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 ICT - Information Communication Technology

7.2   EMT - Executive Management Team

Background papers: - See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager
Telephone Number: 07500-030900
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Breckland District Council Strategic Risk Register Q3 2016-17

151

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


BDC Strategic Risk Report inc Targets 
 

Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Critical
breach of
ICT security

Attacks are 
happening with 
increasing frequency
 at present. Ransom
 and theft specialists
 are targeting 
banking details and 
personal information,
 as with all other 
government systems
 and private 
companies 

25

Through a suite of
 protection 
measures such as
 web filtering and 
antivirus software, 
there is a good 
level of protection 
from viruses. 
Disaster recovery 
is also well 
maintained

15 5 3

There is a suite of 
protection measures in
 place including web 
filtering, antivirus and 
windows updates and 
disaster recovery is 
well placed should 
there be a need for 
total shut down of ICT.
 However, impact 
remains at its highest 
as total shut down of 
services, whether by 
virus or as protection 
from a virus, would 
critically impact 
services 
 
Currently there are 2 
Disaster Recovery 
solutions in place: 
 
1) A mirroring server 
which is hosted off-
site and can be 
bought online very 
swiftly which backs up
 every 4 hours 
 
2) A backup to tape 
solution which is a 
nightly backup 
process.

13 Feb
2017

4 2

152



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Failure to
deliver
Local Plan
and its
Delivery
Plan

Failure to deliver 
Local Plan and its 
Delivery Plan - 
reputational and 
financial risk due to 
possible Secretary 
of State intervention.
 there is also a new 
risk emerging due to
 New Homes Bonus.
 

8

The current 
mitigations will be 
put in place; we 
will work with 
Capita to fill 
vacancies and put 
in effective interim 
cover; we will 
establish 
additional informal 
working plan 
working groups to 
reach agreement 
over the 
settlement 
boundary policy; 
re-evaluation of 
trajectory to 
establish the 
appropriate level 
of allocations for 
preferred sites 
consultation 

12 4 3

There has been 
slippage against the 
timetable which will 
result in later 
submission than 
planned in February, 
however, we do not
believe this slippage 
will be significant 
enough to result in 
financial or 
reputational damage 
to the Council.  
 
Preferred site 
consultation closed on
 31/10/16. Timetable 
re profiled with 
agreement to pre-
submission document 
expected in March 17.

10 Nov
2016

   

Loss of
Devolution
Influence

Following the 
decision to no longer
 be part of the 
Devolution talks, 
there may be a risk 
that we lose 
influence should 
new powers be 
devolved to the 
Councils which are 
still talking to Central
 Government.  

9

Mitigation against 
this risk is to 
ensure that we 
continue to work 
with partners and 
try to remain as 
influencial as 
possible whilst 
being unable to be
 part of teh 
Devolution work 
stream

9 3 3

 

   

153



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Failure to
maximise
trading
opportunitie
s

Failure to maximise 
trading opportunities
 could result in lack 
of commercial 
exploitation of 
assets or income 
from trading arms 

9

Governance is in
place for MTFP
through
transformation
board, finance
board and
Performance Risk
and Audit Board
which monitor the
work towards
maximising trading
opportunities

9 3 3 no change

09 Jan
2017

2 2

Staff
recruitment
and
retention at
all levels
within the
organisatio
n

Staff recruitment and
 retention issues 
could undermine the
 effectiveness of the 
organisations though
 loss of experience 
and knowledge 

15

The mitigation for 
key senior posts 
that are vacant or 
serving their notice
 period will be to 
start recruitment 
and find suitable 
interim cover. 

9 3 3

The new director has
started, however a 
vacancy has arisen at 
Executive Manager 
level. Council has 
ratified new staffing 
structures for 
Democratic Services 
which is likely to 
generate some 
recruitment activity.

13 Feb
2017

2 2

154



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Medium
Term
Financial
Plan Not
Delivered

  
The council's 
medium term 
financial strategy 
has identified a 
budget gap, the 
transformation 
programme will need
 to make this level of
 saving for the 
organisation over 
that period to 
balance the budget. 

12

There are a
number of controls
in place to track
delivery including
transformation
board,
Performance, Risk
& Audit Board &
Finance Board.
PI's are tracking
variance from plan

9 3 3

No change to score 
 
The changing 
economic picture has 
negatively impacted 
the budget setting 
process for next year 
and forwards and the 
financial implications 
of this have been 
modelled into the new 
budgets.  These 
include; lower interest 
rates, new homes 
bonus funding 
reductions following 
the consultation and 
continued austerity 
measures, leading to 
increased need for a 
small level of 
additional income or 
savings over the 
medium term. 
 
The transformation 
plan is in progress 
and on track to deliver
 the current years 
efficiency target.  The 
programme has been 
flexed for the new 
budgets to reflect 
actual activity on the 
programme, with 
some areas over 
achieving targets and 
other areas slower to 
start than planned.  
 
The timing changes to
 the Moving Forward 
programme have 
resulted in a budget 
pressure for 2017-18, 
but the programme is 
still on track to deliver 

09 Jan
2017

2 2

155



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Business
rate
retention
scheme

Business rate 
retention policy 
changes leave the 
council exposed to 
risks on collection 
and baseline 
income. 

16

 
Financial provision
 has been made to
 cover the risk of 
current appeals, 
collection rates 
and growth.  
Continue to keep 
up to date with 
CLG consultations
 and update MTFP
 accordingly 

9 3 3 no change to score

09 Jan
2017

3 3

Publication
of gender
pay gap
under
transparenc
y legislation

The evolution of 
Transparency 
legislation will mean 
a requirement to 
publish the gap 
between male and 
female earnings 
within pay bandings.
 This could lead to 
increased scrutiny 
from the unions 
which may trigger a 
Unison audit. The 
collateral effect of 
the risk coming to 
fruition would be 
around reputational 
damage and legal 
ramifications of 
potentially 
backdated claims 
from workers 

12

The mitigation for 
this is to 
proactively 
establish i) if there
 is a gender based
 pay gap within job
 roles and ii) to 
identify funding to 
cover any liability 
in this area should
 liability be 
identified. The 
Council advocates
 equitable and fair 
treatment of its 
employees and 
would not wish to 
perpetuate any 
such discrepancy.  
gap 

6 3 2
We await further 
publication from 
Government

08 Nov
2016

2 2

156



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Under
occupancy
of Riverside
once
complete

The completed 
lettings of Riverside 
is due to contribute 
income to support a 
balanced budget.
Inability to complete 
lettings will impact 
on the contribution 
this will make to the 
budget.

9

Enhanced 
marketing strategy
 aimed at national 
occupiers with 
relevant covenants
 for food and 
beverage uses 
completed in May-
Aug  Tenant 
incentive 
packages 
reviewed and re-
set .  Review 
strategy when 
scheme opens re 
target operators 
and use if unable 
to secure lettings. 

6 3 2

The direction of travel
is good - the risk 
remains until legal 
completion of 
remaining units has 
happened.  The 
scheme is currently 
88% let.

13 Feb
2017

2 2

Uncertainty
over future
government
 funding
settlement

Government has 
indicated further cuts
 to public services, 
exact impact on the 
council as yet 
unknown 

12

4yr MTFP sets out
programme to be
free of reliance on
RSG by 2019.
Setting investment
funds, commercial
property and
growth to ensure
continued income

4 2 2

Four year settlement 
leads to some 
certainty 
 
Longer term 
uncertainty will still 
exist

09 Jan
2017

2 2

Failure to
deliver the
council's
Corporate
Priorities

Would lead to 
missed targets and 
failure to deliver 
objectives and may 
result in the Council 
suffering reputational
 damage and a 
failure to deliver 
priorities to 
residents. 

6

Corporate Delivery
Plan sets out how
to acheive
corporate plan and
this is under
pinned by
individual service
plans and these
are monitored at
Perfromance, Risk
& Audit Board
monthly

4 2 2
Consideration to be 
put to de-escalation as
 within target 
threshold.

13 Feb
2017

2 2

157



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Impact of
County
Council
Budget
Reductions

Impact of County 
Council Budget 
Reductions - this will
 potentially impact 
on our ability to 
deliver Services. 
This will potentially 
impact on resident 
wellbeing. 

9

Ensure that Place
directorate are
involved in
converations at an
early stage to
represent BDC
and its residents

4 2 2 no change

09 Jan
2017

2 2

Failure to
effectively
implement
corporate
business
continuity
plan

Failure to effectively 
implement the 
corporate business 
continuity plan, 
thereby exposing the
 authority to the risk 
of service outage 
following a major 
incident 

4

Working jointly
with County to
have business
continuity post.
Each team has a
plan reviewed
annually

3 3 1

Council have 
approved to recruit an 
emergency planning 
post which will look to 
start in April 2017

08 Nov
2016

   

 

158



Meeting Date Agenda Item Officer Responsible
24 February 2017

Strategic Risk Registers/Quarterly Update - Risk 
Management

Corporate Improvement Team

2016/17 Audit Plan External Audit (EY)
Annual Grants Certification Report External Audit (EY)
Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity Head of Internal Audit
Follow Up Report on Internal Audit 
Recommendations

Head of Internal Audit

Strategic & Internal Audit Plans 2017/18 Head of Internal Audit
Report on External Quality Assessment of Internal 
Audit 

Head of Internal Audit

Processes for reviewing financial & corporate 
performance

Executive Director Commercialisation

Treasury Training to take place after the meeting
Training - Risk Management Processes tbc

09 June 2017
Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity Head of Internal Audit
Follow Up Report on Internal Audit 
Recommendations

Head of Internal Audit

Annual Report and Opinion 2016/17 Head of Internal Audit
Audit Committee Annual Report Head of Internal Audit
Draft un-audited Statement of Accounts & Annual 
Governance Statement

Executive Director Commercialisation

28 July 2017
Statement of Accounts - formal approval Executive Director Commercialisation
Treasury Management Out-Turn Report Executive Director Commercialisation

29 September 2017
Audit Committee Self Assessment Exercise and 
Action Plan

Head of Internal Audit

01 December 2017
Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity Head of Internal Audit
Follow Up Report on Internal Audit 
Recommendaitons

Head of Internal Audit

Mid Year Treasury Management Report Executive Director Commercialisation
Treasury Management Policy & Strategy Executive Director Commercialisation

BRECKLAND COUNCIL GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME

159

Agenda Item 17



Document is Restricted

160

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Review of Standards Local Arrangements
	Appendix A Brecklands Code of Conduct
	Appendix B -  Revised Local Arrangements
	Appendix C -  Complaint Form
	Appendix D -  Hearing Procedures - District Councillors
	Appendix E -  Hearing Procedures - Parish Councillors

	9 Processes in Place for Reviewing Financial & Corporate Performance
	10 Annual Certification Report (for information)
	11 Breckland 2016/17 Audit Plan
	12 Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity
	Progress report on IA activity year end

	13 Follow-up Report on Audit Recommendations
	Copy of Supporting appendices
	Copy of Supporting appendices App3
	Copy of Supporting appendices App4

	14 Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2017/18
	BRK Internal Audit Plans Report

	15 External Quality Assessment of Internal Audit
	EIAS EQA Final Report 1.0
	Executive Summary
	Conformance to the International Professional Practices Framework 
	Key Achievements
	Recommendations to achieve conformance to the Standards
	Opportunities for Further Development and Continuous Improvement
	The Chartered Institute regards conformance to the IPPF as the foundation for effective internal audit practice.
	However, in our EQA reviews we also seek feedback from key stakeholders and we benchmark each function against the diversity of professional practice seen on our EQA reviews and other interviews with chief audit executives, summarised in an Internal A...
	We then interpret our findings into a summary of strengths and weaknesses (page nine) to set the scope for further development based upon the wide range of guidance published by the Chartered Institute. It is our aim to offer advice and a degree of ch...


	16 Strategic Risk Registers/Quarterly Update - Risk Management
	BDC Strategic Risk Report Q3 Appendix A_Redacted

	17 Work Programme
	20 Restricted Strategic Risk Registers/Quarterly Update - Risk Management



